Public Document Pack

People and Health Scrutiny Committee
Date:
Time:
Venue:

Thursday, 19 May 2022
10.00 am
Council Chamber, County Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ

Members (Quorum: 3) – Subject to confirmation by Full Council on 12 May
Gill Taylor (Chairman), Molly Rennie (Vice-Chairman), Piers Brown, Barry Goringe,
Nick Ireland, Robin Legg, Louie O'Leary, Mary Penfold and Bill Pipe, and Belinda Ridout
Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ
For more information about this agenda please contact Democratic Services
Meeting Contact 01305 224185 - george.dare@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting, apart from any items listed in
the exempt part of this agenda.
For easy access to all the council’s committee agendas and minutes download the free
public app called Modern.Gov for use on any iPad, Android, and Windows tablet. Once
downloaded select Dorset Council.

Agenda
Item
1.

Pages
APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To disclose any pecuniary, other registrable or non-registrable interest
as set out in the adopted Code of Conduct. In making their disclosure
councillors are asked to state the agenda item, the nature of the
interest and any action they propose to take as part of their declaration.
If required, further advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer
in advance of the meeting.

3.

MINUTES
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2022.

5 - 10

4.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Representatives of town or parish councils and members of the public
who live, work or represent an organisation within the Dorset Council
area are welcome to submit up to two questions or two statements for
each meeting. Alternatively, you could submit one question and one
statement for each meeting.
All submissions must be emailed in full to
george.dare@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk by 8.30am on Monday, 16 May
2022.
When submitting your question(s) and/or statement(s) please note
that:


no more than three minutes will be allowed for any one
question or statement to be asked/read
 a question may include a short pre-amble to set the
context and this will be included within the three
minute period
 please note that sub divided questions count towards
your total of two
 when submitting a question please indicate who the
question is for (e.g. the name of the committee or Portfolio
Holder)
 Include your name, address and contact details. Only
your name will be published but we may need your other
details to contact you about your question or statement in
advance of the meeting.
 questions and statements received in line with the
council’s rules for public participation will be published as a
supplement to the agenda
 all questions, statements and responses will be published
in full within the minutes of the meeting.
Dorset Council Constitution Procedure Rule 9
5.

COUNCILLOR QUESTIONS
To receive questions submitted by councillors.
Councillors can submit up to two valid questions at each meeting and
sub divided questions count towards this total. Questions and
statements received will be published as a supplement to the agenda
and all questions, statements and responses will be published in full
within the minutes of the meeting.
The submissions must be emailed in full to
george.dare@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk by 8.30am on Monday, 16 May
2022.

Dorset Council Constitution – Procedure Rule 13
6.

URGENT ITEMS
To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4)b)
of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall
be recorded in the minutes.

7.

COST OF CARE INFORMATION
To receive an update from the Interim Corporate Director for
Commissioning.

8.

ANNUAL SELF EVALUATION OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES

11 - 100

To consider the report of the Service Manager for Strategic
Partnerships.
9.

PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY
A review of the relevant Dorset Council performance dashboard to
inform the Scrutiny Committee’s Forward Plan and identify items for
deep dives.
The following link is the dashboard for this committee:
People and Health Scrutiny Committee Dashboard

10.

COMMITTEE AND CABINET'S FORWARD PLANS

101 114

To consider the committee’s Forward Plan and Cabinet’s Forward
Plan.
11.

PREVENT AND CHANNEL
To consider the report of the Programme Coordinator for the
Community Safety Team.

12.

EXEMPT BUSINESS
To move the exclusion of the press and public for the following item in
view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the meaning
of paragraph 7 of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (as
amended).
The public and press will be asked to leave the meeting whilst the item
of business is considered.

115 154

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

PEOPLE AND HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON MONDAY 14 MARCH 2022
Present: Cllrs Gill Taylor (Chairman), Barry Goringe, Nick Ireland, Robin Legg
and Mary Penfold
Apologies: Cllrs Molly Rennie, Louie O'Leary and Bill Pipe
Also present: Cllr Graham Carr-Jones and Cllr Andrew Parry
Officers present (for all or part of the meeting):
Lesley Hutchinson (Corporate Director for Adults Commissioning), Vivienne
Broadhurst (Executive Director - People Adults), Andy Frost (Service Manager for
Community Safety), Gerard Connell (Service Manager - Fostering), Sarah Jane
Smedmor (Corporate Director - Care & Protection), Ashleigh Boreham (Deputy
Director Design and Transformation), Kate Calvert (Deputy Director Primary and
Community Care), Sue Sutton (Programme Director, Urgent and Emergency
Care), Jenny Crawshaw (Senior Lead, Primary and Community Care), Becky
Whale (System Flow Director), Kate Critchel (Senior Democratic Services Officer)
and George Dare (Senior Democratic Services Officer)
53.

Apologies
Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Molly Rennie, Bill Pipe, and
Louie O’Leary.

54.

Declarations of Interest
No declarations of pecuniary interests were made at the meeting.
Cllr Ireland advised that he was the Dorset Council healthcare champion, his
wife worked as a matron at a Yeovil hospital, and they had a daughter
working at Dorset County Hospital.
Cllr Penfold advised that she had a disabled son who does not live at her
home.

55.

Minutes
Proposed by Cllr Legg, seconded by Cllr Goringe
Decision: That the minutes of the meetings held on 20 April 2021, 8 June
2021, 20 September, 1 November, 10 December 2021, and 31 January
2022 be confirmed.

Page 5

The minutes were signed after the meeting.

56.

Public Participation
There was no public participation.

57.

Councillor Questions
There were no questions from councillors.

58.

Integrated Care System update through winter
The Committee received an update on the Integrated Care System from the
Deputy Director for Urgent and Emergency Care. The ICS was in the highest
level of escalation for the urgent and emergency care pathway and these
services were under pressure. Short, medium, and long-term interventions
were taking place to reduce the pressure on services.
Members discussed the update, and points were noted in the following areas:
 111 performance was good compared to other areas in the country.
 Further call handlers are being recruited to the 111 service and support
was being provided to other centres.
 Minor Injury Units were closed due to staffing issues and an update
would be provided following the committee.
 The care hotel was set up at pace after Christmas and it had 16 beds
which were used for low-level needs.
 Across the 3 acute hospitals there were approximately 300 people
waiting to go home.
 The care hotel model was encouraged nationally and was using
funding from the government to support hospital discharge.
 There were no plans to extend the care hotel.
 No permanent decision on closing MIUs would be taken.
 The Urgent and Emergency Care pathway was being reviewed so
patients can have the optimum number of touchpoints.
 A non-clinical call handler decides the best route into the pathway for a
patient, however a clinician may make a different decision.
 Details of vacancies and staff absences would be provided after the
meeting.
 Health services did not want to normalise the high pressure and
wanted to de-escalate it over the medium to long term.
 The Chairman felt that the pressure on services was becoming normal,
particularly as the SWASFT had been on the highest escalation level
for 8 months.
Members also received an update on Home First, and in particular admission
prevention. A presentation was given which is attached to these minutes.
2

Page 6

During discussion, points were noted in the following areas:
 Referrals into the Urgent Community Response system
 Further detail provided about Dorset County Hospital’s hospital at
home service, virtual wards, and how they compare to hospital wards.
 Progress on end-of-life support and the Home to Die programme.
 Anyone can use a virtual ward if they are registered with a Dorset GP.
 No intention of closing end of life facilities at hospitals as some people
are not able to die at home.
The Chairman asked to receive a further update on the progress of virtual
wards and the end-of-life programme in the future.

59.

Update on Treatment Centres
The committee received an update on Treatment Centres and the wider
Dorset Health Village from the Deputy Director for Design and
Transformation. The Health Village and Outpatient Assessment Clinics
enabled health services to connect with the community in a different way and
it provided additional capacity. Volunteer groups were essential in supporting
the services and it provided an opportunity for junior development and getting
young people involved in the health system. The outpatient assessment
centre at Beales in Poole was the first in the UK and it has had national
recognition. The health village will provide social value, increased access to
health and wellbeing support, have an environmental focus, and there will be
a test bed for digital innovation. The full presentation was included in the
agenda.
In response to questions from the committee, the Deputy Director for Design
and Transformation advised that:










The health village centres can be both treatment centres and outpatient
assessment centres, as well as used for screening.
Village Halls could be used for walk-in health centres.
Conversations were being had with bordering health services, such as
Yeovil Hospital, about providing services for Dorset residents to enable
the best use of resources.
Somerset needs to be influenced earlier so health services can see
how they work in the whole Dorset system.
There would be an update on long-term commitments to South Walks
House.
The Health Village focused on health and the high street.
Dorset is helping to write national policy.
The system was agile, and it was able to run without volunteers.
Volunteers included youth groups, such as cadets, and people wanting
to have an active retirement.

3

Page 7

There would be an update on the progress of the Health Village at a future
committee meeting.

60.

Fostering Service Improvement Plan
The Service Manager for Fostering introduced the Fostering Service
Improvement Plan. A significant amount of work had been undertaken in the
fostering service, particularly around the recruitment of foster carers. An
agency had been commissioned to help with recruitment and the fostering
team was having regular meetings with the communications team. Face-toface activities were a key part of fostering and there was a calendar of all
activities taking place. The Fostering Service was engaging with local
businesses and support groups to build an understanding of fostering in
Dorset.
The committee asked questions about the Fostering Service Improvement
Plan and the recruitment of foster carers. Officers provided the following
responses to members’ questions:
















Dorset was similar to the national level of foster carer recruitment
There should be an average of 1.3 young people per foster carer
There was an aim to always place siblings together, however this could
be challenging.
It may take 4-5 years for someone to decide that they would like to
foster.
The fostering service needed to be forceful and respectful with
communication
Potential foster carers could enquire with other local authorities.
The mockingbird model was used for recruitment
Foster carers worked in groups called constellations with a hub carer at
the centre. This was good for support and allowing foster children and
carers to build relationships.
The fostering service was engaging with an authority which had 10
constellations for advice.
The model reduces need for residential care and improves foster carer
retention.
There had been recent successes with foster families
Any out of county placements would need to be for specific reasons,
such as for specialist care.
A co-ordinator has been appointed for the fostering panel to improve
administration.
There had been just under 100 applications for recruiting additional
foster panel members and there was already a good selection of
existing members.
The panel was independent and had an independent chair who
reported to the Corporate Parenting Board.

4

Page 8

61.

Community Safety Annual Scrutiny Report
The Portfolio Holder for Housing and Community Safety introduced the item. It
was the committee’s statutory duty to scrutinise community safety work at
least once a year. Examples of work that have been done over the past year
included tackling violence against woman and girls and domestic abuse.
The Service Manager for Community Safety explained that there were
community safety partnerships which allowed organisations to work together,
identify priorities, and deliver against them.
In response to questions, members were advised that:
 There was an extensive training programme for staff around domestic
abuse and the different aspects of it.
 Staff receive mandatory training on modern slavery and prevent.
 Whole family working was important in tackling domestic abuse.
 The safer streets bid had allowed for 5 new CCTV cameras around
Weymouth swimming pool and the Rodwell Trail, as well as
enhancements of public space CCTV cameras and the expansion of
the control room.
 The new burdens funding of £650,000 was sufficient for the additional
workload.
 There may be funding available for homicide reviews and offensive
weapon reviews.

62.

Committee and Cabinet's Forward Plan
The Committee considered its forward plan and that of the Cabinet.
The Chairman updated members on a scrutiny request in relation to Care
South. She read a briefing note which is attached to these minutes.
The Head of Legal Services had contacted the Chairman about an urgent
item for Cabinet on 5 April, which related to establishing an executive
shareholder committee for the Dorset Centre of Excellence. This statement is
attached to these minutes.
The committee would have an item on NHS Dentistry in Dorset, and this
would be scheduled as and when appropriate.
A question was raised about quality account audits.
There would be an all councillor briefing on the setup of the Integrated Care
System.

63.

Urgent Items
There were no urgent items.

5

Page 9

64.

Exempt Business
There was no exempt business.

Duration of meeting: 10.00 am - 12.57 pm

Chairman

6

Page 10

Agenda Item 8
People and Health Scrutiny Committee
19 May 2022
Self-Evaluation of Children’s Services
For Review and Consultation
Portfolio Holder:

Cllr A Parry, Children, Education, Skills and Early Help

Local Councillor(s):

All

Executive Director:

T Leavy, Executive Director of People - Children

Report Author:
Title:
Tel:
Email:

Richard Belcher
Service Manager – Strategic Partnerships
01305 221765
richard.belcher@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status: Public
Brief Summary:

This report provides a summary of the comprehensive Self-Evaluation of
Children’s Services to support preparation for the Ofsted inspection of services
for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and care leavers.
Recommendation:
People and Health Scrutiny Committee are asked to review and consider the
contents of the Annual Self-Evaluation of Children’s Services, noting the strengths,
areas for development and next steps.
Reason for Recommendation:
The requirement to produce an Annual Self Evaluation is part of the Ofsted
Inspection Framework of Children’s Services. This report is intended to enable
People and Health Scrutiny Committee to understand progress over the past 12months and highlight areas of strength and areas for development over the next
12-months.
1.

Executive Summary

The Annual Self Evaluation report provides an overview of areas of strength
areas for development in Children’s Services focusing on leadership
governance; the quality and impact of social work practice; education
inclusion; our approach to performance management and quality assurance
our future plans for continuing to strengthen services.

Page 11

and
and
and
and

2.

Financial Implications
There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.

3.

Well-being and Health Implications
Good quality children’s services lay the essential foundations for the
health and wellbeing of children, young people and families.

4.

Climate implications
There are no climate implications arising from this report.

5.

Other Implications
N/A

6.

Risk Assessment
Having considered the risks associated with this decision, I have identified
the risk level as follows:
Current Risk: Low
Residual Risk: Low

7.

Equalities Impact Assessment
N/A

8.

Appendices
Appendix 1: Self-Evaluation for Inspection for Children in Need of Help
and Protection, Children Looked After and Care Leavers

9.

Background Papers
Cabinet Report 5th April 2022 Self-Evaluation of Children's Services
Cabinet Report 7 December 2021: Feedback from Inspection of Local
Authority
Children’s Services (27th September to 8th October 2021)
Ofsted Report on the Inspection of Dorset local authority children’s
services 2021
Ofsted framework for inspecting local authority children’s services (ILACS)

10.

Introduction and Background

10.1

Local authority children’s services are asked to produce an Annual SelfEvaluation for the inspection of services for children in need of help and
protection, children looked after and care leavers as part of the Ofsted
framework for inspecting local authority children’s services (ILACS), first
published in November 2017 and updated in March 2021.

Page 12

10.2

Self-evaluation is a critical part of our quality assurance and enables leaders
to identify areas of strength and development. The Self-Evaluation also
provides the foundation for our participation in the annual south west region
peer challenge programme, part of a regional sector led improvement
programme. This peer challenge event takes place in December each year
and provides an opportunity to share good practice and identify regional
priorities and programmes of support for the coming year.

10.3

The Self-Evaluation also forms the basis of our Annual Engagement
meeting with Ofsted that takes place as part of Ofsted’s framework for
inspection of local authority children’s services.

10.4

This report provides an overview of the headlines from our most recent SelfEvaluation (February 2022) with the full Self-Evaluation attached as an
appendix.

11.

Key Strengths
Our Self-Evaluation highlights the following areas of strength:

11.1

Dorset Children Thrive model
Our “Thrive” locality model ensures children receive the help they need at
the right time. Families benefit from a broad range of Early Help services,
tailored to their needs and in the places where they live. Partnership working
is well-developed, offering a range of options that build on families’
strengths and can be provided without delay.

11.2

Children’s Advice and Duty Service (ChAD)
Our ChAD model helps families to receive the right support at the right time
by clarifying concerns with referrers and activating local solutions wheneve r
possible. ChAD acts as our ‘front door’, providing a calm, well-organised
service, where timely and appropriate decisions are made about how to
protect and support children most effectively. Parental consent is obtained
if appropriate, and families are not subjected to statutory intervention
unnecessarily. However, when children are, or may be, at risk of significant
harm, social workers investigate quickly, with the support of key partners,
including the police, when needed.

11.3

Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND)
Our SEND services deliver in an integrated way and put children and young
people at the centre. The locality teams bring together colleagues from
across early help (including our SEND early help offer), children’s and
adult’s social care, educational psychology, inclusion and the education

Page 13

improvement service. This has enabled our services to hold our most
vulnerable and disadvantaged children at the heart of our work and deliver
ambitious outcomes through a whole system approach in partnership with
education settings.
11.4

Workforce
Our workforce is largely stable and workloads are manageable. The
vacancy rate in social work remains low at 5%. We have a funded ‘grow our
own’ and apprenticeship programme that will run over the next three years.
Multi-agency toolkits and workforce training are in place, learning and
development are promoted and undertaken to ensure staff and managers
understand and meet children’s and families’ needs, focusing on impact and
outcomes.

12.
12.1

Areas for development
In their Inspection Report of October 2021, Ofsted required us to improve
our oversight of arrangements when care leavers move in and out of
emergency or temporary accommodation. Ofsted noted that young people
in more complex situations, including when they are in custody, dependent
on drugs and alcohol or vulnerable to exploitation, are prioritised, but their
written plans are not routinely updated when risks or situations change.

12.2

The ILACS inspection also raised the quality and consistency of preproceedings letters as an area for focus.

13.

Progress over the last 12-months
Care Leavers

13.1

We have addressed Ofsted’s requirement to improve oversight of care
leavers who are in emergency accommodation, or who face other complex
situations, through an action plan that has created new practice standards
and governance in respect of visits to young people, regular updating of
their pathway plans, case supervision, business intelligence and reporting.
The Care Leaver Delivery Group has oversight of the further, ongoing
improvements in this area.
13.2

Partnership working
Partnership working across our Strategic Alliance to deliver the Children,
Young People and Families’ Plan 2020-23 has progressed. Senior
representatives from across the partnership have reviewed and monitored
the progress and impact of the Plan and will further develop the evolution of
a longer-term, generational plan in 2022 to continue improving outcomes
for people in our communities.

Page 14

13.3

Rights of children and young people
We have collaborated with Realising Rights, York City Council and our West
Dorset Local Alliance Group to develop and deliver 8 x 1.5-hour Workshops
developing and building on Bridport’s Rights-Based Approach. These
workshops have run from January 2022 and will be completed in April 2022.
York University will evaluate the impact of the workshops in Dorset and York
to inform further development and wider adoption of the programme.

13.4

Public Law Outline (PLO)
We have updated our pre proceedings policy and flowchart to give clearer
guidance on timeliness and senior management oversight. All PreProceedings are then tracked using our Pre-Proceedings tracker to ensure
robust and timely planning. Our Pre-Proceedings template letter has been
updated.

13.5

Performance - Distance travelled
Our data dashboards inform service improvements as part of our
Performance Management Framework. Distance Travelled from April 2019
to December 2021 can be seen on page 7 of the Self-Assessment. It
highlights successful de-escalation at source, with more Early Help
interventions and (despite an increase in S47 enquiries) we are continuing
to see a planned, small decrease in CIN, Child Protection Plans and
numbers of children in our care and more indicators are in line with ‘good’
and ‘outstanding’ authorities.

14.

Next steps
Our plans for 2022/23 are to continue to focus on:
 Improving the quality and availability of local placements through
opening internal residential provision, recruitment and retention of foster
carers and a new model of foster carer peer support through an
evidence-based model of support through the Mockingbird programme.
 Improving the experience and outcomes for our care leavers, overseen
by the Care Leaver Delivery Board and Corporate Parenting Board.
 Continuing to improve services across the partnership through the
delivery of comprehensive multi-agency Strengthening Services Plan,
 Further developing our Children, Young People and Families Plan to
respond to emerging local and national policies and implementing our 5year Transformation Plan.
 Increasing the number of children and young people that benefit from
outstanding support through our Dorset Centre of Excellence and other
school build programmes as part of our approach to offer outstanding
provision for children and young people with SEND.

Page 15

15. Recommendation:
People and Health Scrutiny Committee are asked to review and consider
the contents of the Annual Self-Evaluation of Children’s Services, noting the
strengths, areas for development and next steps.
Footnote:
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is
included within the report.

Page 16

DORSET SELF-EVALUATION OF
SERVICES FOR CHILDREN IN
NEED OF HELP AND
PROTECTION AND CHILDREN
LOOKED AFTER
February 2022
Page 17
Data taken from CHAT Dec ‘21(not comparable with CIN census) unless specified

Table of Contents
1.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................................................... 2
1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4
1.5
1.6
1.7

2.

INTRODUCTION ....................................................................................................................................... 11
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5
2.6
2.7
2.8
2.9

3.

The Integrated Front Door............................................................................................................... 20
Early Help ......................................................................................................................................... 24
Children in Need .............................................................................................................................. 34
Child Protection ............................................................................................................................... 35
Children Who are Disabled .............................................................................................................. 37
Domestic Abuse ............................................................................................................................... 38
Pan Dorset Youth Justice Service..................................................................................................... 40
Children in Care ............................................................................................................................... 42
The Harbour..................................................................................................................................... 47
Missing Children and Children at Risk of or Linked to Exploitation................................................. 48
Fostering Services ............................................................................................................................ 50
Adoption Services ............................................................................................................................ 52
Care Leavers .................................................................................................................................... 53
Education and Inclusion................................................................................................................... 57
Young People at Risk of Homelessness ........................................................................................... 75
Private Fostering .............................................................................................................................. 76
Local Authority Designated Officer ................................................................................................. 76

HOW DO WE KNOW ................................................................................................................................ 78
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6

5.

Background and Context ................................................................................................................. 11
Leadership and Governance ............................................................................................................ 12
Financial Position ............................................................................................................................. 14
Council Leadership Team................................................................................................................. 15
Children’s Services Leadership Team .............................................................................................. 15
Dorset Children Thrive ..................................................................................................................... 16
Employee Engagement .................................................................................................................... 17
Our Workforce ................................................................................................................................. 18
Workforce Development ................................................................................................................. 19

QUALITY AND IMPACT OF SOCIAL WORK PRACTICE IN DORSET ............................................................. 20
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
3.6
3.7
3.8
3.9
3.10
3.11
3.12
3.13
3.14
3.15
3.16
3.17

4.

Foreword ........................................................................................................................................... 2
Key strengths ..................................................................................................................................... 3
Areas for development ...................................................................................................................... 3
Progress Since our last Annual Conversation .................................................................................... 4
Learning from and working with others ............................................................................................ 8
Sector-led improvement/development work in the pipeline for 2022 ........................................... 10
Horizon Scanning ............................................................................................................................. 10

Performance Management ............................................................................................................. 78
Quality Assurance Framework......................................................................................................... 78
Audit Outcomes ............................................................................................................................... 80
Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews ............................................................................................... 80
Compliments and compliments....................................................................................................... 81
Feedback from our children, young people, and families ............................................................... 81

WHAT’S NEXT FOR DORSET…. ................................................................................................................. 82

Page 18

1

1.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

Foreword
Dorset Council has bold and ambitious plans to ensure the lives of our residents are as good as they
can be. To support this, we continually improve the services we deliver, and commission to improve
outcomes.
Through this self-evaluation, based on the Ofsted framework, we shine the light on the fantastic
work our staff, partnership colleagues and families have delivered in positively impacting on the
outcomes of our communities and identify those area we are committed to improving and
developing further, to ensure that every child and young person in Dorset has the best childhood
possible.
Following our full ILACS inspection in September and October of 2021, we’ve progressed our
partnership improvement plans, working through our Strengthening Services Board. Our Post
Ofsted Action Plan is included in our Phase 2 Plan, which we cover in more detail in this selfevaluation.
In 2021 we embedded our fully integrated locality approach which is showing positive impact in
school inclusion, Early Help and Social Work practice. We progressed our plans to open our “Dorset
Centre of Excellence” welcoming our first cohort of children and young people in early 2022.
We have opened new Children’s Homes, enabling us to keep our children and young people in
Dorset, closer to their homes, families and friends. We have also delivered a grow-your-own
approach to developing social workers and future leaders.
All of which has had a real impact on improving outcomes for our children and young people.
Theresa Leavy, Executive Director Children’s Services

Page 19

2

1.2

Key strengths
Our “Thrive” locality model demonstrates that children receive the help they need at the right
time. Families benefit from a broad range of Early Help services, tailored to their needs and in the
places where they live. Partnership working is well-developed, offering a range of options that build
on families’ strengths and can be provided without delay.
The Children’s Advice and Duty Service (ChAD) model ensures families receive the right support at
the right time by clarifying the concerns with referrers and activating local solutions whenever
possible. The ‘front door’ provides a calm, well-organised service, where timely and appropriate
decisions are made about how to protect and support children most effectively. Parental consent is
obtained if appropriate, and families are not subjected to statutory intervention unnecessarily.
However, when children are, or may be, at risk of significant harm, social workers investigate
quickly, with the support of key partners, including the police, when needed.
Our SEND services deliver in an integrated way with colleagues from across early help (including
our SEND early help offer), children’s and adult’s social care, education psychology, inclusion and
education improvement service. This has enabled our services to hold our most vulnerable and
disadvantaged children at the heart of our work and maintain ambitious outcomes through a whole
system approach in partnership with education settings.
Our integrated multi-professional locality teams provide efficient and effective Step-up Step-down
between Early Help and Social Care with appropriate and robust management oversight. Children
who enter our care do so in a planned way and increasingly following a period of Pre-Proceedings
planning. 98.5% of children in care for 4 months or more have a completed Permanence plan in
place and our numbers of children in care continue to steadily fall.
Our workforce is largely stable and have manageable workloads. The vacancy rate in social work
remains low at 5%. We have a funded ‘grow our own’ and apprenticeship programme that will run
over the next three years. Multi-agency toolkits and workforce training, learning and development
are promoted and undertaken to ensure staff and managers understand and meet the child and
families’ needs focusing on impact and outcomes.

1.3

Areas for development
In October 2021 Ofsted identified the requirement to improve oversight of arrangements when
care leavers move in and out of emergency or temporary accommodation.
We have reviewed our wider Care Leaver service and have taken further steps to ensure service
improvement and delivery plans are focused on impacting on improving outcomes for our Care
Leavers. We are progressing these plans through our member led Care Leavers Delivery Group,
which reports into our Corporate Parenting Board.

Page 20

3

1.4

Progress Since our last Annual Conversation

1.4a

Ofsted ILACS inspection 2021
Ofsted full on-site ILACS September-October 2021, published in November 2021

Area

Rating

The impact of leaders on social work practice with children and
families

Outstanding

The experiences and progress of children who need help and
protection

Good

The experiences and progress of children in care and care leavers

Good

Overall effectiveness

Good

Fig. 1.1 Ofsted findings November 2021

Recommendation
“Oversight of arrangements when care leavers move in and out of emergency or temporary
accommodation.”
1.4b

Care Leavers
The Care Leaver Delivery Group has adopted a Care Leaver Covenant which has 5 themes:
•
•
•
•
•

Independent Living
Education and Employment
Safe and Secure
Health
Financial Independence

The “New Belongings” Delivery Plan has already ensured that our Care Leavers have access to the
Rees Foundation “Ask Jan” membership which provides access to comprehensive, practical advice,
additional benefits and access to a 24-hour counselling helpline and counselling sessions, and
young people in prison have access to a debit card. We have improved our housing options for care
leavers through the development of a Joint Protocol between Children’s Services and Housing and
are increasing capacity for affordable housing through engagement with Private Landlords and
Social Housing Providers, supported by a Council Rent Guarantor scheme. The Care Leaver Delivery
Group has welcomed feedback from our young people about how the Care Leaver Offer is
presented and accessed online. Together we have co-produced a digital publication of the Care
Leaver offer that is inviting and accessible which will be published in March 2022. National Care
Leavers Week saw the engagement of members of the Care Leaver Delivery Group in events,
including a Business Event co-hosted with the Care Leaver Covenant.
1.4c

Post Ofsted Action Plan
We submitted our Post Ofsted Action Plan on 26th January 2022. All actions are completed. We
have embedded the Post Ofsted Action Plan into our established, partnership-owned Strengthening
Services Plan, which we’ve progressed to Phase 2 in January 2022. The Strengthening Services
Board, will review and assess the ongoing impact of the completed actions (covered in more detail
in section 2.2c.)

Page 21

4

1.4d

Partnership working
Partnership working across our Strategic Alliance to deliver the Children, Young People and
Families’ Plan 2020-23 has progressed. Senior representatives from across the partnership have
reviewed and monitored the progress and impact of the Plan and will further develop the evolution
of a longer-term, generational plan in 2022 to continue improving outcomes for people in our
communities. Section 2.3a includes more detail on the Strategic Alliance.

1.4e

Rights of children and young people
A notable programme of work, at the heart of our Children, Young People and Families’ Plan, is the
Rights of the Child. We have collaborated with Realising Rights, York City Council and our West
Dorset Local Alliance Group to develop and deliver 8 x 1.5-hour Workshops developing a Rights
Based Approach. These workshops have run from January 2022 and will be completed in March
2022. York University will evaluate the impact of the workshops in Dorset and York to inform
further development of the programme as we intend to rollout across Dorset in co-production with
our children and young people, adhering to our ethos of “Nothing about us without us”.

1.4f

Public Law Outline (PLO)
In January 2022 we had 48 children subject to pre proceedings with the average time in pre
proceedings between 13-15 weeks. We currently have 103 children whose cases are under
consideration by the family courts. The average time for cases progressing through the family
courts over the last 3 months has been 22 – 24 weeks.
We have updated our pre proceedings policy and flowchart to give clearer guidance on timeliness
and senior management oversight. Our aim is to resolve pre proceedings within 13 weeks, however
there are times where more time is required to allow for specialist assessments or intervention.
Any pre proceedings that require more than 13 weeks intervention will be reviewed at Locality Line
of Sight meetings at 12 weeks. All Pre-Proceedings are then tracked using our Pre-Proceedings
tracker to ensure robust and timely planning. Monthly Locality PLO tracking meetings are chaired
by the Service Managers and attended by Aspire adoption worker and Team Managers. This has
supported early identification of specialist assessments, special guardianship assessments, early
permanence and adoption planning. The greater oversight of Service Managers has also ensured
that any barriers are addressed in timely way and any exceptions are raised with Head of Locality
and Strategy
A Monthly Court Performance meeting also take place with Heads of Locality & Strategy, Service
Managers, Head of Service for Quality Assurance and Senior Solicitor to report exceptions, identify
themes and barriers arising through court and pre proceedings, share good practice any new
practice directions. Any themes arising are then shared with the Court and CAFCASS through our
bimonthly CAFCASS liaison meeting and the Local Family Justice Board quarterly meetings.
An area of focus from the ILACS inspection raised the quality and consistency of pre proceedings
letters. We have recently moved to standardising these letters to enable consistent quality, with
the exception of parents who may have additional needs and a good example of this was seen
during the inspection. As part of these improvements, we are now measuring the effectiveness and
quality through audit by the Quality Assurance team. We then intend to share good practice
examples and continue to embed quality of practice in this area through our advanced practitioner.

Page 22

5

1.4f

Distance travelled
We continue to use data and data dashboards, to inform service improvements as part of
our Performance Management Framework. Distance Travelled from April 2019 to December 2021
can be seen on the visual on the next page. It clearly highlights successful de-escalation at source,
with more Early Help and whilst there has been an increase in S47 enquiries we are continuing to
see a planned, small decrease in CIN, Child Protection Planning and numbers of children in our
care.

Page 23

6

Page 24

7

1.5

Learning from and working with others
We are a learning organisation and have continued to engage and seek the support of sector
leaders throughout 2021/22. The following sections identify the participation and impact of our
main activities.
Peer Review of Dorset Children’s Services
As part of the South West Peer Review programme in May 2021, Somerset Council carried out a
review ‘the effectiveness of our quality assurance practice in improving outcomes for children and
young people of Dorset’. This was a positive learning opportunity with many strengths identified by
Somerset:
•
•
•
•

Engagement of staff was positive with a clear focus on children and on improvement of the quality
of service.
Employees expressed strongly that they are committed to the improvement journey and to
learning from quality assurance
Stability of the workforce is a significant strength.
Process for sharing and learning from good practice could be developed further.
In response to the review, we developed an action plan that included:
•
•
•
•
•

Strengthening the voice of children and young people within the audit process
Supporting our practitioners to understand and be able to articulate confidently the impact
that their work and QA activity is having on outcomes for children
Highlighting our strengths and areas for development to frontline practitioners by sharing
good practice and learning in the ‘Workforce Wordout’ and on the Children’s Hub
Structuring Practice and Performance meetings to focus explicitly on strengths and areas
for development,
Developing a template to help authors of dip samples and reviews better to focus on
analysis of quality assurance activity, helping us to identify and share what has been learnt
and any action that is required as a result.

Five to Thrive: Attachment, Trauma and Resilience
We have recently invested in the Five to Thrive: Attachment, Trauma and Resilience, ambitious
training programme for people who work with expectant parents, children, young people, and their
families.
This sustainable training programme ensures those working with our families can understand the
impact of secure attachments, promote self-regulation, and understand the potential impact of
trauma on individuals, and respond appropriately. We are aiming to engage with 1500 people; to
date 910 staff and partners have booked their places. A targeted marketing approach has been
taken to individual teams for example, locality teams, Fostering and Adoption, residential setting
staff etc. 250 Champions will be identified from the initial cohort and then identifying 30 trainers
across staff and partners to sustain the delivery model into the future.
Feedback from webinars include:
•

brilliant, enlightening, self- affirming, motivating! This training has taught me so much
about the way we think and why. I cannot thank you enough Dorset Council

Page 25

8

•

•
•
•

That was the best training/ webinar I've been on for a long time. Its everything we work
towards put together so well. Fascinating stuff makes me wish I'd stuck at Psychology a bit
longer at university!
The course has given me more if an insight into the Five to Thrive model and how important
it is within early years and the work I am involved in regarding early help. It will be able to
approach conversations with practitioners with more confidence
This model will be adapted to use in my daily practice at the residential centre
Brilliant for Engaging parents at child protection conferences who are feeling stressed,
angry, defensive etc I will use the five to thrive framework with parents

Private Law Pathfinder Pilot
Dorset Children's services have been invited to work with the Dorset Family Courts as part of a pilot
initiative to reduce parental conflict and the need for separated families to access court
intervention. The pilot, Family Pathfinder, arose from the Family Solutions Group’s 2022 report
‘What about Me?’ 1 that looked at ways of improving the experiences of separating families that did
not require the involvement of the family court. The pathfinder was also driven by the courts
seeing a noticeable increase in family court applications at the start of the pandemic.
Too often for separated or divorced parents the only support or advice available is legal advice. As
an alternative, we are developing early help support, including a digital offer, groups and
partnership working through the development of our Family Hubs. This will enable us to work with
families and communities at a much earlier stage, which we forecast will lead to some reduction in
the applications being made to the court. Our Family Hubs will provide a holistic wrap around
service for parents, carers and extended family including advice and support to separated families
on ways to reduce the impact of parental conflict on children. The implementation of the pilot
service will also provide triage for those court applications that have already been made, to see if
alternative non-court-based solutions can be used instead. The pilot will be launched on 21
February.
The Mulberry Bush
We are working in partnership with The Mulberry Bush (Oxfordshire), a leading charity delivering
outreach alongside their special school. We are collaborating in two key areas: designing and
delivering an accredited Level 4 Certificate in Therapeutic Child Care for residential care staff, which
is fully mapped against the mandatory Level 3 Diploma and exceeds mandatory requirements, thus
meeting the needs of the most vulnerable children in Dorset.
The learning and development programmes will be made available to other professionals, including
Foster Carers, Education, Health and Police, thereby strengthening the wider system. We are also
working together to develop Dorset Council’s approach to inclusion in mainstream settings through
our SEND outreach approach and to support the design and pedagogy within our inclusion hubs
(resourced provision).
Birth to Settled Adulthood
Children and Adult Services recognise that the current operating model to support young people
through the transition to adulthood across Dorset has not been delivering the outstanding service
that our community require and we as an organisation aspire to. As part of the Strengthening
1

What about Me? Reframing Support for Families following Parental Separation, Family Solutions Group (a subgroup
of the Private Law Working Group), 2020.

Page 26
9

Services and Adults Improvement Programme, it was agreed to jointly commission a review that will
identify how:
•

Services across People and Place are effectively supporting young people in their
Preparation for Adulthood as required by the Special Educational Needs and Disability Code
of Practice.

•

Young people have their skills, abilities and opportunities maximised and relative strength
supported to grow and develop as individuals.

We are fortunate to have secured Mark Rogers as the chair of our Birth to Settled Adulthood Board.
Mark will support our workplan whilst bringing scrutiny by way of high support and high challenge to
the partnership.

1.6

Sector-led improvement/development work in the pipeline for 2022
The South West ADCS Sector Led Improvement Group will be delivering a range of programmes in
2022. Dorset have three current Heads of Service/Locality undertaking the Aspiring Assistant
Directors Programme. Dorset are also leading on developing further programmes of work to
continue the succession planning for local government leadership in partnership with The Staff
College. Using funding secured from the Covid Recovery Fund Bid, co-ordinated regionally, in 202223 The Staff College will design and deliver two cohorts of 45x Service Managers, aspiring to
become Heads of Service.

1.7

Horizon Scanning
As part of our Transformation programme, we’re developing the Safeguarding Families Together
approach. A sector specialist has been brought in to lead, develop and implement a pilot in Chesil.
The main aspect of this project is creating Multi-Disciplinary Teams working together to support
children and parents with high level risk by recruiting specialist adult workers to address domestic
abuse, parental mental health and substance misuse to improve children's lives.
This is achieved through a more collaborative way of working where we motivate parents to
identify the changes needed within their own families. The Safeguarding Families Together
approach seeks to change the way social workers engage with parents, working with them to
facilitate their own change of behaviour. Adult practitioners will be co-located, with social workers
in Chesil. The adult specialists will provide direct help for families and their children.
We are also implementing two new programmes of work the Pause Programme and the
Mockingbird project.

Page 27

10

2.

INTRODUCTION

2.1

Background and Context
Dorset is a beautiful coastal and rural county situated in the South West region of England. Over
half of Dorset is covered by the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty designation.
The Dorset rural idyll can conceal hidden deprivation, with significant pockets found mostly in
urban coastal areas. There is also rural deprivation due to isolation and difficulty accessing housing,
transport, and essential services. The DWP estimates that 25% of Dorset Children are living in
poverty.
There are eleven areas (out of a total of 219) in Dorset within the top 20% most deprived nationally
for multiple deprivation, compared to ten in 2015. Nine of these are in Weymouth and Portland
and one is in the former district of West Dorset. 25 of Dorset's neighbourhoods are in the 20%
most deprived nationally in relation to education, compared to 20 in 2015.
46% of Dorset's population live in rural areas. Barriers to housing and essential services are
significant in Dorset reflecting rurality and isolation. 66 Dorset neighbourhoods fall in the 20% most
deprived nationally for this measure: mapped against the former district council areas, 19 of these
are in West Dorset and 21 in North Dorset.
Crime is low in Dorset, with domestic abuse, criminal exploitation, and rural crime identified as
priorities for our partner agencies.
Earnings are below average and house prices are high with affordability issues for many young
people and keyworkers. Dorset has relatively low birth rates and younger people often move away
from the area.
The total population of Dorset is 379,791 (2020 mid-year estimate), this includes 74,305 children
and young people aged 0-19 representing 20% of the total population (88,942 aged 0-24 years).
We have 159 schools in Dorset - 1 All through School, 36 First Schools, 2 Infant Schools, 2 Junior
Schools, 80 Primary Schools,10 Middle Schools, 15 Secondary Schools, 3 Upper Schools, 4 Pupil
Referral Units and 6 Special Schools. Dorset has been designated one of the 55 Education
Investment Areas.
There are 80 different languages spoken in Dorset schools. 8% (Jan 2021 school census) of school
age children are from black and minority ethnic communities compared to 35.1% nationally.
We have approximately 3,200 children with Special Educational Needs supported through an
Educational, Health and Care Plan out of a wider total of 6,500 children and young people identified
with SEN Support needs in our schools. (Oct 2021 school census).
At the end of January 2022 there were:
•
•
•
•
•

2

1,313 children and young people being supported through early help
1,152 Children in Need (excluding Children in Care and children with a Child Protection Plan)
271 Children with a Child Protection Plan
434 Children in Care
276 Care Leavers.2

Source: Children’s Services Analytics Tool (ChAT)

Page 28
11

2.2

Leadership and Governance

2.2a

Dorset Strategic Alliance for Children and Young People
Our partnership vision is for ‘Dorset to be the best place to be a child; where communities thrive,
and families are supported to be the best they can be’.
We have continued to focus on our long-term strategic aims and aspirations in delivering our
Children, Young People and Families’ Plan 2020-23. The partnership and governance arrangements,
ensuring that our partnership plans progress, are detailed in section 2.3b.
The Plan is led by the Board of the Strategic Alliance for Children and Young People with colleagues
from Dorset Council, Public Health Dorset, Dorset 0-19 Voluntary and Community Sector Forum,
Dorset Youth Offending Services, Dorset CCG, Dorset Healthcare, Dorset Parent Carer Council,
Schools’ representatives and Early Years representatives and other agencies to deliver on our
ambitions for our children. The Board is chaired by the Lead Member for Children’s Services and
co-chaired by a partner representative.
The following values and principles are shared by all partners:
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Always putting children and families at the heart of everything we do
No child or family left behind – we will strive for equity of outcomes for our children, young
people, and their families
Focussing on early intervention and prevention aiming to help early in the life of a problem
and providing a graduated response to need – the right help, in the right place, at the right
time
Working restoratively, doing things with families instead of to them, for them or doing
nothing
Thinking Family and working together so that children and families receive a joined-up
response and good transitions
Focussing on strengths within families and communities, understanding the lived
experience of children
Staying with families until outcomes are delivered, embedded and change is sustained
Being inclusive – we want our children and young people to be able to get the help they
need in the county that is their home
Empowering young people and families to use the information we give them to make
decisions for themselves
Delivering best value for money - spending the Dorset £ in Dorset on the things that get the
best outcomes for children and families.

The Alliances’ six priorities are:
•
•

•

Best Start in Life – PAUSE Programme embarking to reduce the number of mothers with
multiple children being removed from care.
Young and Thriving – Development and delivery of a two-week “Takeover Challenge”
where young people were supported to “takeover” roles and responsibilities, including our
own Chief Executive role.
Good Care Provision – Development, registration and launch of additional children’s
homes and homes for our Care Leavers; Harbour and Kirtleton Avenue and Review of
Short-Term Breaks for children with disabilities and a Keeping In Touch service for our
children in care and their families

Page 29

12

•

•

•

Best Education for All – Development of a new Education Board for Dorset and the
ambitious delivery of Dorset’s Centre of Excellence (Coombe House School) to increase
local provision for Dorset’s children and young people with SEND.
Best Place to Live – Rollout of “Rights Based Approach” pilot and young people
participating in planning events for the Local Plan (Planning and Building Control – Place
Services)
Delivering Locally – Local Alliance Groups developing and delivering services across the
partnership locally. Increased promotion, access to and take-up of Early Help services.

We progress the actions of the Plan through the priority delivery groups. Our Annual Report 2021
identified progress during the first year of the Plan and includes updates from across the
partnership and is included as appendix 2.
As part of the evolution of our existing Plan, in early 2022 we will add a seventh priority to our
2020-23 Plan, “Feeling Safe at Home and in the Community”. This new priority will be linked and
embedded across our partnerships in the Strengthening Services Board. Our Transformation Board
will also review progress and impact the “Safeguarding Families Together” programme makes for
our communities.
Local intelligence from young people have identified, through survey and feedback during
participation events, that they do not always feel safe in places they frequent or in their
communities.
2.2b

Our Children’s Services Strategic Partnership Governance
The diagram below sets out key roles and relationships within our strategic partnership.

Fig. 2.1 Our Partnership Governance Arrangements

Page 30

13

2.2c

Strengthening Services Programme
As a partnership we continue to focus on continuous improvement, with rigour and pace and we
drive this through our Strengthening Services Programme, it is the delivery arm for both Children’s
Services and the Dorset Council element of the Pan Dorset Safeguarding Partnership. We have
developed and implemented an extensive and comprehensive plan that brings together short and
medium-term actions into one Strengthening Services Plan.
The plan is presented in three sections following the continuum of need from early help to services
to protect vulnerable children and services for children in care and care leavers, all underpinned by
robust leadership, management, and governance.
The Strengthening Services Board meets six-weekly to monitor progress, provide support and
challenge and to ensure that improvements are made at pace. Board membership includes both
Councillors and senior managers. Work is well underway, and progress is being made on all
projects. The work programme for the Board ensures that complex partnership projects receive a
‘Deep Dive’ enabling Board Members to have a detailed solution-focused discussions. In December
2021 the Strengthening Services Board closed Phase 1 of the Plan and agreed to commence Phase 2
of the Plan in January 2022. Phase 2 of the Plan includes our Post Ofsted Action Plan, submitted to
Ofsted on 26th January. Our Post Ofsted Action Plan is included - appendix 1.

2.2d

Pan-Dorset Safeguarding Children Partnership (PDSCP)
The PDSCP meets monthly and holds biannual meetings with its First Tier Pan Dorset Leaders to
ensure learning and strategic opportunities are shared and understood. We have reviewed our
business unit to ensure it contains suitable capacity for both co-ordination and performance
analysis in line with the Wood review. We have refreshed the Quality Assurance subgroup so that it
mirrors our new place-based arrangements; it is referred to as the Multi Agency Quality Assurance
Group (MAQPAG). This is supported by a learning hub group providing multi agency audit and
findings to influence practice changes in our partnership working and build on areas of strengths.
We have been working with Dartington Social Research Unit and Collaborate to ensure that our
Safeguarding arrangements include the voices of our children and families through understanding
how the voices of children and families are currently included, exploring what opportunities there
are to deepen and improve this engagement and develop wider principles and models for
engagement. These are being delivered through the Board’s thematic deep dives, establishing
groups for people with a lived experience of the safeguarding system, staff development
embedding the principles and developing a more structured way of using existing mechanisms. We
have recruited a new, experienced Independent Chair of the PDSCP.
Our Safeguarding Partnership website can be accessed by following this link: Pan-Dorset
Safeguarding Children Partnership .
The Annual Report for our Safeguarding Partnership can be accessed here: Annual Reports - PanDorset Safeguarding Children Partnership.

2.3

Financial Position
At quarter 3 2021-22, Children’s Services forecast was £74.864m compared with a budget of
£72.12m, an overspend of £2.75m (3.81%). There are two main areas of pressure in Children’s
Services: An increase in external placement costs and a decrease in trading income.
To help address these pressures, the overall budget proposed for Children’s Services for 2022-23 is
an increase of £2.739m, to £74.481m, an increase of 3.82%.

Page 31

14

A key aspect of financial strategy has been to establish budgets that reflect current and planned
demand and practice. Achieving this baseline means transformation and tactical service change
programmes can be implemented from a stable starting position. £8.96m of additional funding is
required to do this.
Children’s Services have developed an ambitious evidence-based transformation programme
comprising five themes. The transformation programme aims to deliver £14.9m cashable savings
over five years, £2.2m in 2022/23. Additionally, there are efficiency savings from reviewing services
totalling £2.09m and expected savings from the new Children’s home.

2.4

Council Leadership Team
The Chief Executive, Senior Leadership Team and Elected Members play an active role in providing
support and challenge to the service and partnership and have a strong line of sight to
practice. Regular briefings take place, and both the Chief Executive and Portfolio Holder participate
in regular case file audits and practice weeks. Vital signs (KPIs) for children’s services are included
in the Council’s Senior Leadership Team performance dashboard. Through their roles in supporting
our strategic partnerships and contributing to our Quality Assurance Framework, the Chief
Executive, the Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder (alongside senior leaders from across the
partnership) have a close line of sight to performance and impact made against our Strengthening
Services Plan.
Our Elected Member Development Programme provides supplementary learning and development
to enable members to better understand services and examples of our 2021/22 programme as
follows:
2021/22 sessions
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Introduction to Children’s Services – training for all newly elected councillors
Safeguarding Children Training – training for all councillors - Induction and Refresher
Corporate Parenting Board – training for CPB members
Corporate Parenting Training – training for all councillors – Induction and Refresher
SEND and Inclusion – training on the SEND early help offer and key statutory duties for all
councillors
Introduction to Children’s Services – training for all newly elected councillors
Fostering Panel – training for panel members

Spotlight sessions – 4 sessions (quarterly)
• Q1 - School Governance and Finance
• Q2 - Young and Thriving – overview
• Q3 – Delivering Locally – overview of CYPFP
• Q4 – Best start in life for under 5’s – overview of work being undertaken

2.5

Children’s Services Leadership Team
The Senior Leadership Team remains stable. Our Executive Director of Children’s Services has been
in post since January 2020.
The Corporate Director for Commissioning, Quality and Partnerships took up their post in February
2020 having been covering the role on an acting up position for some time. The position of Corporate
Director of Care and Protection was filled on an interim basis in August 2020 by an experienced
former Assistant Director; the postholder was appointed permanently on 23 February 2021. They are
now progressing their career by taking up the role of Director of Children’s Services for Central

Page 32

15

Bedfordshire in April 2022. Recruitment is in place for March 2022 for the Corporate Director of Care
and Protection to join our outstanding leadership team.
The permanent Corporate Director of Education who commenced their role in September 2019 was
seconded to set up a new company to lead the Dorset Centre of Excellence in June 2021. This position
has been filled on an interim basis by an experienced former education consultant who has been
working alongside our education colleagues on our improvement journey since March 2020.
We have further strengthened our Quality Assurance function across all areas of Children’s Services
by recruiting a consultant Senior Quality Assurance Lead and creating a fourth Corporate Director
Post with a lead for Quality Assurance., this is presently covered by a highly experienced Interim
Leader.
Our extended senior leadership team includes our Heads of Service and portfolio lead Service
Managers. Together they take responsibility for leading service improvement alongside the senior
leadership team. We have established a culture of continuous improvement through monthly
performance Boards, focused on a strengths-based challenge model of performance data and shared
learning across the Directorate through our Governance and Meetings and Performance
Management Frameworks.

2.6

Dorset Children Thrive
Our established and embedded “Thrive” locality model demonstrates that children receive the help
that they need at the right time. Families benefit from a broad range of Early Help services, tailored
to their needs and in the places where they live. Partnership working is well-developed, offering a
range of options that build on families’ strengths and can be provided without delay.

Figure 1.2 Dorset Children Thrive
The locality teams led by a single Head of Locality and Strategy are comprised of colleagues from
across Early Help, Children’s Social Care, Educational Psychology, SEND and Inclusion services under

Page 33

16

the leadership of Heads of Locality and Strategy that link together with our CCG Primary Care
Networks and public health nursing partners.
Matrix management arrangements (where staff report and consult with more than one person) are
used so everyone in the team has access to the specialist support they need. Underpinning the
model are our design principles that align to the partnership’s shared values and principles.
Ofsted identified the strength and impact of our locality model in its 2021 Inspection report “.. the
move to a strengths-based locality model of delivery has reaped significant rewards for children
and their families. Senior leaders have made rapid and sustainable progress, despite the impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic. In some cases, the challenges of the pandemic have created fresh
opportunities to build trust and cohesion with partners, and this has increased the pace of change.
Council leaders had recognised that services needed to change significantly and have given backing,
including financial support, to establish the new ways of working.”

2.7

Employee Engagement
Senior leadership engagement with front line colleagues has remained throughout the year, during
lockdown and the continuing impact of Covid-19, and we use creative approaches to remain in touch
with our employees.
Our regular Diagonal Slice events (Employee Forum) and Employee Symposium events have
continued to take place, listening to colleagues about what is important to them, providing feedback
and updating on the latest news about progress and how they can help.
Other examples include our Employee Bulletins from the Executive Director, the weekly Workforce
Wordout (Practice bulletin) and our ‘Thinking Thursday’ whole service learning and development
sessions.
In addition, regular blogs and twitter feeds are shared by the Executive Director. Senior managers
continue to drop into team meetings and visit teams and front-line services for children ensuring a
line of sight to practice remains in place. The Corporate Director for Care and Protection and the
Principal Social Worker have scheduled quarterly touchdowns with Social Workers.
The Children’s Services Hub, our online resource centre, has continued to develop ensuring all
employees and managers have access to information about the Directorate. This has included the
launch of the In-Focus feature, a simple way of promoting a consistent message regarding an aspect
of practice, the Managers Portal and an Induction Programme including invitations to welcome
events for all new employees, which are held throughout the year. We have implemented a
recognition programme that includes weekly star awards, recognition of development success
(apprentices, ASYE, post grad) and an annual awards ceremony.
The Good and Better Conference is held at the end of each quarter and provides an opportunity for
front line managers to take stock and review our performance over the previous quarter. The
conference brings together information from our activity and performance that we have through our
systems, quality of practice and feedback from service users and other professionals. All employees
and managers across the service will have a shared understanding of our performance and how we
are using our data and quality to continuously improve so our children and their families experience
the very best services.
Three employee surveys were launched in 2021 gathering important feedback from the workforce,
some of the highlights and our response is outlined below:

Page 34

17

Employees said
They want to be managed in a way that
supports their wellbeing and to feel more
satisfied with their work life balance.

They wanted further support from their
manager with regular check ins to see how they
are doing.
They sometimes struggle with the current
demands of the role and knowing what support
is available.
They wanted to see action as a result of the
HIVE surveys.

Managers want to feel better equipped with
the right skills to support their team’s
wellbeing. They also want to feel more
confident managing teams working in different
ways, e.g. some from home, some in an
office/workplace, etc.

We did
Take care Tuesdays has been introduced (or
another time, if Tuesdays aren’t a good day for
them) were introduced giving some time to use
for themselves – using this time to focus on
wellbeing or a virtual cuppa and catch up.
Open door sessions arranged – virtual & in
person – so employees can drop in to have a
conversation with their manager. - Pilot
process in one locality ongoing
Wellbeing being included on team meeting
agendas so employees can talk about the
demands and so they can understand the
current wellbeing offer and how to access it.
Team meetings being used to discuss all future
HIVE survey results so that action plans can be
put in place in a timely manner. ‘You Said, We
Did’ page on the children's hub created
Managers training on the Dorset Workplace
and managing health & wellbeing took place
Oct-Dec 2021 to help managers feel more
confident and competent.

Fig. 2.3 Employee feedback with outcomes

To support the implementation of our delivery model, Dorset Children Thrive, we have continued
to develop The Academy, our in-house resource for supporting and strengthening the quality of our
practice.

2.8

Our Workforce
As of 31st January 2022, we have 158 permanent Social Workers (including Advanced Practitioners,
Consultant Social Workers, Social Workers and CAMHS Social Workers). Developing a permanent and
a stable workforce to ensure our children have stability in their social worker has been a priority for
us. We made significant progress throughout 2020/2021 with successful recruitment to social work
posts. We have a comprehensive ‘grow our own’ programme alongside other activities. This included
our overseas recruitment partnership, where we recruited 10 experienced social workers who joined
us in November 2020 following an extensive induction and team development activity. All 10 of our
overseas social workers remain in post today. We have 22 current Social Worker vacancies, 19 are
covered temporarily by agency Social Workers. We have recruited a further 7 Social Workers who
will be joining over the next 3 months and we are holding a further 6 vacancies for Trainees/ Students
who will qualify in 2022 and will start their ASYE programme. This currently leaves 9 social work
vacancies that we will continue to recruit to (a vacancy rate of 5.7%).
In line with the national picture the Covid pandemic continues to challenge our workforce and we
have seen an increase in overall sickness rates across Children’s Services. Based on a 12-month rolling
period as at the 31st January 2022 our long-term sickness in social care teams are 11.9 days lost/FTE,
which is higher than we would like them to be. We are seeing the longer impact of covid on
employee’s mental health, workshops were delivered for Managers Oct-Dec 2021 providing

Page 35

18

managers with more information and confidence in supporting employee wellbeing. We are
however seeing short-term sickness rates improving to 3.5 days lost /FTE. Sickness data is now
routinely monitored through our monthly Performance Board and this alongside other HR and
employee data is now considered at our Workforce Development Steering Group.
A health & wellbeing focus group which has employee membership from across the service has been
established, with a 2-year action plan developed to assist us with providing a positive wellbeing
culture. This includes the introduction of the ‘Take Care Tuesday’ initiative which gives employees
time each month to dedicate to their wellbeing. We have worked with our Human Resources and
Occupational Health providers to strengthen the support offered to our staff who are experiencing
ill health. There is a strong corporate offer of wellbeing support and resources for all our employees,
including access to evidence based talking therapies such as cognitive behaviour therapy,
mindfulness, and counselling. We continue to promote this to our managers and our teams through
regular communication. We have seen an 8% rise in the use of our inhouse occupational health
support since 2020, with 13% of the Social Care workforce receiving support in 2021.
The numbers of children being supported by a social worker have remained consistent over the past
6 months for all social workers. The average number of children being supported by a social worker
is 14 in December 2021 having reduced from 18.8 in March 2020. Employees now have workloads
that enable them to develop and sustain meaningful relationships with our children.

2.9

Workforce Development
Our Workforce Development Steering Group is implementing our Workforce Development and
Recruitment and Retention Strategies and developing career pathways and support for our newly
qualified social workers in their Assessed and Supported Year of Employment.
Through our Workforce Development Team all practitioners, new and experienced, have access to a
broad and comprehensive learning and development offer including access to research tools such as
Research in Practice and Community Care Inform. We have developed resources available on the
Children’s Hub or The Academy (our virtual learning and development platform) to support
employees that are working with families, working with parents who use substances and completing
parenting assessments.
This includes tool kits such as the Dorset Graded Care Profile, Contextual Safeguarding, Domestic
Abuse, Sexual Abuse and Engaging Families. Practice Launch Events are held with Managers and
practitioners to launch new practice resources and we also introduced Stop the Clock in February
2021 – reflective sessions within teams which have a set resource on a particular theme identified
through our quality assurance processes.
We promote the learning and development offer through our Workforce Wordout and have a robust
process in place to evaluate the impact of the learning and development activity
Our practice model is now embedded and reflects the Dorset Children Thrive model and the shared
values and principles of the Strategic Alliance.

Page 36

19

Fig. 2.4 Our Workforce Development Model

3.

QUALITY AND IMPACT OF SOCIAL WORK PRACTICE IN
DORSET

3.1

The Integrated Front Door

3.1a

Children’s Advice and Duty Service
The Children’s Advice and Duty service (ChAD) was launched in October 2019. Professor Thorpe and
his team from the University of Lancaster led the implementation of the consultation model for our
Front Door. The ChAD is a consent, conversation and consultation-based model, working with our
children, their families, individuals, and professionals, to reach a joint decision about the level of
need and support required. Our partner agencies have continued to provide positive feedback in
respect of the support and advice received from the ChAD Service when they have made contact
using the dedicated professionals line. Our aim is to ensure that children and young people receive
the right support, first time and from the right person and we have continued to promote this
throughout the whole service.
During the whole of 2021 we saw 8107 contacts dealt with by ChAD, of these 2899 led to a referral
and were then progressed through our Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub. 60% of these contacts were
received via the telephone. During 2021 78% (95% during December) of the referrals taken and
89% (96% during December) of the contacts were completed within one working day –
demonstrating that our vision to provide a needs-led and timely response for our children and
young people is becoming a reality.
Whilst there have continued to be challenges due to the impact of Covid-19, the service has
embedded and strengthened the model, with Ofsted noting that the ‘Front Door provides a calm,
well-organised service, where timely and appropriate decisions are made about how to protect and
support children most effectively’. Our aim is to continue to develop and strengthen practice,

Page 37

20

remain focused and identify exceptions promptly, so we that we can plan and continue to provide a
good service to our children, young people and the professionals we engage with.
3.1b

Multi-agency Safeguarding Hub
The Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) commenced in June 2020. This has so far been a virtual
MASH due to Covid-19, but the commitment to develop and strengthen our partnership working
has continued to be effective, with our partners reporting that they have well-developed and
strong relationships with the service.
We have continued to develop information-sharing pathways where they were not in place, such as
with our Domestic Abuse services. We continue to review our information-sharing process and
decision-making; learning and practice development is a key focus for the Front Door and is
achieved through dip-sampling and weekly audit/themes meeting. The themes meeting is attended
by ChAD/MASH Team Managers, Police and Health colleagues. A report is completed from this
meeting and learning/actions required shared at the MASH Operational Group to take forward as
necessary.
Our recent review of the MASH process identified that practice across agencies is strong in respect
of multi-agency information sharing. The improvement area we identified is to develop multiagency decision making opportunities within the MASH. A task & finish group has been set up to
progress and develop in this area, which is overseen by the MASH Operational Group and the
MASH Strategic Group.

3.1c

Early Help Hub
In July 2020, the Early Help Hub (EHH) was implemented as part of ChAD to provide one Front Door
for requests for Early Help Assessments alongside the Front Door for children’s social care. A
dedicated Team Manager leads the EHH to provide consistency in decision-making and support
oversight, facilitating conversations between ChAD, social care, locality teams and the EHH. A rota
of Family Workers and Family Advisors from localities provides strong connections between the
central Early Help Hub and locality teams as well as locality-based community services.

3.1d

Number of Contacts and Referrals
We have seen a varying picture in respect of the number of Contacts and Referrals to Children’s
Social Care this last year. During the last 6 months (taken from ChAT) there were 4056 contacts,
with 1450 resulting in a referral.
The third national lockdown in January 2021 saw our referral rates come in line with our Statistical
Neighbours with a rate of referrals per 10,000 in January at 364. There was a significant increase in
referral rates per 10,000 in March 2021 to 517, when the lockdown was lifted, and children
returned to school. We have remained below the all-England average referral rate per 10,000.
Where there have been increases, these have been due to the national lockdown lifting and the
expected increase when schools return after the summer period.

Page 38

21

Fig. 3.1 Rate of referrals per 10,000 Jan 2021 – Dec 2021

We have seen a year on year decrease in the rate of Referrals per 10,000 since 2017-18 and we are
now in line with our good performing statistical neighbours. This is positive and whilst the
trajectory due to the impact of the pandemic on children and families is still not fully known, this
data demonstrates that the changes made to the front door in 2019, the introduction of the MASH
in June 2020 and the Early Help Hub in July 2020 are working – to reduce the number of referrals
being progressed through Children’s Services, promote relationship-based practice through
conversation and consent, to work with and to promote young people and their families receiving
the right service, first time, and to act preventatively at point of need to avoid escalation into
Children’s Social Care, where it is safe to do so.
The MASH information-sharing process has continued to support effective decision-making. During
December 2021, we received 632 contacts, of these 217 resulted in a referral and were progressed
within the MASH, 147 children were offered a social care assessment, 42 children also had a
strategy discussion and assessment take place, 15 children were offered Early Help support and 12
were offered information and advice. We have continued to undertake weekly auditing with Police
and Health colleagues which has indicated that most decisions remain well-informed with a timely
response from partner agencies.
Our re-referrals rates for 2021 have reduced to an average 19%. We continue to monitor this rate
to ensure we are not only making the right decisions at the Front Door, but that support based on
level of need and that any changes achieved are sustained.
3.1e

Contacts and Referrals from the Police
Dorset Police’s Blue, Red, Amber, Green system (BRAG) rates all Public Protection Notices (PPNs)
based on the level of risk present. We have reviewed this system, working with Dorset Police and
our neighbouring Local Authority, to ensure a consistency of practice in BRAG rating. We have
continued to hold twice daily meetings with the Police to review PPNs; this has continued to
promote practice development and we aim to develop this further, so that it becomes a multiagency decision-making process.
Our Consultant Social Workers have been involved in Vulnerability training for Dorset Police
Officers and more recently, Safeguarding training for new recruits in the MASH. We continue to
work closely with our MASH partners and contribute to training and development needs in respect
of safeguarding and good practice.
Over the last 6 months (01.07.2021 – 31.12.2021) 21% of our contacts and 26 % of referrals were
from the Police (total contacts for this period 4056 and total referrals 1450; these figures evidence
the effectiveness of our partnership arrangements.

Page 39

22

3.1f

Contacts and referrals from Health
We have continued to work well with our Health MASH partners, identifying areas of good practice
and for development. Health services have made 25% of the contacts recorded (total contacts for
this period 4056) and 13% of referrals (total referrals for this period 1450).
We drill down into the data, understand the trend and target our communication and education at
specific health services, to ensure that the contacts are received into the right part of the service –
Early Help Hub or ChAD - first time, to enable an effective and timely response, whilst ensuring that
Social Workers can focus on those referrals where the level of need requires statutory assessment
and support.

3.1g

Summary and next steps
The aim of the Front Door is to ensure that children and their families are accessing the right
support, from the right service at the right time and at the earliest opportunity. The evidence
presented in this report shows the progress that we have made. We will continue to evaluate and
monitor the data and learning from feedback and audits, as our aim is to continue to strengthen
the service:
•
•
•
•
•

to ensure our decision-making remains safe and timely
to reduce the number of assessments that result in no further action
a reduction in strategy discussions that do not require s47 Enquiries
a reduction in s47 Enquiries that do not result in a Child Protection Conference
and a longer-term trajectory of reducing the number of children and young people under
Child Protection plans and the numbers in care

An increase in the number of Early Help assessments, further development of the Team Around the
Family approach and all professionals considering who is best placed to meet the current needs of
the child and their family is welcome. We will continue to support partner agencies to provide
support and intervention where a relationship is already in place, to avoid escalation where we
can, and to enable statutory teams to prioritise those children and young people in need of
statutory support, care and protection.
We continue to closely monitor the impact of the Front Door, with weekly oversight reports to the
senior leadership team and a real time dashboard to support strong management oversight. We
dip-sample the decision- making at the Front Door and hold weekly meetings with our MASH
statutory partners, we identify any themes across the mash checks and decision-making, we then
use these as a focus for further dip samples.
We are committed to staff development and welfare, continuing to develop our staff within the
service. For example, Consultant Social Workers have now taken on Practice Lead roles in relation
to Children who are Missing, Child Exploitation Champion, training and development of others and
Practice Educator.
Finally, we plan to strengthen our Out of Hours offer and OOH service and in turn, build resilience
into the ChAD service and MASH. We remain aspirational for our Front Door and will continue to
build on our strengths and improve on those areas we identify for development.

Page 40

23

3.2

Early Help

3.2a

Our approach
Early Help is an intrinsic part of our model ‘Thrive’. Our now established locality teams were built
on the geographical outline our former Early Help ‘zones’. Our approach is inspired by the Harlem
Children’s Zone, where different professionals came together to help and support children, young
people, and their families. The foundations of this approach are:
•

its geographical footprint

•

An ethos of the least disruptive intervention first

•

Strong local partnership responses to local need

•

Building on community assets to provide early help

Based in local communities, the services and support vary depending on local priorities that are set
by partners in the local governance group, the ‘Local Alliance’. Overall governance is provided by
our Strategic Alliance for Children and Young People, through which we continuously promote Early
Help at the earliest opportunity in universal settings. Although all partners contribute to the Early
Help model, Dorset Council employs a range of Early Help staff to facilitate partnership working and
effective Early Help, through evidence-based interventions.
Our model has increased the council’s capacity for Early Help and SEN support both by increasing
the number of frontline practitioners and delivering closer integration of these practitioners to
ensure timely assessment and casework for children and their families. This includes specialist SEN
Family workers supporting families of children with emerging need or where there is support
through SEN support to complement our statutory offer. We have expanded our support to schools
and settings through dedicated teams, providing expert contacts for our education colleagues. This
enables us to build on our established model of proactive support for children, enabling us to wrap
around the communities children are a part of.
Our Early Help Strategy has been refreshed to reflect our operating model and in line with the
priorities set out in the Children, Young People and Families’ Plan.

Page 41

24

Fig. 3.2 Our Early Help Model

3.2b

Direct work with Children and Families
As of 4th January 2022, 1136 children and young people (516 families) are being supported by a
Lead Family Worker.
Our Early Help Practice standards guide our work and provide the basis of our workforce
development activity, to embed our relationship and strengths-based practice model, a
cornerstone of our Early Help Strategy. We have refined our expectations for working with families
and community partners with pace and rigour, to ensure:
Families benefit from a broad range of early help services, tailored to their
needs and in the places where they live. Partnership working is well
developed, offering a range of options that build on family’s strengths and
which can be provided without delay. (ILACs report, 2021)
We ensure there is consistent, robust management direction when requests for Early Help are
received and that assessment, planning and reviews are supported and progressed.

‘I cannot fault my family worker; I can always
contact even if it feels a silly question. My son
has trouble trusting people, but he loves his
family worker and really engages with him, it
has been positive for him to have a male
outside of the family whom he trusts.’

Page 42

25

We are currently focused on the time from the Early help Involvement Request to initial visit to
ensure help is early, alongside attention to frequency of visiting, quality of plan and overall impact
of our work. We work with families for as long as the help is needed, whilst sustaining appropriate
focus on pace and working towards community-based help and self-reliance for our families.
Our Early Help staff play a key role in working alongside families where children and young people
no longer require a Child in Need or Child Protection Plan but need ongoing support at an Early
Help level. We know that, when necessary, children and families are effectively stepped ‘up’ or
‘down’, supported by clear practice guidance and procedures and drawing on the locality model
whereby social care and early help staff are part of one team.
As a learning organisation, “The prime focus of audits is maturing from an emphasis on compliance
to a more reflective consideration of quality.” (ILACS 2021). We continue to find imaginative ways
to ensure that families are actively involved in our audits and have recently adapted our audit
process to strengthen family feedback.
A summary of audit outcomes shows that performance continues to be driven up with managers
routinely using the Early Help dashboard to ensure a timely response for families and this is
evidenced by the reduction in inadequate gradings overall. Whilst audits were paused in October
and November, observations in September provided evidence of strong practice, with strengths in
our relationships with children and young people and parenting support through group work
supporting good outcomes for children in Early Help plans.

Fig. 3.3 Early Help audit outcomes

Strengths identified in the audits for December 2021 are:
•

•
•

Timeliness of completing and recording assessments is continuing to improve. Increased
management oversight on the timeliness of assessment completion through fortnightly
tracking reminders and monthly performance board meetings has supported this.
There continues to be a strong theme of good engagement and relationships with families
by our family workers.
Family feedback, that we have made a difference, is overwhelmingly positive

Page 43

26

From the same audits, the identified area for improvement was:
• Proactive development and sharing of assessments, TAF minutes and plans with families and
professionals involved with the family is not consistently evidenced.
To address this, we are working with our frontline managers to enhance oversight, particularly
prior to signing off an assessment and we are engaging our family workers to help them understand
the importance of developing the Team Around the Family.
3.2c

Group work
Our core group work offer includes evidence-based parenting courses, including Incredible Years
and Living with Teenagers, Healing Together and parenting support through our locally developed
parenting skills and strategies groups, an under 1s group and group work focused on domestic
abuse (Freedom and Pattern Changing). Group work is frequently co-delivered with partners; all
facilitators of evidence-based parenting programmes attend group supervision.
This ensures fidelity to the programmes and increases the likelihood of positive outcomes for
attendees. Group work is usually delivered face to face. However, having learned from the value of
online delivery through the pandemic, arrangements have been made to include this as part of our
ongoing offer. This has led to improved attendance and engagement of both parents, regardless of
where they live, as well as reducing a need for childcare to support attendance. In our practice
observation week (October 2021) both online and classroom parenting programmes were
observed, with impact and outcomes evident for both cohorts of parent learners.
The table below provides information on participation in group work between January 2021 and
December 2021.

Type of group

Number of attendees

Incredible Years
Under 1s

110
802

Parenting Skills and Strategies
Living with Teenagers

27
78

Domestic Abuse (pattern changing/freedom)

83

Fig. 3.4 Participation in group work activities

The report at Fig. 3.5 below sets out the evidence of impact of one of our Parenting Programmes,
Living with Teenagers (LWT).

Living with Teenagers
08/06/2021-13/07/2021
Outcome Statements
• Increase understanding of how behaviour is learnt
• Increase understanding of why behaviour repeats
• Increase understanding of teenager’s normal behaviour and typical development
• Understand how parents can reduce unwanted behaviour and increase wanted /positive
behaviour.

Page 44

27

•

Empower parents and boost self-confidence

How much did we do?

How well did we do it?

No of sessions held: 6 sessions
5 parents started the course, one only attended one
session, one joined in session two and one parent
completed 4 sessions. 3 people completed the whole
course.
These were referrals from the Early Help Hub, from
schools or TAF meeting attended by Family Worker.
It was felt that they would benefit from support with
parenting and understanding their teenager’s
behaviour.
There was a home visit made to one family that was
attending LWT to discuss further their concerns outside
of the group. There was concern as to whether an
allocation of a Family Worker would be more
appropriate.
Information for further support for LWT PSAS sessions
were given and parents encouraged to have follow up
sessions.

60% course completion
1 participant didn’t complete the course,
1 joined in week 2 with her husband
The Outcomes were measured using the
Living with Teenagers Pre and Post Group
Questionnaire.
100% of parents felt more confident as a
parent
75% of parents felt that they had an
improved relationship with their teenager.
50% of parents had improved
communication with their teenager.
50% of parents had a reduction in conflict
with their teenager
50% of parents felt supported in their role as
a parent.

Is anyone better off?
Attitude/opinion
All attendees said that they would recommend the course to other parents.
One parent said on the first week “I came in feeling really stressed and anxious but feel so much better
at the end. I feel supported and understood.”
“Being here with my husband has made it easier to learn. We have got better at working together.”
All attendees found the group discussion encouraging and supportive. One parent commented
“Excellent group facilitators who encouraged debate and concerns to be raised. Honest opinions and
advice”
Parents all said that liked the fact they were not the only person going through this and liked the support
that group gave them.
Behaviour
Parents felt that the ‘chains of behaviour’ idea had resonated with them and they understood the
difference they could make by adjusting their behaviour.
Parents were able to appreciate what is normal teenage behaviour and the changes that they go through
that may cause the behaviour.
Parents found dealing with conflict and learning how to stay calm useful.
Data Sources
Living with Teenagers Pre and Post Course Questionnaire and Evaluation of course form.
Facilitator Reflection: I feel that the data doesn’t truly reflect the changes that parents made through
attending the course. I question the initial scoring that the parents recorded and wonder if it reflects
their own confidence and expectations as a parent.
Fig. 3.5 Evaluation of Living with Teenagers

A further example of our group work offer is “Healing Together”.
The ‘Healing Together’ programme was born out of a request from mothers who had started their
journey of recovery from domestic abuse and violence in 2016. They expressed that they wanted

Page 45

28

similar help and support for their children but could not find anything suitable. Their children were
labelled as ‘naughty’, they were at risk of exclusion from school and struggling to access any help.
We have a number of accredited facilitators delivering this programme across the county.

Fig. 3.6 Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire score changes for Healing Together

3.2d

Supporting partners to undertake Early Help
In addition to the delivery of direct work with our families, designated Early Help Link Workers from
our locality teams are embedded in schools in their locality. The role of the Link Worker is to
support schools and settings to be proactive with and for their vulnerable children. The primary
tool we employ is the Vulnerable Children’s Tracker and we have recently revised how we embed
this in our practice, to ensure there is strong compliance from our schools and settings as well as
effective leadership of the use of the tracker in each locality.
We develop our partners’ capacity to deliver their early help responsibilities, through the delivery
of workforce development, advice and guidance. Our “Safeguarding through Early Help:
Understanding Your Role” training is available to the whole children’s workforce every month and
108 professionals and parent members of our Dorset Parent Carer Council have benefitted from
this since December 2020, all reporting that it has made them more confident about convening
Team Around the Family meetings. Agencies represented included:
•
•
•
•
•
•

schools, including specialist provision
mental health services
drug and alcohol services
Relate
Dorset Police
Dorset Healthcare

Our training has been offered virtually since April 2020. Through our training records, we note a
correlation between take up and the confidence to initiate early help. We continuously evaluate
feedback and adapt the training to meet the needs of practitioners and to track impact.

Page 46

29

Impact is evident through:
•

The number of level 2 interventions (whereby our workers support other agencies to initiate early
help) has steadily increased since September 2021.

Fig. 3.7 Number of Level 2 Interventions by Dorset Council Early Help Teams (supporting partner agencies)

•

The payment by results figures for our strengthening families programme (see below Fig. 3.8)
Through our Children, Young People and Families’ Plan our partnership has agreed to measure and
identify the type of Early Help support provided by partners so that we can understand the
combined impact of effort in our communities and continuously review and refine our offer to
ensure great outcomes for our children. This work is being led through our local alliance groups
and we anticipate being able to report on outcomes across the partnership from 1st April 2022.

3.2e

Focus on Early Years
Since January 2020 when our data analysis highlighted increases in younger children needing
support through child protection and coming into our care, we prioritised children aged 0 – 5 years
in our early help responses. We have continued to prioritise this age group, recognising the
potential Covid-19 impacts of reduced visits to very young children, and potential for reduction in
offers at early years settings as well as national messages regarding safe sleeping. We have done
this through:
•

•
•
•
•

County wide strategic partnership meetings and locality-based operational meetings
focusing on the 0 to 5s (initially weekly, now monthly) to identify and respond to emerging
issues and families we were most worried about.
Routine, proactive conversations and information sharing with health colleagues and
settings about children needing early help, in each locality.
Prioritisation of children aged 0 – 2 in allocation for direct work by family workers and in
response to contacts with The Early Help Hub.
Increasing support to early years settings who are initiating early help through our Early
Years Support and Advice Officers.
Making our Children’s Centres available to maternity services to enable expectant mothers
to meet their midwife in a non-clinical setting and to enable early identification of need

Page 47

30

There has been a steady increase in the numbers of children aged 0-4 supported through Early Help
since January 2020 to December 2021, with many of the children attending our group work offer
aged under 5.
In the Chesil locality we have piloted the Team Around the Setting (TAS) initiative. This group
includes a panel of professionals from the locality team and partner agencies who come together to
meet with local early years practitioners. The intended outcomes are:
•
•

•

To improve the life chances and outcomes for children and families in Chesil though a
partnership working approach.
To provide a ‘one team’ approach to offer support, information, advice, and guidance to EY
providers to:
o offer CPD opportunities to staff
o support EY staff in their practice and decision-making
o improve the quality of provision
o improve outcomes for children
To give and receive feedback to:
o build strong professional relationships between all parties
o improve communication between all parties
o create a better understanding of each other’s roles and the challenges and dilemmas
faced.

As a result of this initiative, 3 TAS meetings have been held attended by a Social Worker EY
Champion, The ChAD manager and local HV lead. There is an opportunity for EY practitioners to
book a 1:1 meeting with a specific professional to seek advice and enable early intervention to take
place. We will look to role this initiative out across the other localities. Shadowing opportunities
have been offered to other locality Team Managers.
3.2f

Early Years provision
We are in the process of completing our Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2021-22 with key
successes noted as:
•

•

•
•
•

99% of early years provision in Dorset is judged ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ (Ofsted official
statistics, August 2021). Support for early years provision is targeted according to
statutory duties and need through a risk assessment process.
Take up of 2-year-old funding is higher than average compared to statistical neighbours,
the South West and nationally at 82% in December 2021. This has dropped from 89% and
this is being addressed with locality teams and settings.
Take up of 3-year-old funding is higher than or equal to statistical neighbours, the South
West and nationally at 97% in December 2021
85.9% of children in Dorset are at, or above the expected level in all 5 areas of
development at their 2-year progress check (England 81.9% 2021/22)
100% of early years group childcare provision offer the extended 30 hours early education
funded entitlement.

Predictably, Covid-19 still has an impact on our early years provision. Overall, settings report the
demand for early years provision continues to be lower due to parents’ working situations.
However, a survey with parents in December 2021, 73% of respondents told us their use of

Page 48

31

childcare has not changed due to the pandemic. 10% told us they use more childcare and only 5%
are using friends or family instead of a registered childcare provider.
We continue to have a shortage of wraparound provision for school-age children and inclusive
childcare for children with SEND. We are working with national early years SEND organisation
‘Dingley’s Promise’ to improve approaches to inclusion. We will also work with our Family
Information Service and EY Workforce Development Officer to increase the amount of childcare
provision for primary school age children and promote careers in childcare particularly, registered
childminding. In a rural county, we rely on childminders for delivering early education funding
entitlements alongside our group provision.
We have continued to survey providers throughout the pandemic to ensure we understand the
issues and challenges and are able to offer support. Survey response rates are lower at between 4050% of the provider base which makes analysing data and identifying themes difficult.
Our business support offer is virtual with new webpages in place to support settings to evaluate
their position. The key business risk faced by Early Years setting is that private paid-for hours have
reduced dramatically. We have invited settings to apply for financial support to mitigate the impact
of COVID-19 on their settings; this offer has run from the summer 2021 and will close at the end of
March 2022. 25 settings were awarded sustainability support of £126,835.00 in 2021 as a direct
result of COVID-19.
We provide core training opportunities free of charge to childcare professionals only charging for
non-attendance for a booked place. Over 2400 EY practitioners are registered on our training
platform, Dorset Nexus and in 2021, 1635 training places were booked on 159 workshops covering
18 different subjects. In 2022, in addition to Foundation and Multi-agency safeguarding and Role of
the EY SENCO, we are also offering Five to Thrive, Incredible Beginnings, Dingley’s Promise SEND
training, WellComm and locality network briefings.
Early years SEND provision is a key priority area. Our wider Dorset Council SEND strategy explicitly
identifies areas for improvement for our youngest children and their families. We link our early
years staff e.g. Portage Consultants closely with other SEND staff for workforce development
opportunities. In September 2021, we launched the new digital application process for Early SEND
Support funding following a lengthy re-design process involving families, EY providers, SEND, EY
funding officer and EY Support and Advice Officers.
Parents are required to provide digital consent wherever possible although alternative options are
available if there are difficulties accessing the digital service. Panel meetings are half-termly
involving Portage Consultants and EYSAO’s alongside the panel to discuss the application and agree
funding. The EY Strategic Lead meets regularly with Dorset Parent Carer Council to review EY SEND
progress, plans and published information.
Portage Consultants offer a range of support involving home and pre-school setting visits
depending on need. Priority is given to those children starting school in the following September
and support ends when the transition meeting has taken place with the school. Our consultants
provide early years expertise to our DEAL officers. A rolling training programme is offered to all EY
practitioners with priority given to those settings who are currently working with Portage.
Early years practitioners are active members of School’s Forum, Strategic Alliance, Best Start in Life
and Best Education for All steering groups. We are in the process of re-establishing the Dorset
Childcare Voice, a strength-based forum to provide views, experiences, and data to inform genuine

Page 49

32

collaboration and co-production. The Best Start in Life development plan clearly involves our EY
settings in 7 of the 11 priorities.
In the summer term 2021 and again in spring term 2022 we worked closely with early years
providers to offer additional funded ‘boost hours’ to eligible children to support their development
in the prime areas of learning. Almost 10,000 additional early education hours have been funded
through Covid outbreak management funding to support those children transitioning to school in
the following September. Providers and parents were expected to provide feedback on the impact
of funding on the child’s development.

Support is provided to early years settings primarily from an Early Years Support and Advice Officer
as well as Portage Consultants and other locality officers for example, Educational Psychologists or
Specialist Teachers. Through a RAG Rating assessment, priority is placed on those settings:
o
o
o
o

judged less than good at their last inspection
not yet inspected
interested in setting up a childcare business
considered a priority for other reasons including, concerns about leadership and
management, inclusion, safeguarding or recent allegations or complaints

The approach to RAG rating is discussed between the EYSAO and their locality manager.
Moderation of these assessments is discussed at regular intervals with the EY Strategic Lead and
the Team Manager.
3.2g

Dorset Families Matter (Supporting Families)
Dorset Families Matter provides intensive support for some of our most vulnerable families.
Working with the whole family across local services, with a focus on early help, the programme has
a proven track record of driving reforms across public services. Our funding is used to tackle
complex inter-connected problems including unemployment, poor school attendance, mental
health issues, anti-social behaviour, and domestic abuse. By accessing early, practical, coordinated
support to transform lives for the better, the demand and dependency on costly reactive public
services is reduced. Support is co-ordinated through a range of services to identify and address
family issues as early as possible.
In the current year (2021/22) we received attachment funding for another 187 families and could
make claims under the Payment by Results Framework for successful outcomes for a further 327
families. By the end of December 2021, we had successfully achieved (audit assured and certified)
Payment by Results claims indicating successful outcomes 257 families, which represents 78% of
our 327 target. We are on schedule to achieve 100% against target by February 2022.

Page 50

33

By working with my family worker, I feel
happier that my Dad can now afford the
things I need like a new bed and lunches
that I like to eat, my family are working
together more on the things that need
doing in the house and I can concentrate
better on my schoolwork now.

Fig. 3.8 Supporting Families Payment by Results Claims

2021/22 has been another extended year for the programme and again has been affected by the
Covid-19 pandemic its impacts on family wellbeing, particularly in terms of mental health. However,
the experience of the central support team in liaising with our Voluntary and Community Services
(VCS) providers and assisting front line practitioners to access additional sources of support from
these providers has continued to be an asset. Throughout the year our VCS services have sustained
their operations, so our families have been able to continue receiving vital Covid-safe interventions
appropriate to their needs, which in turn has extended the reach of our front-line practitioners
during this exceedingly challenging time.
The relationship between Dorset Council and our VCS partners has, as a result, been significantly
strengthened, our families have been kept safe and our front-line practitioners within our social
care, early help and school teams have all felt well-supported.
During the Spending Review in the autumn the government confirmed that a new three-year
Supporting Families programme will begin in April 2022. The detail about the shape, and
expectations for transformation are yet to be communicated but we feel ready to step up to and
deliver whatever service change requirements are placed upon us through this programme

3.3

Children in Need
Our Children in Need and Child Protection social work is delivered by our six locality social work
services as part of our Thrive model, enabling closer working with partners and minimising handoffs between social workers by reducing transfer points. Significantly, it further develops our

Page 51

34

understanding of local need through improved relationship-based practice with our families and
partners.

Fig. 3.9 Number of children in need

Our Children in Need (CIN) have decreased during 21/22 and data indicates we are now more in
line with Good and Outstanding authorities. The Early Help Hub within our Front Door is now well
established and we have seen the number of referrals leading to social work assessments decrease
with the rate of completed assessments per 10,000 in the last 6 months reducing from 478 in 20/21
to 433 in January 2022. There has been sustained improvement in timeliness of our social work
assessments with 91% of assessments completed within 45 working days (see Fig. 10 below).
Our social workers’ direct work and contact with children and families is a high priority for us with
89% of children being seen during assessment and 76% of children in need being seen within 6
weeks. We are focusing on ensuring that where appropriate there is a timely step-down to Early
Help which ensures that we are working with the right children in the right part of the system.

3.4

Child Protection

3.4a

Section 47 enquiries
Overall, the rate of s47 enquiries per 10,000 has remained steady, with 515 in the last 6 months. In
the same period 58% of the s47 investigations did not result in an Initial Child Protection
Conference and 77% of Initial Child Protection Conferences in the last 6 months resulted in a Child
Protection Plan.

3.4b

Child Protection Conferences
Timeliness of our Initial Child Protection Conferences with over 91% being held on time for the last
6 months has remained strong. Due to Covid-19, conferences were initially being held virtually but
following feedback from parents and the installation of the digital infrastructure we moved to a
hybrid semi-virtual style conference with the social worker and the Quality Assurance and
Reviewing officer (QARO) together with the family in a conference room with partner agencies
joining via ‘Teams’. We continue to ensure that children continue to be seen as QAROs are asked to

Page 52

35

visit children if the social worker is unable to do so due to having to self-isolate. We monitor the
quoracy to ensure full contributions from partner agencies so that decisions are based on complete
and up to date information.
We are working with our commissioned advocacy provider (NYAS from August 2021) to resolve
challenges with their capacity to offer an advocate for all children over the age of 8 years old to
ensure their voice is heard within the conference process.
3.4c

Child Protection Plans
The rate of children subject to a Child Protection Plan in Dorset is 42 per 10,000. The percentage of
children who are made the subject of a Child Protection Plan for a second or subsequent time ever,
in the last 6 months is 34%. We reviewed the cases of these children and identified that for the
majority their previous plan had been at least two years earlier. We further identified that 30% of
these returning children were escalated to Child Protection after a very short period of Child in
Need intervention; we established that those children could have been supported under Child in
Need before requiring escalation. As a result, additional quality assurance has been put in place to
support robust decision making. For those child protection cases that were re-opened in less than
two years, 65% were re-opened due to previous over-optimism and where we should have
intervened earlier. It is likely that due to increased oversight through line of sight we are now
responding to risk more effectively and timely.
37% of Child Protection Plans ended in less than 3 months which is higher than England and
statistical neighbours. Our analysis shows that 72 children’s plans in 2021 were ended within 3
months and that the majority of these were appropriate with them either reaching the age of 18,
moving out of Dorset or coming into care with none of them to date coming back onto a CP plan. A
more detailed review is currently taking place to consider whether the decision to put the child
onto a CP plan for this cohort of children was appropriate.

Fig. 3.11 Rate of Child Protection Plans in population

In response to the high number of children being supported through child protection plans in July
we implemented a quality assurance step where the Quality Assurance Reviewing Officer (QARO)
and the Team manager discusses the outcome of the Section 47 to agree what is the most
appropriate way of supporting the child and their family. This is to assure ourselves that we are
making the right decisions about which children should be considered at an initial conference.
To further support this for individual children we have developed Multi-Agency Child Exploitation
(MACE) meetings chaired by a QAROs . This will be for children where there are child protection

Page 53

36

concerns that are of a contextual nature as managing these children under a CP Plan is not the most
appropriate way of supporting the family to safeguard. This process helps social workers and their
managers to think differently about how risk can be managed.
3.4d

Child Protection Visits
We continue to give conspicuous care to timeliness of Child Protection visits. At the end of
December 94% of children were seen in the previous 4 weeks.
We remain focussed on strengthening our approach to conferencing through the continued
development of the Quality Assurance Reviewing Officer role. We have embedded our
relationship-based restorative conferencing model with the support of training from Mark Finnis.
This helps us to ensure that the right children are on a Child Protection Plan for the right amount of
time and that we are achieving the best outcomes for them.

3.5

Children Who are Disabled

3.5a

Our approach
We have a dedicated service for children who are disabled, delivered by three social work teams, one
Early Help team and an Occupational Therapist team.
As of January 2022, 528 children were receiving a service from the Children Who are Disabled team
(CWAD):
•
•

75 children are allocated to a Family Worker.
209 children are allocated to a Social Worker, 30 of whom are also supported by a family
worker.
• 201 children are held ‘virtually’ in the Early Help team (i.e. receiving a short-break support
package but not allocated to a lead worker).
• 111 children are allocated to an Occupational Therapist, 65 of whom are also allocated to a
social worker or family worker.
Of these:
•
•
•
•
•

40 are children in care.
7 are children supported by a Child Protection plan
156 are children supported by a Child in Need plan
289 children are accessing short break support via direct payments
23 children access residential short breaks

We provide a residential home for children, the Cherries, which is currently judged as ‘Good’ by
Ofsted.
We fund a targeted short-breaks projects in the community, accessed by a cohort of disabled children
who are not open to CWAD.
3.5b

Birth to Settled Adulthood re-design
Dorset wants to provide a consistently good service for disabled young people and their families,
which continues seamlessly from childhood to young adulthood. In 2021 a review of the transition
arrangements between children’s and adults’ social care was undertaken, setting out proposals for
improvement and establishing workstreams to deliver this. Collaborative re-design work is
underway involving children’s and adults’ social care, SEND and local health services, under the
guidance of a newly-appointed independent Chair of the Birth to Settled Adulthood Board. We’re

Page 54

37

seeing the immediate benefits of Co-working improving knowledge and understanding across
areas. To further improve this, we will continue to develop our model for delivery of support to this
cohort of young people. We are consulting with the Dorset Parent Carer Council and will arrange
further updates and consultation as the work progresses.
3.5c

Short Breaks
We are working to increase the variety and specialism of our short breaks provision. A commissioning
needs analysis has been undertaken and a tendering process has brought an additional provider.
Work has commenced to develop an integrated multi-disciplinary service working on the principles
and values or our Harbour service to provide rapid support to parents and children in the community,
a short break offering encompassing foster care and residential options. The work to develop our
sufficiency strategy, the creation of the Dorset Centre for Excellence, our SEN Capital strategy, and
shorts breaks offer creates an opportunity to create an integrated and systemic offer for children
who are disabled.
Dorset Parent carer Council have been involved in the planning of the new service, and we are clear
about gaps in the range of choice available to parents. Work is also taking place to increase the
availability of family-based shorts breaks, improve the range of daytime activities available to
parents, and improve the inclusivity of leisure services.

3.6

Domestic Abuse

3.6a

Our approach
Dorset Council commissions an Integrated Domestic Abuse Service (IDAS) which is provided by
Paragon (rebranded from You First). The service offer consists of community outreach support,
accommodation-based support, helpline, and recovery programmes. During the COVID 19
pandemic Paragon worked closely with colleagues in Dorset Council and with partners to monitor
the effects of COVID and adapt provision to meet the needs of the community.
Last year we worked with partners and sourced funding from central government to implement the
nationally accredited DRIVE perpetrator programme. This included the creation of a Domestic
Abuse Perpetrator Panel (DAPP). DAPP/DRIVE have been in operation since March 2021 and
feedback from those involved demonstrates it is having a positive impact. DAPP/DRIVE link closely
with the High-Risk Domestic Abuse (HRDA) model, where perpetrators are identified at HRDA, and
referred to DAPP for consideration to DRIVE. Where DRIVE isn’t suitable, partners consider
disruptive techniques to reduce the risk and ongoing offending.
We continue to work with partners to take a whole systems approach to how we design and
commission services. Last year partners came together to create and agree the Domestic Abuse
Commissioning Charter. The Charter sets out a range of key principles and commitments for future
design work and helps facilitate co-commissioning opportunities.

3.6b

High Risk Domestic Abuse Model (HRDA)
In response to several Domestic Homicide Reviews the arrangements for High-Risk domestic abuse
responses were reviewed in 2019/2020. The High-Risk Domestic Abuse (HRDA) model of daily
meetings was piloted from February to April 2020. The core principles of the model of working with
high-risk victims of domestic abuse are:
•
•

Faster, coordinated, and collaborative response to the whole family affected by domestic
abuse, including perpetrators and children
Support and interventions to manage risk are provided closer to the timing of the incident

Page 55

38

•
•

Consistent threshold is applied to high-risk domestic abuse cases
Specialist domestic abuse worker ensures the voice of the person is represented at the
planning stage.

The model has clear measurable outcomes which include:
•
•
•
•

A simplified process that enables practitioners to respond to disclosures in timely way and
supports defensible decision making
A model that is efficient, effective, takes advantage of digital solutions and based on
evidence of best practice
Addresses the unique needs of all families with protected characteristics
Utilises existing resources to provide better outcomes

HRDA meetings take place 4 days per week – Monday, Tuesday, Thursday, and Friday. There is also
a monthly High-Risk Domestic Abuse Plus (HRDAP) meeting where cases in which the risk has not
reduced are reviewed. The pilot was reviewed in July 2020 and agreed by partner strategic leads as
the preferred local multi-agency information sharing model for high-risk cases of domestic abuse.
Between 1st April 2020 and 31 March 2021, there were 622 high risk cases taken and heard at
HRDA, with 66% of these cases involving a child/children. Studying data prior to 2020, the annual
cases seen at HRDA reflect a year-on-year increase in high-risk cases going to HRDA (or MARAC
previously). That said, the current numbers going to HRDA are now in-line with the SafeLives
recommendations.
In October 2021 partners came together to evaluate HRDA. The decision to move from the MARAC
to the HRDA model in Dorset was ambitious and required investment across agencies. The results
of the evaluation demonstrated that this decision was correct and that the HRDA is meeting many
of the original principles of the agreed model. The main successes are that high risk cases of
domestic abuse are discussed closer to the timing of the incident enabling information to be shared
and risk managed sooner and that the risk management plans put in place as part of the HRDA
concentrate on the whole family recognising the impact of each family member one another. The
evaluation identified several recommendations to improve the model. The recommendations are
being taking forward by the Quality Assurance Group and Strategy Group’s, aligning to their overall
work to monitor effectiveness of the model and the impact it has on families.
We have collaborated with our police and education colleagues to implement Operation
Encompass that enables schools to have access to information when a domestic incident has
occurred between the family. This enables them to support children when they arrive at school
and or on return from school holidays.
The Domestic Abuse Act became law in April 2021. The Act places new legal duties on the Council in
relation to domestic abuse. This includes setting up a Local Partnership Board (LPB), assessing the
need for support for people (and their children) in accommodation-based settings, developing a
strategy, and ultimately ensuring there is support available for people experiencing domestic abuse
and their children in accommodation-based settings. In Dorset, the Dorset Community Safety
Partnership (CSP) has adopted the role of LPB and has supported the Council in creating the Dorset
Domestic Abuse Strategy. To support Dorset Councils in meeting its new duties, government has
provided New Burden’s Funding. Work on proposals to make use of this funding is nearing
completion.
Children’s Services are working closely with Community Safety partners to ensure children and
young people are kept in focus of this work.

Page 56

39

3.6c

Sexual Violence
STARS Dorset Sexual Trauma and Recovery Service is a pan-Dorset charity that offers one to one
support, free of charge, for anyone of any age or gender, who lives works or studies in Dorset and
has experienced any form of sexual violence at any time in their lives. The service provides several
different types of support including an Independent Sexual Violence Advisor Service, Counselling, a
Children and Young People's Service and a Support Line.
STARS have recently been awarded the contract, funded by the Office of the Police Crime
Commissioner for Dorset and NHS England, to provide an Independent Sexual Violence Advisor
(ISVA) service in the County. The contract begins in April 2021 and runs to 2028. This is a service
that our practitioners utilise as part of their planning to support our families.

3.6d

Parental Conflict
We recognise that children experiencing frequent, intense and poorly resolved conflict between
parents or carers, whether in a relationship or separated are at risk of poor outcomes and research
shows that other interventions to support families are likely to fail when conflict is unresolved. We
know that there are areas in Dorset where family breakdown exceeds national averages, for
example, in Weymouth and Portland and we have taken a leadership role with this issue, alongside
the Department for Work and Pensions by overseeing the Happy Families, Happy Futures
programme, across the south-west. A programme designed to improve communication and ease
tension between parents or carers, supporting a happy environment for their children.
Through practitioner training we are seeing an increase in confidence across the children’s services
workforce in developing a professional curiosity around the parental relationship. Referrals have
been steadily increasing and during Covid-19 the delivery swiftly moved to virtual delivery, both on
a 1:1 and group basis, which has facilitated greater take-up by fathers.
Dorset Council is working on a range of interconnected approaches to use the valuable
understanding of early identification and appropriate levels of support to inform legacy planning.
This includes further embedding of the agenda within Early Help and the development of a
complete toolkit that captures the child’s and parents voice when assessing and supporting
parental conflict.
As a member of the Pathfinder to pilot the implementation of the private law recommendations,
we will have the opportunity to explore how our Early Help offers might be involved, particularly at
the start but also during and at the end of cases as we triage the support needed to help parents
resolve issues and ensure outcomes are sustainable and avoid unnecessary returns to court. We
know that ongoing litigation tends to escalate/exacerbate/entrench parental conflict and want
work with colleagues to adapt and resource our processes to avoid this harm whenever it is safe to
do so.

3.6e

Conclusion and next steps
We constantly strive to support our practitioners consistently identify domestic abuse and to build
on the range of Domestic Abuse Support services available in our area so that our staff can respond
effectively with the right support for children and families. Through our Strengthening Services Plan
we are working closely with the Community Safety Partnership on a range of actions to strengthen
our partnership approach including the implementation of a Domestic Abuse Toolkit in April/May
2021.

3.7

Pan Dorset Youth Justice Service

Page 57

40

3.7a

Our approach
The Youth Justice Service is a pan-Dorset partnership comprising Dorset Council, BCP Council, NHS
Dorset CCG, Dorset Police, and the National Probation Service Dorset. The Youth Justice Service is a
multi-disciplinary team which includes youth justice officers, police officers, probation officers,
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service nurses, speech and language therapists, a part-time
psychologist, parenting workers and restorative justice practitioners. The Youth Justice Service has
two office bases, one in each local authority. The Dorset team is based in Dorchester, co-located
with some of Dorset’s specialist education services and on the same site as one of Dorset’s
alternative education provisions.
Designated Youth Justice Service staff have access to the Dorset Council Mosaic system to support
integrated working, assisted by strong working relationships with social care and early help
colleagues at practitioner and manager levels in the localities. The service is engaged in the
development and delivery of ‘The Harbour’ (Adolescent Residential and Outreach Service). The
service is also represented on the Child Exploitation Strategic, Tactical and Champions groups and
participates in the locality-based Youth at Risk meetings.

3.7b

First Time Entrants to the Youth Justice System
There has been a sustained and significant reduction in the number of children entering the youth
justice system. Local data shows a total of 106 ‘first-time entrants’ in the year 2018/19, reducing to
79 in the year 2019/20, to 51 in the year 2020/21 and a projected total of 35 in 2021/22.
Although there are low numbers of 10-13-year-olds entering the justice system (total of 7 in the
year 2020/21), these numbers have not reduced as much as the older age groups and are a focus
for future work.
Local data does not indicate over-representation of children with diverse ethnic heritage among
our first-time entrants.

3.7c

Use of Custody
Dorset continues to see low levels of custodial sentences. At the time of writing, at the end of
January 2022, no Dorset children have been sentenced to custody in the period from April 2020.

3.7d

Youth Justice Service practice developments
The Youth Justice Service prioritises relationship-based work with young people, recognising the
evidence that a relationship with a trusted pro-social adult reduces the risk of further offending.
The Youth Justice Service Speech and Language Therapists assess the communication needs of each
child, with local data showing that 80% of young people in contact with the Youth Justice Service
have communication needs. The Youth Justice Service uses the Trauma Recovery Model,
recognising that many young people in the youth justice system have experienced trauma in their
earlier lives which has delayed their emotional and cognitive development and affects their current
behaviour. Understanding the child’s communication needs and their trauma history enables the
service to take an individual response to each child.

3.7e

Developing the service
The Youth Justice Service’s current priorities are to:

Page 58

41

•

Do more to make assessments, plans and interventions accessible, collaborative and
shared, involving young people, parents and other professionals and responding to the
child’s communication needs, trauma history and experiences of discrimination

•

Reduce harm caused by men and boys to women and girls, including violence, harassment
and sexual harm

•

Develop the service’s activities-based work with young people in order to repair harm, to
support constructive activities and to increase employability, linking with community
organisations to build young people’s strengths and pro-social identities

•

Ensure the right multi-agency support is in place for children aged 10-13 who have come
into contact with the youth justice system.

3.8

Children in Care

3.8a

Our approach
Children in Care are supported by social workers across locality teams, and by the children who are
disabled (CWAD) service. Within the Locality Teams the 4 locality-based Permanence teams support
our children in care from 0-18 years of age. The Permanence teams are embedded within our
place-based structure which ensures that our Children in Care have a change of social worker at the
right time for them ensuring stability whilst maintaining a focus on their needs when permanence
has been achieved.
Our Dorset Children Thrive model ensures that workers build and maintain lasting relationships
with their children who they support throughout their involvement with children’s social care
services.

3.8b

Our children in care
We continue to see a reduction in the number of Children in our Care during 2021/22 (437 – Dec
21); this is equivalent to 64.6 per 10,000 which is lower than national comparator data.

Fig. 3.13 New Entrants to Care (2020 to 2021)

Children continue to enter care in a planned way through the governance of weekly Line of Sight
Meeting and Leadership Oversight and via planned court intervention. No children entered care

Page 59

42

under Police Protection in December 2021, and only 3 children were subject to Police Protection in
the last 6 months.
We continue to maintain face to face contact, with visits to 87% of Children in Care up to date at
the end of December 2021. 82% of children have a current care plan and 100% of Children in Care
reviews were completed on time (Dec 2021).
3.8c

Health Assessments
There are good working relationships between children’s social care managers, the Children in Care
Health Service and Dorset CCG, with all partners committed to improving health outcomes for
children in care.
We have strengthened our performance relating to Initial Health Assessments (IHA) for our children
in care by working with our families, and strengthening pathways and tracking with social workers,
health commissioners and providers. Overall, this has resulted in improvement in the timeliness of
written consent and completion of Initial Health Assessments.

Fig. 3.14 Child in Care Health Assessments completed on time

During July, November and December 2021 we have seen a drop in performance which is due to a
number of factors and challenges which include children placed out of area, despite escalation
through the CCG, and the impact of the pandemic. We continue to meet and work with health
colleagues to improve performance.
The pandemic has also impacted on the number of children who have received a 12-month dental
check. Our focus on strengthening performance regarding dental checks is seeing a month-onmonth improvement in performance from 30% (Jan 2021) to 57% (Dec 2021) although this is not
yet at the pace we would want to see. We recognise the importance of good dental health and
continue to work with our foster carers, carers and health colleagues to ensure that timely dental
appointments are made for our children. Our Children in Care are a priority for dentistry in the
south west which will support further improvement in our performance into 2022.
Senior Managers, our Strengthening Services Board and Corporate Parenting Board continue to give
conspicuous care to these areas of performance.
3.8d

Emotional wellbeing and mental health
We have improved the completion rate for Strengths and Developments Questionnaires (SDQs),
the average SDQ score for our Children in Care aged 4-16 is currently 15.4, this is higher than our

Page 60

43

comparator local authorities and is beginning to show a slight rising trend. As a result of this and
following an internal review of the needs of the Children in Care that evaluated SDQ scores and the
services children received, we are working with CAMHS, Dorset Healthcare Trust and the CCG
programme leads to scope a partnership agreement for a virtual team with a multi-disciplinary
approach. The aim is to bring a range of services and practitioners together to improve outcomes
for our Children in Care by reducing duplication and hand-offs. The Child in Care Clinical
Psychologist, the Clinical Psychology service for Adoption and Permanence, the CAMHS social
workers and the Emotional Wellbeing Practitioner are some of the services and practitioners we
aim to bring together alongside our Virtual School and Educational Psychology service. As part of
this development and process a new guidance and procedures process has been co-produced by
Dorset Healthcare, CAMHS and Dorset Council that will help frontline practitioners to develop their
understanding of emotional wellbeing and mental health using the iThrive Framework. All services
will adopt the prompts to improve their understanding of the child and their needs and what may
be the best fit intervention.
Due to the rise in the numbers of requests for support, advice, and guidance from foster carers to
the Children in Care Psychologists for adoption and permanence we are developing a model of
practice that improves the skills of the supervising social workers to provide the direct support to
the foster carers. This is consistent with Dorset Council Children’s Social Care’s restorative practice
model. Through consultation and group supervision, support and joint training foster carers will
have an improved understanding of the emotional needs of the children in their care and how to
respond to these.
Core CAMHS prioritises access for Children in Care, offering a 24-hour response for urgent referrals
and an 8-week response for all other referrals. Digital platforms for the service were developed
quickly during the initial phases of the pandemic and the website has been updated with
signposting and podcasts. The service now uses a hybrid approach to support. We have
established an operational monthly meeting to track children in care open to CAMHS and the
Emotional Wellbeing services, both within and beyond Dorset. To date these are the numbers of
children and young people open to the services:
•
•
•
•
•

83 open to Core CAMHS In Dorset 40
43 open to CAMHS outside of Dorset
12 children and young people are receiving support from the Emotional Wellbeing
Practitioner from our Children in Care Nursing Team
7 are receiving a service from ID-CAMHS (Intellectual Disability – CAMHS: a service for
children with learning disabilities and mental health difficulties)
54 children open to CAMHS social workers

To embed the processes and standards for emotional wellbeing and mental health we have
planned a training programme for social workers, managers, foster carers, Virtual School staff,
teachers, and health care professionals. We are confident that we have the appropriate systems
and processes in place now to better understand, record and respond to the emotional health
needs of our Children in Care. Our aim is to have developed a new partnership agreement to be
implemented in April 2022.
3.8e

Achieving Permanence
The number of children who have a Permanence plan has increased and in December 2021, 98.5%
of children in care for 4 months or more have a completed Permanence plan. 51% (Dec 21) of
children with a Permanence plan for long term fostering have their permanent arrangements

Page 61

44

formalised with a certificate and personalised letter. Of the remaining 98 children, 28 children are
on track to achieve permanence, 13 are living with a relative or friend and 49 children are settled
and have lived with their carers over 10 months in the knowledge of this being their long-term
home. We continue to deliver strong performance for those children achieving permanence
through Adoption and Special Guardianships. Improved pathways for reunification are being
embedded to ensure that children remain in our care only for as long as is necessary.
The Service Manager for Corporate Parenting and Care Leavers and our QAROs (Quality Assurance
Reviewing Officers) continue to monitor and support the quality of permanence planning to ensure
that planning for our children is current and being progressed in a timely way.
3.8f

Finding the right homes for our children
Long term placement stability continues to strengthen further and is reported at 76% in 2020/2021
(ChAT Dec 2021) which puts us above national and good statistical neighbours’ averages. We
remain ambitious to enable our children to live in settled and stable placements. 8.7% of children in
care at the end of December 2021 had experienced 3 +placement moves in the previous 12 months
which is better performance than the national average and Good and Outstanding comparator
authorities.
We have maintained our focus on regional provider frameworks, giving quality and value from
placements. 69% of our Children in Care are living with foster carers, 47% in our own provision and
40% settled in permanent placements. We know that we still have too many children who are
placed away from their local area: 43% of children in our care are placed over 20 miles from their
home address. We recognise that being placed away from local areas can mean a change in school,
friendship groups and community relationships which can be disruptive and impactful on achieving
positive outcomes and ability to build attachments. Recruiting local carers for local children is
central to our Sufficiency Strategy and we have reviewed our recruitment strategy to improve our
profile.
From our work with North Yorkshire, we have established the Harbour service (based on the no
wrong door model). We have worked with local providers to develop and register four children’s
homes offering seven additional places in Dorset under block contracts.
We are moving at pace to address our sufficiency gaps so that more of our children and young
people can stay close to their homes and families. We are increasing placement stability through
greater placement sufficiency, including expanding in-house residential provision, and
implementation of a plan to increase our fostering provision and support to foster carers. This plan
is focused on increasing the volume and skill-base of our in-house foster carers to provide greater
sufficiency and stability. This includes strengthening our marketing and recruitment processes to
improve their commercial appeal and targeting. A focus on peer-support, meaningful engagement,
accessible training and the deployment of the Mockingbird model will support the resilience and
retention of our existing carers.
We will increase the availability of local residential care and children’s homes by:
•

Developing our Harbour service by June 2022 to deliver a Hub in Weymouth to provide up
to three places for young people with embedded outreach, foster care and supported
lodgings, and alongside this a new children’s home for up to five young people who need
medium term residential care.

Page 62

45

•

•

•
•

3.8g

Working with partner organisations to expand the range of residential care in Dorset. We
will encourage existing partners to develop this provision, with a further three homes being
developed to offer five more places.
Review our children’s home for children and young people who are disabled and look at
how the service can be provided differently – exploring the potential to deliver the service
in less institutional settings and linking the service with dedicated foster carers and short
breaks providers to deliver a graduated response.
Refurbishing existing Dorset Council property to provide a range of accommodation
options.
Developing independent living/respite care for young people 16yrs – 25yrs including
outreach

Voice of our children in care
We have a Children in Care Council and a Care Leavers Forum, supported by our in-house Youth
Voice Team. In December 2021 we agreed a development plan for these with the Corporate
Parenting Board (CPB). This will ensure there is a broad range of opportunities for Children in Care
and Care Leavers to be heard, all aligned to our CPB governance structures including the Governing
body of the Virtual School, the Care Leavers Board and our New Belongings work. Opportunities will
include surveys, online engagement, workshops and events and continuing our dedicated Children
in Care Council and Care Leavers Forum. The Youth Voice Team are also working closely with our
Fostering Service to take a ‘whole family approach’ to engagement, where foster carers, their birth
families and the children they foster are able to attend events together, creating an opportunity to
engage with foster families at the same time. We are also developing a Virtual School Council made
up of our Children in Care.
We commission Advocacy and Independent Visitor services for our Children in Care (and advocacy
for Child Protection or for specific issues) through the National Youth Advocacy Service
(NYAS). NYAS is a new provider for Dorset and the contract started in August 2021. We have
worked with NYAS to implement the new contract and will explore the potential of using digital
workflow to improve their capacity and enable NYAS to raise the profile of advocacy with children,
young people, colleagues and our partners. NYAS are also helping us to understand the “distance
travelled” by children and young people by monitoring how they use advocacy over time to share
their views – this feedback will also be used to inform how we can change the way we work to
make it easier for children and young people to share their views as directly as possible.
NYAS have a named advocate linked with The Cherries, our children’s home for children with
complex learning difficulties and disabilities. This means that the children at The Cherries have a
consistent individual to work with who is getting to know them and their communication
preferences in order to best support the children in the home to have their views heard.

3.8h

Independent Visitors
In August 2021 NYAS was also commissioned to provide our Independent Visitor service. By the
end of September seven of the previous fifteen service volunteers had transferred to the new
provider and 8 visits to young people had taken place. Two of the volunteers did not continue with
NYAS; the young people being supported have now been matched with new volunteers. NYAS have
undertaken a successful campaign to recruit further independent volunteer visitors with eleven
new applications and six have started the selection process. This will increase the ability to match
the seven young people in care who were on the waiting list inherited by NYAS.

Page 63

46

3.8i

Quality Assurance and Reviewing Officers
Our Quality Assurance and Reviewing Officers (QAROs, elsewhere knows as IROs) provide quality
assurance of our children’s care plans through a combination of data collection and auditing. The
service IRO monitoring form is completed following every child in care review, enabling a range of
factors to be reported and the QARO to make a judgement on the quality of the plan. Timeliness of
children in care reviews is good and participation of Children in Care is high. Our Quality Assurance
Reviewing Officers have worked with our Children in Care Council to develop a letter which is
written to the child following the Children in Care review and feedback from children on this is very
positive. QAROs upon allocation of a child coming into care also provide a one-page profile of
themselves that has been welcomed by our Children in Care who also tell us that they value the
relationship with their QARO.
QAROs maintain contact with children between reviews, and we have recently strengthened the
evidence for this on the child’s case record. We have been focusing on increasing the quality of
escalations for Children in Care demonstrating that our Quality Assurance and Reviewing Officers
are providing challenge and a critical eye to our children’s plans and outcomes so that any issues
are addressed in a timely manner. Escalations are now focussing more on the quality of the care
plans, pathway plans and impact on the child or young person, with a stronger focus when
transitioning into leaving care.

Turning the vision in to better
outcomes for young people is
entirely down to the hard work
of those involved. Great work!
(Police Officer)

3.9

John was brilliant. He
was the only person who
had worked with our child
who he got on with and
wanted to see. (Parent)

The Harbour
The Harbour Team has grown steadily under consistent and committed leadership of the Head of
Service for Children in Care and Leaving Care and the Responsible Individual. Work has been
undertaken to ensure that the right people are in the right roles and within a relatively short period
of time it is possible to see that progress is being made towards meeting the intended outcomes.

Fig. 3.15 Young People aged 13+ coming into our care 2020-21
In total 79 young people have been supported by The Harbour between December 2020 –
December 2021, 76 supported by Outreach and 3 in the care of The Harbour (residential and foster
care). The duration and intensity of support has varied according to the needs of young people.

Page 64

47

The Harbour continues to support young people to remain safely at home. The graph below shows
the number of young people age-13-years and above entering care compared with the total
number of new entrants.
During November 2021, we welcomed 3 unaccompanied children, supported a young mother and
her baby in a mother and baby placement and a young person to access a Tier 4 provision which
impacted on the number of young people aged 13 years-old and above entering care. Through
intensive intervention, we were able to support a young person to return home within a week of
coming into care, where she has remained settled with the ongoing support provided by her key
worker.
We continue to be extremely successful in recruiting talented practitioners to join the integrated,
multi-disciplinary team. We are delighted to recruit a highly experienced Psychologist and highly
experienced Registered Managers to lead our residential homes. Our detailed induction and
ambitious training programme offers a therapeutic qualification for all staff bespoke and specific to
residential childcare and supports our recruitment and retention strategy. Our two specialist foster
carers also access our training offer and the skills, expertise and support of the team.
Residential Provision
The building of new accommodation via the refurbishment of an Edwardian home in Weymouth is
progressing with a completion date in May 2022. We are looking forward to being able to submit
our application for registration in February 2022 in readiness for opening in April/May 2022. We
have applied to Ofsted to register a single occupancy home on Portland which will complement our
provision in providing a quiet space to settle and steady young people. To ensure our homes are
homely and take account of the climate emergency we are working with a sustainability company
to use second-hand furniture and equipment whenever practicable. We are also co-designing the
interior with young people, who are also integral members of our interview panels for recruitment
to these new services.

3.10 Missing Children and Children at Risk of or Linked to Exploitation
3.10a Missing children
There has been a reduction in the numbers of our Children in Care having a missing episode in the
last 12 months to 12% (previously 14% reported in the Self-Evaluation of February 2021). We have
had some fluctuations in the number of missing children over the past 12 months relating to
changes in Covid restrictions. Following a peak in July 2021 we have seen a downward trend.

Fig. 3.16 Missing children in Care, in Need or Vulnerable
We are strengthening our work through daily Missing meetings with police who now have a
dedicated missing persons team. The daily Missing meeting report's themes and trends to the Child
Exploitation (CE) Champions meeting and the Child at Risk of or Linked to Exploitation (CAROLE)

Page 65

48

Tactical Group. The learning and actions required are overseen by the CE Strategic Group to inform
practice development and multi-agency responses to missing.
3.10b Return Home Interviews (RHIs)
In January 2021 the daily Missing meeting and Missing from Home and Care Practice Guidance was
launched which has had a positive impact on the response to missing children and timeliness of
RHI’s. In December 2021 92.9% of RHI’s for Children in Care were completed within 72hrs of their
return and 89.5% of RHI’s for children missing from home were completed within 72hrs.
We are offering preventative work at the earliest opportunity to reduce the number of missing
children and missing episodes. We have strengthened our systems and processes to ensure that the
themes arising from return home interviews are captured and shared to consider how we prevent
and protect missing children. Return Home Interviews for children who have an allocated Social
Worker, including Children in Care placed outside of Dorset are completed by a member of the
Harbour team to consider what additional support may be required to reduced risk of further
missing episodes including work around stability of care and relationships. Return Home Interviews
for all our vulnerable children are being completed by the Targeted Youth Workers within their
locality. This ensures that intervention is targeted and supports a contextual safeguarding
approach.
We have a Missing and CE dashboard to deliver management oversight and support our
understanding of the contexts of our children who go missing. The Dashboard is also shared more
widely with our CAROLE tactical group and with the CE Champions to support targeting of resources
and strategic planning.
3.10c

Children at Risk of or Linked to Exploitation
The Children At Risk Of or Linked to Exploitation (CAROLE) model has been in place since April 2019.
The Child Exploitation Action Plan implementation is managed by the CAROLE Tactical Group on a
monthly basis and overseen by the Child Exploitation Strategic group which meets quarterly.
Over the last 12 months we have strengthened our approaches to children at risk or linked to
exploitation. We have established Child Exploitation Champions roles within each locality area and
across central services. The CE Champions meet monthly and drive the co-ordination of themes and
intelligence sharing from an individual child level and locality level to ensure cross county
awareness of concerns, share learning, good practice and promote consistency and feed into the
partnership through the Impact meetings and CAROLE Tactical group.
Our Targeted Youth Workers in each locality team are taking the lead on contextual safeguarding.
They facilitate Youth at Risk meetings in each locality involving Police, Health, Reach, Local Schools
and Community groups to explore emerging concerns and identify early intervention responses to
prevent risks around potential exploitation escalating. This can include supporting schools, Police
Safer Schools team or outreach youth work targeting individuals, groups, or locations where
concerns are developing.
In April 2021 we launched our contextual safeguarding approach and toolkit based on the Hackney/
University of Bedfordshire model of contextual safeguarding. We have provided contextual
safeguarding training across our localities and with our partners, including the voluntary and
community sector and local businesses. Our Targeted Youth Workers lead on the multi-agency and
community work around contextual safeguarding and offer consultation across locality teams.

Page 66

49

In January 2022 we had 78 children identified as at risk of child exploitation, 17 significant risk, 54
moderate risk and 7 emerging risks. Multi-Agency Child Exploitation (MACE) meetings take place
every 6 weeks where a significant risk is identified and every 12 weeks where moderate risk is
identified. To strengthen the safeguarding oversight of MACE meetings for children who are at
significant risk these meetings are now chaired by our Quality Assurance and Reviewing Officers
(QARO’s) to ensure robust planning and timeliness of interventions. Our CE and Missing dashboard
also supports management oversight of child exploitation assessments and reviews.
Over the last 6 months we have worked alongside our partners with the Tackling Child Exploitation
Project on engaging young people who are at risk of and have experienced child exploitation to
understand what has made or would make a difference to them.
We are currently undertaking a multi-agency audit of child exploitation through the Pan Dorset
Safeguarding Children’s Partnership to review and measure the impact of our work with children
who are at risk of or linked to child exploitation. The work with the Tackling Child Exploitation
Project is underpinning our approach to this audit and will be the foundation for our next strategic
plan for tackling child exploitation.

3.11

Fostering Services

3.11a Fostering Service Overview
The fostering teams currently support:
•
•
•
•

193 Fostering Households
133 Mainstream Foster Carers (68.9%)
57 Connected Carers
3 Foster to adopt families

Fig. 3.17 Distribution of Foster Carers in Dorset
The Dorset in-house fostering service consists of three teams:
•
•

Assessment Team – This team undertakes marketing and recruitment, enquiries, and
assessment of prospective foster carers both mainstream and connected persons.
Two Post-Approval Teams. These teams provide day-to-day support, supervision, reviewing
and training to connected persons and mainstream foster carers.

Recruitment

Page 67

50

•
•

There are currently 36 assessments taking place with 13 of these being for prospective
mainstream carers
There were 238 enquiries in 2021.

Fig. 3.18 Outcomes for fostering applications 2021
To increase the number of enquiries and even more importantly the quality of applicants we have
commissioned a marketing agency to work with in-house services to redesign Dorset Council’s
recruitment strategy. The agency will
• Design a service micro-site with implementation due in February
• Deliver focussed and targeted digital and media campaigns
• Working in conjunction with local businesses and enterprises and the wider council to
ensure a greater visualisation of recruitment
We have also reintroduced face-to-face recruitment including attendance at countywide events,
regular pitches and pop-up stands.
3.11b Service Improvement and key service developments
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Introduction of the Mockingbird model with a first constellation of foster carers due to be
in place by mid-2022.
a review of our enquiries, recruitment, and induction processes.
a review of placement stability and foster care resignation procedures
the introduction of Microsoft 365 accounts for foster carers.
continuing our partnership with Dorset Foster Care Association.
review of foster panel processes.
review and updating of policies, practices, and procedures.
planning for a therapeutic DDP / PACE led service.
development of the Business Intelligent Server Dashboard

Page 68

51

3.12

Adoption Services
Adoption and Special Guardianship Services have commissioned from Aspire Regional Adoption
Agency since 2017. Figures below are correct to the end of Quarter 3 December 2021.
The Ofsted inspectors commended the number and diverse range of adoptive families available for
our children. From 1st April 2021 to 31st December 2021, 31 adoptive families have been
approved. We currently have 29 families available, 13 of whom will consider early permanence.
If Aspire has not identified a suitable adoptive family by the time an adoption order is made, we
immediately instigate a national search to prevent delay for children. There is an additional cost to
external placements, but this is mitigated by selling adopters. Currently we sell slightly more
adopters than we buy.
Recruitment messages have been amended to reflect demand for adopters for sibling groups, older
children and those with complex needs. This has been successful, and we have found families for
almost all children with a plan for adoption. We were particularly pleased to find adopters for a
non-verbal, autistic 7-year-old with limited mobility who is thriving with his new family and complex
siblings. This success is helping drive ambition for children when planning for permanence.
13 children have been adopted to Q3. A further 17 children are living with adopters and should be
adopted in the next few months. Five children went to live with their prospective adopters, under a
foster care arrangement (Early Permanence) including two straight from hospital which reduced
the trauma from placement change and broken attachments. Early Permanence is also being used
with older children and siblings.
Last year 2020 – March 2021 the average number of days between a child entering care and
moving in with its adoptive family was 333.The England average from the provisional 2016-19
adoption scorecards is 376 days. The Dorset average is likely to be longer this year. Ofsted
commended the fact that each child is tracked monthly by operational and senior management. We
were able to show that young children are placed very quickly. The relatively small number in the
score card is distorted because of our ambition and our refusal to give up on the older more
complex children who take longer to place.
Placing complex children requires better lifelong post-adoption support. Post-adoption support
services are offered to adopters and Special Guardianship families. Consultation with the Adopter
and Special Guardianship Forum highlighted their frustration at the waiting list; a theme that was
echoed by our social workers.
This has led to us strengthening our partnership with the Forum; they are now represented on the
board and operational management group and are co-designing the post support service with a
new philosophy which enables families to dip in and out of services as their needs change.
Key developments for 2022 are:
•
•
•
•
•

Further improve the quality of our Early Permanence work by achieving the Coram Quality
Mark and through a regional bid for Early Permanence training,
Training our teams in Dyadic Developmental Practice (DDP)
Improve assessment and post-adoption support by commissioning virtual
services
Regulatory review using Coram BAAF format
Developing a systematic approach to engaging service users and informing service
development

Page 69

52

3.13

Care Leavers

3.13a Our Care Leavers
We currently have 272 young people receiving leaving care services (December 2021), and we
know that this number will increase with s further 101 16 and 17 year-old eligible care leavers who
currently have secondary allocation to a Personal Adviser.
In addition, we have 173 21 to 25-year-olds with whom we have a duty to keep in touch annually
and who can return to receive an active service should they need support. We therefore have a
total of 546 eligible, relevant and former relevant care leavers for whom we offer a level of leaving
care service.
Most of our care leavers remained in care until their 18th birthday. Whilst the picture is improving,
we know not as many of our young people are benefiting from Staying Put arrangements as we
would like. We continue to look at how we are supporting foster carers to continue to provide a
safe and stable home for our young people after they turn 18 and into adulthood.
Personal Advisers are secondary allocated as soon as possible after their 16th birthday secondary to
provide a smooth transition from their social worker to the Care Leaver service once they are 18.
The Personal Adviser works alongside the young person’s social worker, building a relationship
before they become Care Leavers. This enables us to support young people with the skills they need
as they move into adulthood, so they are more ready to leave care. We will continue our focus to
ensure that all our young people have current Pathway Plans that are ambitious and support our
young people to move towards increased independence creating maximum opportunities for living,
loving, learning and working.
3.13b Keeping in touch
We are in touch with almost 97% our care leavers between 18 and 21 years of age.
We also seek to maintain annual contact with our care leavers who are aged 21 – 25 and not
actively working with us.
3.13c

Finding the right place to live
A high number of our care leavers are in suitable accommodation (93% of 19 to 21-year-olds). We
continue to work at pace to ensure that all our care leavers have safe, stable and permanent homes
that meet their needs.
We continue work to ensure there are sufficient suitable housing and accommodation options for
care leavers ensuring care leavers are provided with their permanent homes at pace. To this end,
Dorset Council purchased accommodation in Kirtleton Avenue, Weymouth which will provide 7
affordable homes to meet the needs of our care leavers from July 2022.
Work is also progressing with Adult Services to reconfigure the former young people’s supported
accommodation contract. This is a former Supporting People budget which we aim to combine with
existing spend on care leaver accommodation to increase purchasing power. Dorset Council
belongs to a sub-regional framework for supported accommodation for care leavers.
We are also driving work forward to secure affordable long-term housing for care leavers through
local authority housing allocation from our Dorset housing providers. This work is being delivered
by the Care Leaver Delivery Group which has also overseen the development of The Joint Housing

Page 70

53

Protocol for Care Leavers, an agreed guarantor offer and a commitment to continue to build
relationships with the Private Landlord Association.
We have developed an EdQuals programme to demonstrate tenancy readiness. This is currently
being tested by care leavers before being launched across the service.
16 of our care leavers are living in unsuitable accommodation which includes custody and
emergency B&B accommodation.
When a care leaver has been placed in B&B under homelessness legislation, their Personal Adviser
and housing officer work with them to help them move on as quickly as possible into secure,
affordable and suitable housing. We ensure that written plans are routinely updated when risks or
situations change and that the arrangements for a long-term plan are specifically recorded and
updated.
We are also developing information for young people (with young people) that explains the
enhanced wrap around support offer should they require temporary (and unsuitable
accommodation), for example:
•
•
•
•

Who to contact if you’re worried about anything
Contact visits
Help you will get
What happens next

3.13d Employment, Education and Training
We continue to support our young people to be in education, employment or training, with 70 % of
17/18-year-olds and 54% of 19-21-year-olds accessing education, employment or training. This an
area in which we are determined to further strengthen practice and work with our partners to
improve our offer for young people leaving our care. This reflects a diverse group of young people
whose needs are complex due to several factors including disability, mental health, use of
substances which disrupt opportunities in terms of education, employment or training and coming
late into care due to family breakdown having already disengaged from formal education.
There are significant service achievements to celebrate. We currently have 31 care leavers at
University, 2 of whom are studying at Masters level. Three dedicated Personal Advisers (PAs) work
with care leavers who are studying at University to ensure that our undergraduates maintain their
places in their education settings. We have a further 10 care leavers who are aspiring to go to
University in September 2022. We are delighted in the achievements of our 8 young people who
graduated last year (2021) in the following subjects:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Social Work
Music Production
Creative Media
Musical Theatre
Criminology & Law
Product Design
History
Politics

We have a protocol in place with two of our Job Centres Plus which will provide:

Page 71

54

•
•
•
•

co-ordinated support to engage young people into Education, Employment,
Apprenticeships, Voluntary Work or Training.
an early entry system and a smooth transition for those young people leaving care and
needing to claim benefits.
prompt and accurate payment of benefits where these are required.
young people are empowered and enabled to gain sustainable paid employment through
individual route ways.

Dorset Council has underlined its commitment to care leavers through its HR procedures: all
Children in Care and care leavers who apply for Dorset Council apprenticeships are guaranteed an
interview; we are working with our HR colleagues to extend this commitment to all positions
advertised by the council.
Our EET re-engagement team, created in Aug 2020 has a clear focus on supporting children in care
and care leavers to participate in education, employment and training. Work by the Care Leaver
Service and the team has already had a demonstrable impact, with a reduction in the proportion of
Year 12 and 13 care leavers who are NEET from 35.8% in August 2021 to 20% in Jan 2022 and a
reduction from 42.2% to 40.8% in care leavers in Year 14 to 21st birthday. The EET re-engagement
team has made links with Supporting Housing providers for Young People in Care, piloting regular
drop-ins and making contact with young people who are more reluctant to engage with EET
Advisers.
3.13e Care Leaver Offer
We are partners with Coram Voice, together with 7 other Local Authorities, to deliver the New
Belongings programme. New Belongings aims to better understand what makes life good care
leavers and how we can improve our support by co-producing solutions with them. With our New
Belongings partners, we have undertaken a self-assessment of our services and developed an
action plan for improvement. This is overseen and monitored from our Care Leaver Delivery Group
which reports to Corporate Parenting Board. Through New Belongings, we also have opportunities
to come together with other Local Authorities for peer and practice learning.
Building on the work already undertaken in Dorset to support our Care Leavers including the
development of apprenticeships and council tax exemption, our digital Care Leaver Offer is under
further development with contributions from young people. The revised Finance Policy was
implemented in April 2021 for all new care leavers and retrospectively applied for all care leavers
age 18-21 already supported by us.
Dorset Council has joined the Care Leaver Covenant and has been recognised by the Covenant as
Trailblazer Authority. We are working with the Care Leaver Covenant through the Care Leaver
Delivery Group to use best practice and as we continuously build on our care leaver offer across the
Council and the partnership. This work sets out a clear commitment to our Care Leavers framed
around what they can expect from us as they become young adults.
3.13f

Summary and Next Steps
We have updated our practice standards to ensure we have a greater focus on the quality and
impact of Pathway Plans for those young people in temporary accommodation, their visiting
arrangements, offer of practical support and exit plan.
We have strengthened our Care Leaver Business Intelligence Dashboard to provide management
information to all managers and senior leaders on key areas of performance including suitability of

Page 72

55

accommodation and management oversight in particular of those young people living in temporary
or unsuitable accommodation.
In collaboration with our Youth Voice Service and young people, we are co-producing information
that explains the wrap around support offer should they require temporary and unsuitable
accommodation which includes:
•
•
•
•

Who to contact if you’re worried about anything
Contact visits
Help you will get
What happens next

Through the positive engagement with our Housing colleagues, we are working at pace to ensure
that there is sufficient affordable housing and suitable accommodation options for our care leavers
to be provided with their permanent home.
Plans are in place to give assurance of the impact of the actions we have taken to strengthen
practice in this area through our performance measures, audit, and feedback from young people.

Page 73

56

3.14

Education and Inclusion

3.14a School Performance
76% of Dorset schools and academies are rated good or outstanding by Ofsted, 75% of children are
in schools that are rated good or better.

Fig. 3.19 Ofsted Grades in Dorset, with comparators (source: Ofsted, as at 31/12/2021)

The School Improvement Team works together with school leaders and governors in all areas of
school improvement including self-evaluation, leadership effectiveness, quality of education and
inclusion best practice using evidence-led approaches and leading practice in line with the Ofsted
framework. Our approach enables schools to coordinate support, but also build on the strength of
the local authority’s partnerships with key bodies such as Teaching School Hub, Maths and English
hubs, Health, Police, parent forum and the voluntary and community sector to ensure a wider
collaborative and community focussed approach to improvement.
Phonics: Phonics assessments have continued during the pandemic, although no comparative data
is available. The overall pass rate has improved in Dorset by 2% from 2019 to 83%. EHC pupils have
improved by 9% to 22%. However, the free school meals gap has increased from 16% to 18%.
Key Stage 4: Just under three quarters (74%) of children achieved a grade 4 or higher in GCSE
English and Maths, above the figures for national and the south west. 51% achieved a grade 5 or
higher, slightly below the national and south west. The number of children entering the English
Baccalaureate suite of subjects is the same as for national, and attainment in these subjects is
broadly in line with national, although Dorset children do not perform as well in languages.
Disadvantaged children (eligible for free school meals in the last six years) do not perform as well as
their peers – at grade 4 or higher the gap increased from 26% in 2018/19 to 28% in 2019/20 and
2020/21. At the higher grade 5 plus the gap has increased from 23% in 2019/20 to 26% in 2019/20
to 32% in 2020/21. Children with SEND tend to perform below their national counterparts: 6% of
EHCP pupils achieved a grade 5 or higher in GCSE English & Maths, compared to 8% nationally,
whilst 15% achieved a grade 4 or higher, compared to 16% nationally.
Key Stage 5: 97% of Dorset pupils achieved at least 2 substantial level 3 academic qualifications in
2020/21, compared to 94% nationally and across the southwest. However, at A Level, Dorset pupils
tend to achieve grades that could be described as ‘just enough’, 86% of Dorset pupils achieved
grade C or higher in A Levels in 2020/21, compared to 87% nationally, but only 63% achieved a

Page 74

57

Grade B or higher compared to 67% for the southwest and national. This pattern is repeated for
STEM subjects. 22% achieved 3 A*-A grades compared to 25% nationally and 26% in the southwest.
For T Levels, entry is increasing, and the average point score (35.7) is above the national (31.7) and
the southwest (31.5).
89% of Disadvantaged pupils achieved at least 2 Levels, compared to 83% nationally and 82% in the
Southwest, they also achieve higher rates of those achieving at least 2 substantial level 3 academic
qualifications (96%). As with the overall cohort though, less achieve the higher grades, for example
8% achieved 3 A* to A compared to 16% nationally and 14% in the southwest.
For EHCP pupils, 91% achieved at least 2 substantial level 3 academic qualifications, compared to
78% nationally. The numbers achieving A levels at graded AAB or better is on a par with national.
Our new Education Board for Dorset will commence in May 2022. The Board will include key
educational leaders in Dorset who have passion and expertise across the education ecosystem. It
will use local, regional and national evidence and research to inform its foci. The Board will set a
clear direction and a positive culture to support partners to deliver ambitious educational
outcomes for all children and young people into adulthood.
Children and young people will be engaged in the work of the Board to ensure that the strategies
are co-produced.
The Board will focus on the following building blocks:
•
•

•

To ensure every child is receiving education in an Ofsted ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ school.
To close the disadvantaged attainment and achievement gap to zero by providing strong
inclusive support for our disadvantaged and vulnerable children so they can achieve
alongside their peers in their local schools.
To ensure that all our children and young people thrive in their education with the skills
they need ready for adulthood.

The culture of the Board will be to create an open and innovative dialogue, where the strength of
the partnership offers novel solutions to systemic challenges built on the strong links within the
communities where educational settings remain at the heart.
3.14b Inclusion
Our ambition is for all our schools and settings to be inclusive for all our children and young people
and that they have the right support at the right time enabling them to have a stable and settled
education. Our locality model enables us to mobilise inclusion, SEND and Early Help practitioners to
support our children, families and schools at the right time. The theme of our Dorset Education
Conference in July 2021 was Inclusion, enabling us to set out a clear set of ambitions and
expectations. This will be followed up in July 2022 with a further high-quality conference that will
focus on the importance of schools in the hearts of their communities.
We work closely with our schools, utilising Educational Psychology and Specialist Teachers to
increase the skill and capacity in schools to meet the needs of their children. We act as system
leaders in local inclusion partnerships to help schools work together to find solutions for children at
risk of permanent exclusion early. We run a relational practice programme which includes
professional development for individual schools and a regular forum to bring those schools
together to further their knowledge and share good practice. We have made Dorset STEPs training,
a positive therapeutic approach to supporting relationships and behaviour available to all our
schools and academies through our Outreach service.

Page 75

58

Dorset has reduced its number of permanent exclusions, following a peak of 88 in 2018/19 to 35 in
2020 - 21, and we have set an ambitious target of zero permanent exclusions going forward.
Suspensions are also reducing in Dorset. In 2020/21, the suspension rate was 5.2% compared to 6%
in 2017/18. In the Autumn term 2020 Dorset had 15 permanent exclusions, for Autumn 2021 the
figure was 8.
In 2020 - 21 there were 488 cases of Children Missing Education (CME), of which 88% were closed
during the academic year. The majority (416) were CME from Dorset schools, of which 92% were
closed. 91% of those with an EHCP were closed (41 out of 45), and 96% of those on SEN support
were closed (90 out of 94). 5 out of 7 Children In Need, 5 out of 8 Children on a Child Protection
Plan and 11 out of 12 Early Help were all closed due to our high level of focus on these groups.
Our aim is to close CME cases within half a term. In December 2021 we achieved this for 69.6% of
those children that are CME. The following is in place to continue improving this rate of return to
schools:
•

•

•

•
•
•

•

3.14c

A robust fortnightly Children Missing Out On Education (CMOOE) oversight meeting attended
by key members of Children’s Services and the Youth Offending Service to ensure that
children are returned to school rapidly. The meeting focuses in particular on timeliness and
vulnerable groups of children
Dorset Education Advice Line, a phone line for parents, carers and professionals who support
children who may have special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). This advice line is
part of our Local Offer to children, young people and families and will work alongside existing
services such as SENDIASS
Joint Planning with Educational Psychologists and Specialist Teachers linked to each school
and involving other professionals where appropriate. This means that schools are well held in
relation to children that need support using the graduated approach.
Link Family Workers and Inclusion Leads for each school that support the school and families
in relation to attendance and other inclusion matters
Dorset Outreach Board support
STEPs training offer to all Dorset schools, a therapeutic whole school approach to building
relationships and promoting positive pro-social behaviour
Anna Freud Link Programme which will develop Locality School Mental Health Lead networks
and a shared pedagogy around the emotional, health and well-being curriculum

Attendance
We see supporting good attendance as a key part of our inclusion work and therefore it goes
beyond statutory actions and focuses on the whole child and family and what support is needed to
help overcome barriers to attendance. We are currently implementing a system to draw
attendance data through a live link from our schools on a weekly basis, enabling us to respond
more rapidly to our children’s needs by mobilising locality practitioners to unpick the barriers to
attendance with the school and family.
From a high of 5% in 2017/18 Dorset has reduced the overall absence rate to 4.2%, 0.2% above
national absence rates. Our absence percentage for children and young people with SEND support
is better than the South West and national averages. We recognise that although our absence and
persistent absence for children and young people with an EHCP is broadly in line with the South
West, it is above the national average. Absence and persistent absence for children and young
people who are eligible for free school meals (pupil premium) is improving and is better than the

Page 76

59

South West; however we acknowledge that it remains below the national average. Due to our
multi-agency work to build positive relationships in our communities, absence and persistent
absence of children and young people with Gypsy, Roma and Traveller heritage is improving, our
absence percentage is better than the South West and national and persistent absence is better
than the national average and broadly in line with the South West.
We focused sharply on our vulnerable children during the pandemic, quickly putting in place a
vulnerable children tracker which we have continued to use due to the positive feedback we have
had from schools, practitioners and the DfE. The impact of the work can be seen in our attendance
data during this time:
Overall weekly attendance 10.9.20 – 16.12.21:￼

In general Dorset’s attendance during the pandemic has been above national, with the exceptions
in weeks 47 and 48 relating to a higher Covid rate than national at that time. Children with an EHCP
also maintained above national attendance, but children eligible for Free School Meals had lower
attendance during the Autumn 2021 term.

Page 77

60

3.14d Elective Home Education
We have a strong focus on our children who are electively home educated, recognised by Ofsted in
November 2021: “Children who are missing from education and those who are home educated are
tracked well”. To achieve this, we took the following steps:
In September 2020 we consulted with home educators to inform our work in this area. They told us
that they did not feel that the relationship with Dorset Council was a trusting one and they wanted
us to know that most home educators do a great job. They wanted us to work with them rather
than do to them. We listened carefully to them and asked them to work with us on the changes.
Co-production is at the heart of our working with our families. We put building warm, open
relationships as a priority for the way the Inclusion Leads work. This led to the co-production of an
EHE guide for parents, an EHE policy and the opportunity for our parents to contribute to the CPD
for Inclusion Leads. We also support schools to have dialogue with families in a 10-day cooling off
period that enables solutions to be sought together and children to be returned to school where
families wish to do so.
Although we saw numbers of EHE registrations rise during Covid this was not sustained, as seen in
the chart below showing the number of children registered as EHE between September 2020 and
December 2021. This was recognised by Ofsted in November 2021: “Dorset saw an increase in
children being electively home educated in the context of the pandemic. However, the numbers of
children being electively home educated have now returned to pre-pandemic levels. A strong and
joined-up approach between schools and children’s social care in this instance keeps children
safer.”

Fig. 3.21 Children registered for Elective Home Education 2020-21
Our Inclusion Leads’ engagement work is enabling families who wish to, to return to school.
Inclusion Leads look at the reasons parents give for elective home education, and where it is not for
a positive reason, the Inclusion Lead uses the 10-day cooling off period to work with the family,
school and other agencies as needed to find solutions and return the child to school. This can be
seen in the following data from the same period:

Page 78

61

Fig. 3.22 Elective Home Education, registration and case closure by month
3.14e Education, Employment and Training
Our EET re-engagement service was created in August 2021 and is responsible for ensuring we have
as many young people in employment, education or training as possible by actively tracking our
post 16 population so we know which young people are NEET and reducing our ‘Unknown’s’;
providing relationship-based support through a link worker as quickly as possible when a young
person does become NEET; working with partners and providers to ensure young people who
become NEET receive the right help at the right time. Our approach is to focus on our statutory
responsibility of NEET tracking and re-engagement and meeting the September Guarantee offer.
The team work collaboratively with our Locality teams to maximise the resource and expertise
available for the NEET caseload whilst laying the foundations for preventative earlier work.
This focused work is making a difference:
• We have seen a reduction in NEET prevalence from 3% at end of July 21 to 2.7% currently (Jan
22) accompanied by a reduction in the proportion of young people who are ‘not known’ to the
local authority from 2.1% in July 2021 to 1.5% currently. Our NEET data for 2021-22 indicates
we are currently (Jan 22) performing well against our statistical neighbours, being below both
the mean indicator for both our overall NEET rate and our ‘Not Knowns’. (Statistical Neighbour
data for Jan’22 will be available for comparison after 22.2.22).
• We have also seen a reduction in NEET prevalence for children and young people with
Education, Health and Care Plans since August 21, for children in Year 12 and 13 there has been
a reduction from 11.1% to 9.8% and for young people aged 18 to 25 years there has been a
reduction from 15.3% to 9.1%.
For the September Offer 2021, 92.8% of Year 11 & 12 young people had an offer. This was down
from 94.6% the previous year, mostly due to a rise in those that we were not able to contact to
ascertain the offer. We have since benefited from improved data and system access and so
anticipate a reduction in the number that we are unable to contact in our figures for the September
offer this year .
We are potentially seeing the effects of COVID and the impact on education and exams over the
last 18 months, by the increase in Young People engaged in Jobs without Training (2.2% in Jan 2021
to 3.3% in Jan 22) as a trend and will review this trend against statistical neighbour data once this is
available later this month. However, the number of young people in Jobs without Training also

Page 79

62

reflects that Dorset is a seasonal economy and we will be doing further work with our economic
development colleagues to work more closely with employers. We are also monitoring closely our
work with young people involved in the criminal justice system, as although numbers are very low
we have seen a slight increase in the numbers who are NEET.
We have begun closer working with the SEND Teams within Localities and the Care Leavers Team,
reviewing how each other’s data quality impacts the other’s work, involving IT colleagues to
explore potential quick wins. This will allow us to meet our tracking and data return responsibilities
more efficiently enabling Advisers to spend more time on direct work with young people.
Next steps include more focused monitoring of those NEET young people in receipt of Universal
Credit, to enable some scrutiny of the apparently low numbers who appear to be benefiting from
engagement in DWP support schemes e.g. Kickstart. We have begun conversations with
Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole’s Youth Access Point colleagues to explore reviewing the DWP
Care Leavers’ SLA to this end.
3.14f Children and young people with SEND
Our vision for SEND is that "we want our children and young people with Special Educational Needs
and Disabilities (SEND) to be healthy, happy and safe, and able to achieve their potential to lead a
fulfilling life."
Currently, we have approximately 3,200 children with Special Educational Needs supported
through an Educational, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) and 6,700 children and young people
identified with SEN Support needs. We work with 242 children and young people who have a Child
in Need Plan and 124 Children in Care and 24 Care Leavers that are also supported by an EHCP.

Total SEN
Dorset
South
West
National

2015/16
16%
15%

2016/17
16%
15%

2017/18
18%
16%

2018/19
17%
15%

2019/20
15%
16%

2020/21
18%
17%

14%

14%

15%

15%

15%

16%

Fig. 3.23 The table below shows our SEND children and young people by school year :

Page 80

63

The following table shows Primary Need:

Fig. 3.24 Primary Need

3.14g

SEND Strategy
January 2017, Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) conducted a joint inspection of the
Dorset local area to judge its effectiveness in implementing the special educational needs and
disability (SEND) reforms set out in the Children and Families Act 2014. As a result of the findings of
the inspection, Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector (HMCI) determined that a Written Statement of
Action was required to address four areas of significant weakness in the local area’s practice.
As part of Ofsted’s revisit in February 2019, inspectors were of the opinion that local area had
made sufficient progress in two of the four areas identified, however the local area had not made
sufficient progress to improve the two remaining areas of weaknesses and sustained the Written
Statement of Action.
The Department for Education met with the Local Area the on 11 January 2021 to discuss progress
against the Local Area’s Accelerated Progress Plan. In response to the progress made by the Local
Area, the Department for Education stated that:
“We are reassured that the strength and commitment of current leaders within the LA and CCG will
continue improvements across the SEND system throughout Dorset and based on the evidence
provided, the Department and NHS England have concluded that you have demonstrated clear and
sustained progress. This means that Dorset no longer requires formal monitoring of its SEND
system.”
Following the significant progress already made and to respond to feedback from the Dorset wide
Parent Carer Survey for our SEND families a new SEND Strategy was produced setting a path for the
next three years. Our 2021- 2024 Local Area SEND strategy was ratified at Cabinet in November
2021.
The Dorset SEND Strategy has six clear priority areas for attention and each priority has associated
supporting actions, these actions, in the first instance, are focused on the first year of delivery and
will be reviewed each quarter through the Dorset Education Board.
The six strategic priorities are:

Page 81

64

1. Early Identification and Support: we will ensure that children’s needs are identified, assessed
and supported both early in life and when issues arise.
2. Inclusion: we will ensure that across Dorset there is a commitment to deliver inclusive services
and support for and with children, young people and adults with SEND. Dorset is committed to
inclusion in mainstream settings and we firmly believe every teacher is a teacher of special needs.
Therefore, building the capabilities of our mainstream schools to support more children and young
people with SEND will ensure more children can attend a local school. Strengthening the capacity of
our maintained school system to support more children in mainstream and meeting need at the
lowest level is at the core of our strategy.
3. SEND Pathway: we will ensure that children and young people with SEND and their families can
access the right support from services – easily and quickly.
4. SEND Sufficiency and Provision: to ensure that the Education provision for all children and young
people with SEND is increased so that our children can stay in Dorset and thrive in their local
communities. This includes access to health services, early years, post-16 and adults with learning
disabilities (LD).
5. Transitions: we will ensure that transitions between phases of education or changes in provision
and support across all ages and smooth and supportive. Preparation for Adulthood: We expect
that young people with SEND should have equal life chances as they move into adulthood. This
includes employment and higher education, housing options and independent living, good health,
friends, relationships, community inclusion and choice and control over their lives and support.
6. Managing Money and Resources: to ensure the effective and efficient management of the SEN
funding available through the Dedicated Schools Grant, to maximise the impact of the available
resource and the best outcomes for our children and young people.
Achieving Best Outcomes in SEND Plan
The plan groups activity against key operational themes for the SEND teams:
•
•

Improving our Services to Children and Families
Systems and Data – ensuring that all key information is contained within the
Synergy system and that all necessary data is up to date and drives meaningful
performance management information
• Process – Dorset has clear documented processes that drive first class services for
our SEND children and families
• Workforce – Dorset is committed to ensuring that all staff are supported to be the
best they can be and achieve the best outcomes for our SEND children and families
The Plan is reviewed each month at the Education Project Board and updated by accountable
owners.
We also made a significant Investment in our operational SEND teams in the summer of 2021 to
increase capacity on the front line.
3.14h Data and Business Intelligence Insights
Work has been ongoing throughout 2021 to develop high-quality dashboards that give managers
and officers insights into performance. Our approach to performance is centred on ensuring that
children, young people and families receive the services they need in a timely and responsive
manner.

Page 82

65

Performance over the last 6 months has shown stable improvement; 20-week timeliness in the
Autumn term was 76% and there is focus and attention on performance given by SEND Team
Managers and Service Managers on a weekly basis. An updated Power BI dashboard was launched
in January 2022 to ensure that Team and Service Managers have a wider range of performance
data available to them which has enabled us to maintain progress.
The SEND service has seen stable demand for Education, Health and Care Needs Assessment
Requests (EHNCA’s) with approximately 50 per month on average. This average has been consistent
through the pandemic demonstrating the improved support to families early through our approach
to inclusion and the application of the graduated approach
through the pandemic demonstrating the improved support to families early through our approach
to inclusion and the application of the graduated approach.
3.14i

Working together in partnership as a local area
The Dorset Parent Carer Council (DPCC) was formed in June 2009 and has over 700 members across
Dorset. The membership is made up of parents and carers of children who have a variety of special
needs from complex medical to challenging behaviour to learning or physical difficulties and
more.
DPCC has a positive and active role in supporting the development of services that affect children
with special educational needs and/or disabilities. They are represented on the Corporate
Parenting Board, Best Education for All Board, Strengthening Services Board, and the Strategic
Alliance Board. The DPCC take a professional and considered approach that strikes a good balance
of challenge and support to the council and its plans.
The partnership with our Clinical Commissioning Groups, Healthcare Trusts and Primary Care
networks has continued to improve. There is cross-sector representation at panels and events for
parents and carers.
February 2022 has seen the completion of the Local Area Partnership Agreement – this provides a
framework across the Dorset Council area for all key strategic partners to collaboratively work to
achieve the best outcomes for Children and Young People. The mission of the partnership is
•

To deliver the best education for all our children and young people,

•

To prepare our young people for independence and adulthood, and

•

For our children and young people to experience the best possible health and
wellbeing.
In January 2022, Dorset Council, Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group and Dorset Parent Carer
Council enshrined our partnership working as a local area in a Partnership Agreement. This
agreement seeks to provide a framework across the Dorset Council area for all key strategic
partners to collaboratively work to achieve the best outcomes for Children and Young People.
Our partnership working will ensure that children, young people and their families have equal
opportunity to meaningfully participate in the decisions that affect them at individual, operational
and strategic levels.

Page 83

66

3.14j

You said we did
Following the Parent Carer Survey in 2021, we produced a ‘You Said We did’ section on the Local
Offer addressing the queries and concerns raised. We continue to engage with our parents and
carers through termly ‘Let’s Talk’ events which have returned to face to face events following the
pandemic. These provide an opportunity for parents and carers to meet with professionals to
discuss key areas for development. Previous topics have included SEN Transport, Short Breaks and
an introduction to the new Locality model in Children’s Services. These events are hosted by the
Senior Educational Psychologist and SEND Team Manager in each locality and are arranged at
appropriate times both during and outside the usual working day and in locations that parents and
carers feel comfortable in. These events are supported by the Parent Carer Council.
In February 2022, we held online live Q&A events in collaboration with Dorset Parent Care Council
for families of children with SEND to update them on key progress in our strategy and allow them
time to ask us anything. The events were very successful and attended by 50 families in total across
two events. The outcomes will support our work through our ongoing continuous improvement
work in SEND in partnership with our parent carer forum.

3.14k High Needs Block
The Council completed it High Needs Block Management Strategy in September 2021 which was
approved by Schools Forum and then subsequently Dorset Council Cabinet.
Schools’ forum established a High Needs Block Strategy Group that is monitoring the
implementation of the plan and maintain communications with school leaders.
The working group is a school-led Board giving leadership and oversight to the budget. In
collaboration with the working group, the group have already delivered savings and provide
oversight and challenge to the delivery of the Capital Strategy.
Headteachers briefings with our primary, middle and secondary schools were held in January 2021
to inform them of the strategy and drive toward inclusion.
3.14 l

Capital Strategy
To achieve our ambitious vision, we need to ensure that our children and young people are
educated at an appropriate setting to meet their needs and therefore we have set out a capital
strategy supported by £40m of local authority investment for the creation of new specialist
provision. This is linked to our high needs management strategy which will support the revenue
funding streams for the new provision and our SEND strategy which sets out how we will work with
young people, parents and health professionals to support young people with SEND. To date we
have:
•
•
•

•

Purchased a new special school in the north of the County and are creating 280 special
places for children and young people which will open to new cohorts by April 2022
Converted a recently replaced primary school into a special college for post 16 education
attached to a maintained special school to create 75 more places
Supporting the opening of a new free special school built on the site of a closed
mainstream middle school which will be opened in the summer of 2022 for 160 young
people with communication needs and separately social emotional and mental health
needs.
Working to create additional specialist communication inclusion hubs in mainstream
schools across the county which will create approximately 100 more places over time

Page 84

67

3.14m School age children and young people – SEND Profile statistic (July 2021)
The profile of SEND and educational outcomes in Dorset shows that 4% of our children in Dorset
Schools have an EHC Plan with a further 14% accessing SEN support. These figures are in line with
the National Profile for EHC Plans at 4%. The SEN support national average is 12% meaning that
Dorset is slightly higher in this regard and therefore showing an increase in support early without
the need for statutory intervention in line with the strategy.
3.14n Early Years children with SEND
From the school census data 2020/21, the most common primary need for children under 5 is
speech, language and communication needs followed by social, emotional and mental health. Most
of these children receive support through SEN Support and through the graduated approach.
For early years children with emerging need, support is available through our early years SEND
inclusion fund which targets early intervention through the graduated approach with support from
our early years team.
In the January 2021 early years census, 78 children under 5 were able to access further support
through Disability Access Funding in their local setting. A total of 5,945 children access 2,3 and 4year old early education funding.
In 2020-21, 205 children were supported to access early education and childcare through their
early years setting applying for Early SEND Support funding. 29% of this cohort are boys who have
communication and language needs and 7% are girls. 5% of the cohort are boys with PSED and
2.5% are girls.
3.14o Early advice and support
We know that that early advice and support is essential when a parent or carer first begins to
understand their child’s special educational needs.
Respondents to Dorset’s Parent/Carer survey in 2021 described a system that was difficult to
understand and navigate and how discussions with schools were sometimes complex and
confusing, as it was not always clear what support should be ordinarily available without an EHCP.
We are determined to support our parents and children and improve access to SEND support; to
this end we have introduced Dorset’s Education Advice Line (DEAL) as a key enabler for
improvements for the families we serve.
•

The Advice Line started in October 2021 and has received calls from parents, carers, young
people and professionals. The main themes that have emerged are:
▪ First steps – early identification of emerging SEND needs, where to go for support
and who can help
▪ Next steps – SEND has been identified but family/setting needs help in
understanding the Graduated Approach and what can be put in place right now;
▪ How to request an EHCP – for those families where there is a diagnosis and support
in the child or young person’s setting has been unable to meet need, and
▪ Exclusions – where a child or young person has been excluded either for a fixed
term or may be at risk of a permanent exclusion, advice around managed moves
and steps that can be taken to prevent exclusion
▪ We anticipate that as the Advice Line becomes more established, we will see a
reduction in the number of parental requests for Needs Assessments.

Page 85

68

3.14p SEND Family Work
Parents have told us that we have real strength in our SEND services for our youngest children.
They have praised our existing Early Help service links to schools in the localities and our Team
Around the Family approach.

“My SEND family worker helped my
Mum and Step-Dad to make me feel
safer at home, by supporting them to
make me a special sensory room where
I can go when I need to feel calm
instead of getting cross and breaking
things

We are building on this approach by focusing the time of our SEND Family Workers to work with
families and settings at key decision-making points in the statutory process – for example, if we do
not agree to a Needs Assessment request, the family worker can come alongside the family and
setting to explore the information already provided. We know that for some families who have
complicated lives, the input from a Family Worker over can bring consistency and help to build
positive relationships both within and beyond families.
Our improved EHCP forms, templates and review paperwork were developed in partnership with a
wide range of parents, partners and settings, with information and training events for parents and
stakeholders. We are committed to ensuring that SEND improvement work continues to be
developed in partnership with families and young people and is communicated effectively. We have
robust quality assurance processes within our SEND statutory work and in conjunction with partner
services and parents. We have appointed a SEND Quality Assurance Manager who will begin on 1st
March 2022 as part of our commitment to ongoing quality reviews of our SEND work and practice
development.
We are working with health colleagues to support young people in managing their mental health.
We have a mental health in schools project running in three areas and plan to roll this out across
the county.
3.14q SEND practice development
We want to ensure our staff are appropriately qualified and confident in their practice. We
conducted a Training Needs Analysis of our front line SEND teams (SEN Family Workers, SEND Case
Workers, SEND Provision Leads, SEND Team Managers and Service Managers) and are developing a
bespoke Workforce Development Plan.

Page 86

69

Practitioners are involved in the development of the programme so that this is practitioner led and
focuses on the specific needs for each individual. We hold termly Practice Development Days
(INSET days) for SEND and Inclusion staff. These focus on areas that we need to develop across the
workforce such as Inclusion practice, person-centred approaches and so on.
We hold half-termly Practitioner Improvement Forums. Representatives from every locality across
the SEND workforce participate in these sessions with Senior Leaders. These have been established
to ensure there is a regular opportunity for senior managers and the Corporate Director for
Education and Learning to understand workforce demands, for key corporate messages to be
shared and for solution-focused approaches to current themes arising from complaints and
tribunals.
3.14r

SEND governance
As part of our Scheme of Delegation for SEND, we have established Panels to enable consistent
decision making. Each Locality has a weekly panel, facilitated by the SEND Team Manager and
includes a local health representative and the Senior Educational Psychologist.
These panels consider requests for EHC Assessments, decisions after assessments have concluded
and complex case work discussions.
A bi-weekly SEND and Alternative Provision Panel supports decision making around funding for
packages of support including exceptional top up, funding above banding levels and for provision
not exceeding £44,999 as a total annual value. This panel also considers requests for Alternative
Provision from any team within Children’s Services (such as social care or inclusion) as well as
SEND. Membership includes representatives from education, educational psychology, the CCG,
children’s social care and brokerage.

A multi-agency resource panel (MARP) supports decision making where there is significant
involvement from multiple agencies (such as health and children’s or adults social care) or for
funding packages that exceed £45,000 as a total annual value. Membership includes
representatives from education, education psychology, CCG, children’s and adult’s social care and
commissioning.
3.14 s Educational Psychology
Educational Psychologists are embedded within each locality and sit within the SEND teams
alongside SEND provision leads, SEN family support workers and are line managed by the SEND
team managers. They work in collaboration with the specialist teachers.
Each school has a link educational psychologist and specialist teacher and they are provided with
termly joint planning meetings which takes the form of a solution focused problem-solving
approach.
The planning meetings enable schools to bring children and young people to the attention of the
educational psychologist and specialist teacher as well as identifying whole school areas for
development.
Educational psychologists lead on Relational Practice, I Can Problem Solve, Academic Resilience
Approach, Wellbeing for education recovery and Emotional Literacy Support. In the schools that
have engaged in these interventions we have seen a reduction in fixed term exclusions, an
increased engagement in learning and improvements on behavioural measures such as the SDQ.
Within each locality a senior educational psychologist provides professional supervision for the
educational psychologists. We have introduced a quality assurance framework of educational

Page 87

70

psychology advice for education, health, and care needs assessments which is led by the senior
educational psychologists. The senior educational psychologists are members of the locality SEND
decision making process and attend the locality panels.
3.14t

Outreach Support Offer
Dorset has established a three-year partnership agreement to strengthen inclusion by developing
and extending the outreach offer from the Teaching Alliance of Dorset special schools (TADDS).
As part of this offer TADSS are providing Dorset STEPS training to all schools. Dorset Steps is whole
school training that takes a therapeutic functional assessment approach to understanding children
and young people’s behaviours and responding to them using specific approaches as part of a
behaviour support plan. 43% of Dorset schools have been trained to date.
Impact has been a reduction in physical interventions in Dorset maintained special schools, other
measures are being implemented and will be part of action research these will include exclusions of
children with SEND, reduction in use of part-time timetables and attendance of children with SEND.
Feedback from schools shows that the whole school approach has had an impact on the language
used within the school and has resulted in schools changing their behaviour policies with an
emphasis on relationships and rewards. Performance and progress of the partnership is reported
to the half-termly Outreach Board. The membership of this board includes head teacher
representatives, education, health and early help representatives.
3.14u The Virtual School Dorset Virtual School equips our children for success and happiness by
delivering highly effective support for their education, including their academic outcomes and their
engagement in experiences that will help them towards adulthood. This has been a year of
continuous improvement and agility for the Virtual School as we remain responsive to the needs of
our children and of partnership working with our schools through a challenging period. We have
focused on best practice in the monitoring of our children’s attendance, progress and attainment
and ensuring we have strong quality assurance.
Some of the key strengths this year have been:
•

•
•
•
•
•

•

strong systems and processes, with effective multi-agency working: “A particular strength is
the impact of more aligned working in the six localities; headteachers, designated teachers
and staff at the virtual school work together to secure creative and beneficial outcomes for
children” Ofsted November 2021
accurate use of pupil premium funding clearly linked to planned outcomes: “The pupil
premium, linked to personal education plans, is used creatively.” Ofsted November 2021
GCSE grade 4+ English and Maths remained above the published 2020 national, South West
and statistical neighbours for the second year in a row
a significant improvement in the number of children remaining in education or training post
16 (70% compared to 51% in 2020)
a reduction in the number of children missing education
an effective quality assurance process for Personal Education Plans (PEPs), showing an
increase in the number of PEPs rated as good or better: “They have an accurate analysis of
the strengths and weaknesses of educational provision for children in care and care
leavers.” Ofsted November 2021
we are celebrating our children’s successes more than ever before

Page 88

71

The overall impact of the service improvements and determination of the Virtual School staff to do
the absolute best for our children can be seen in the recent Ofsted (ILACS) Inspection report,
November 2021: “The virtual school is highly ambitious for children in care, wherever they live.”
We will continue to focus on:
•

•

•

•

Reducing the number of pupils who are persistent absentees or have unauthorised
absence. This is being achieved through a focus on unpicking the barriers behind the
absence term ‘refusal’, together with an assumption that all of our children want to be in
school. Absence will be reviewed on a weekly basis in order to enable rapid response and
support to be put in place.
Further reducing suspensions. This will be achieved by running a series of cpd workshops
for the schools that suspend our children, alongside a language and communication
checklist being completed following any suspension that will ensure that underlying need
has been identified and addressed.
Ensuring that if a school move is required, the transition is achieved as quickly as possible,
particularly for those children with an EHCP. This is being achieved through problem-solving
at a system level, including the way in which Dorset works with other Local Authorities’
SEND teams to achieve the right education for our children.
Ensuring that all PEPs are child-centred including an increase in the number of children
attending their PEP meeting. This is being achieved through CPD for practitioners and
Designated Teachers.

Children are in the Virtual School from the age of 3 to the end of the academic year following their
18th birthday. The Virtual School bridges the transition from Social Worker to Personal Adviser (PA)
and maintains advice and guidance about education from a position of best knowledge of the
young person as they move into adulthood.
Virtual School Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are part of the Children’s Services monthly
performance reporting cycle and reported at the Performance Board. This ensures that there is a
clear line of sight to the Virtual School by the Children’s Services Leadership Team. Performance is
also reported monthly to the Corporate Parenting Board. The Virtual School governing body has a
schedule of monitoring activity linked to the priorities on the School Development Plan. These are
reported to full governing body meetings on a termly basis.
The Virtual School uses Welfare Call analytical dashboards and reports regarding our children’s
education, which inform the work of the Virtual School team. The Virtual School uses termly
attainment and progress data from Welfare Call to track each child. This information is used as part
of the decision-making about termly Personal Education Plan (PEP) targets and is used to inform
monthly pupil progress meetings.
The Virtual School runs termly training for Designated Teachers (DTs) and training for any DTs that
are new to role as part of their induction. There are also opportunities throughout the academic
year to attend training on key themed topics such as language and communication needs, and
emotion coaching.
The Virtual School undertakes daily attendance monitoring through Welfare Call’s live dashboard.
This robust system provides data at a cohort, group and individual level to give an accurate view of
attendance, reasons for absence and patterns of absence. This has enabled the Virtual School to

Page 89

72

monitor, analyse and respond to attendance concerns rapidly and remains a key area for
improvement.
The statutory expectation is to hold two PEP meetings per year. Dorset Virtual School follows the
good practice model of a PEP meeting per term. Holding the PEP on Welfare Call has enabled the
Virtual School to ensure that the PEP template used is strong and includes all recommended
content, termly PEP completion rates are monitored, key professionals can access the PEP at any
time and updates are seen concurrently by all and the PEP QA process and decisions are
transparent to all involved.
PEP completion for the spring term 2021 was 98% and improved to 99% in the summer term and
100% in autumn term 2021. This is a good position and one that the Virtual School intends to
maintain. 100% of PEPs for children new into care were held within 20 days enabling the first PEP to
inform the first Child In Care Review meeting. The Virtual School challenges where academic
expectations are too low and celebrates successes, including overcoming barriers. As a result, the
academic outcomes for our children are very positive:
•

•

•

GCSE grade 4+ English and Maths remained above the published 2020 national (24.4%),
South West (24.2%) and statistical neighbour (25.9%) average for the last two years (2021:
28.6%, 12 young people; 2020 33.3%, 15 young people). There were also some excellent
overall results which has led to 74.7% of pupils moving into post 16 education in
September 2021.
The impact of the Virtual School support of post-16 students in 2020 - 21 is that there has
been a zero drop-out rate from level 3 courses as students move from Year 12 into Year 13.
The support also impacted extremely positively on the post-16 Education, Employment and
Training (EET) figures, with an improvement in 2021 to 66% post-16 EET compared to 51%
the previous year. Current post-16 EET rates for the 2021 – 22 year so far stand at 70%.
There are positive signs of the level of ambition that the Virtual School and Care Leaver
team have for our young people:
▪ 9 students graduated in 2021, including 2 post graduates
▪ 8 students achieved a university place for this September
▪ 27 students at university September 2021

The Virtual School uses a PEP quality assurance (QA) process for all PEPs. The Virtual School Team
has been trained in the use of the PEP quality assurance criteria. Training has also been delivered to
Designated Teachers and there is a strong focus on the PEP in the Virtual School Handbook. Top tips
for PEPs are a feature of Designated Teacher Newsletters. All PEPs are peer Quality Assurance (QA)
reviewed. The QA outcome appears on the PEP so that all involved in the PEP can see the grading
and any feedback given. The QA process grades a PEP red (inadequate), amber (requires
improvement) green (good) or gold (outstanding). Themed audits of PEPs review specific aspects of
the school development plan, such as the quality of the use of the child’s voice through personcentred planning, are a central part of link governor monitoring. QA outcomes are fed back to the
Full Governing Body for oversight.
The impact of the work to strengthen the PEP process, including the Designated Teacher training
can be seen in the PEP QA results: 83.8% of PEPs were found to be good or better.
Wider learning from the PEP QA process has been:
•
•

having a pre-planned structure to the meeting is beneficial to consistency.
the meeting itself should concentrate on celebrating the child and identifying the right
targets for them.

Page 90

73

•
•

the relationship with Designated Teachers is important and once established aids the PEP
process
pupil voice needs to be featured further in future DT newsletters and training sessions, and
there is a need to increase the number of children who attend their PEP meeting

Where the child has either co-created their targets or in a small number of cases lead the PEP
meeting it is very powerful and this is a model for PEPs going forward.
The Virtual School has a strong focus on celebrating child successes and sharing these widely
including with the extended Children’s Services leadership team to ensure that our children’s lived
experience is in everyone’s minds in a positive, strengths-based way and also to celebrate good
practice from teams working with our children. Children’s successes are celebrated weekly within
the team, with each identified child receiving a £20 book voucher. The positive acknowledgement
of children’s successes in the PEP meetings was recognised in governor monitoring as a strength of
the PEPs. There is an annual awards event called Dorset EPIC Awards (Exceptional People In Care),
the most recent of which took place on 22nd July 2021 and celebrated 93 children and young
people. Going forward the Virtual School will be developing further opportunities for our children
which will incorporate celebration of their work, attitude and engagement.
Our ambition is for effective inclusive practice in our schools which leads to zero fixed term or
permanent exclusions of children in care. Steps taken thus far to reduce exclusions are:
•

•

•

•
•

the Virtual School Team are alerted to exclusions via Welfare Call. They then attend the
reintegration meeting and where needed hold a professionals meeting. In all cases the
Virtual School team focus on underlying causes and what the school and wider
professionals need to put in place to ensure that there are no further exclusions.
there is a focus on every child who has been excluded in Virtual School monthly pupil
progress meetings, giving oversight and priority to these children, and ensuring that Virtual
School staff actions are robust
there is a wider local authority focus on inclusion with strategic support for schools to
follow relational practice methods and employ the graduated approach to ensure that early
intervention addresses need
training for schools has been delivered by Specialist Teachers on Speech Language and
Communication Needs (SLCN)
training has been provided for schools on emotion coaching

The impact of this is that 38 children received exclusions in the 2020 - 21 academic year (11.48% of
the cohort, which is in line with the national average). However, reducing exclusions remains a
focus for improvement of the development plan. More children at schools within our authority are
excluded than those in schools out of authority, and it is essential that this is a focus of our work in
future.
The Virtual School was also successful in rescinding a permanent exclusion of a child by working
with the governors to detail steps the school needed to take before they could justify an exclusion.
The child is now happy and successful at another setting and without a permanent exclusion
blighting their education record.
A relational practice group has worked with 30 schools this year, led by the Educational Psychology
Service. Training is offered by school link Educational Psychologists working with Specialist Teachers
and encouraging commitment to ongoing training and policy changes. To continue supporting the
30 schools that were part of the initial pilot, they are invited to attend Network meetings each

Page 91

74

month. The purpose is to encourage a refocusing on attachment and trauma-informed principles,
allowing opportunities for schools to raise questions or seek support, an opportunity to celebrate
all the examples of good practice in schools, and to facilitate the opportunity for schools to work
together and support each other. The long-term ambition is to encourage locality-based meetings
and peer support involving use of an audit tool.
A fortnightly Children in Care CMOOE meeting chaired by the Director of Education focuses on
actions being taken to re-engage identified children and young people in education (or training and
employment if relevant post-16). Attendees include a Quality Assurance Reviewing Officer, SEND,
Social Care and Heads of Locality. The meeting gives clear oversight of these children and ensures
that robust actions are in place to secure suitable full-time education.
The impact of the Virtual School’s work to ensure education placements for our children means
that 276 out of our 291 of our school age children are settled in 158 schools across 36 local
authorities. In most cases if a school move is required it happens efficiently. 70% of our 110 post-16
young people are in education or training across 35 schools or colleges in 20 local authorities.
In the autumn term 2021, 28 children were closed to the CIC CMOOE tracker: 10 CME, 9 post-16
who were NEET,6 post-16 CMOOE, 3 part-time timetables. Of the 28, 10 closed within half a term.
A further 5 closed within a term. Further work is now being completed to ensure that our and other
local authorities’ systems enable children in care with an EHCP who move placements can have an
efficient school move also.

3.15

Young People at Risk of Homelessness
We have engaged with Homeless Advice and Support Team DLUHC with the focus on prevention of
homelessness for care leavers, 16/17-year-old young people and other vulnerable 18 to 25-yearolds. As an outcome from the review, it was identified that officers across services, departments
and partnerships are committed to supporting young people and to working together to improve
outcomes. Strengths also included our priority response for referrals of homeless 16 to 17-year-olds
and The Harbour Steady and Settled Pathway. We will continue to optimise our close partnership
working with housing colleagues within place-based settings and intend to strengthen our practice
further through a joint training plan and a refresh of our Homeless Prevention Protocol for 16 to
17-year-olds.
The Front Door to Children’s Services works with our Housing colleagues and have recently
introduced a system where we are notified of those children, young people and their families who
are in unsettled accommodation, such as bed & breakfast accommodation. With consent, we will
contact and offer support at an earlier stage. We also work in partnership with Housing as part of
our Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) process, whereby with consent, information will be
shared to support decision-making, act preventatively for our young people to reduce the risk of
homelessness and be alerted when there are risks of eviction/homelessness and young people are
involved. The aim is to ensure we can be pro-active and identify the right support, first time for our
young people.
The Front Door will also process referrals and utilise the Harbour Steady & Settled Pathway to
reduce the risk of homelessness and when the level of need is identified process referrals, when a
joint Housing assessment is required for young people.
We are also working with Housing in respect of our out of hours provision to young people, there is
further work required in extending the referral timings for Night Stop, we also work closely with
Harbour, when a crisis occurs and a young person is at risk of homelessness during the evenings or

Page 92

75

weekends, to provide wraparound preventative support to reduce the risk and support the young
person to remain at home.

3.16

Private Fostering
Private fostering assessments are undertaken by Social Workers within our Locality Teams. We also
have a contract with Bournemouth, Christchurch, and Poole (BCP) Council who identify, assess and
support private fostering arrangements made through language schools in the Dorset area. The
contract was established in November 2016 and will continue to remain in place. BCP remain
proactive in publicising the need to notify private fostering arrangements and undertaking
appropriate checks and assessments.
In January 2022 we had 7 children assessed and supported in private fostering placements in
Dorset based within our Locality Teams and an additional 7 children in private fostering placements
at language schools managed by BCP council on our behalf. The numbers within language schools
have remained low over the last 2 years due to the impact of the Covid pandemic and changes
following Brexit.
We have a lead for Private Fostering who is responsible for the private fostering action plan, annual
report, awareness raising and promoting understanding of private fostering, the performance and
quality of the work undertaken both within Localities and the work commissioned from BCP council
private fostering team. We continue to promote awareness and understanding across Dorset to
encourage identification, notification and assessment of private fostering arrangements

3.17

Local Authority Designated Officer
The Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) role sits within our Quality Assurance and
Partnerships Service. We have continued to undertake improvement activity as part of our
Strengthening Services Plan. We have embedded the new practice standards. Work is being
undertaken to develop a data dashboard and to streamline the monitoring and tracking including
being able to access historical information in one place (MOSAIC). We continue to strengthen our
communication with partners to raise the profile of the LADO in Dorset and have created posters
and information leaflets to support this. During 2021 our permanent LADO retired in August and
this role was covered by agency staff. We have now recruited to this role permanently. As part of
the induction, they will be visiting all the locality teams to raise awareness of the role.

Fig. 3.22 LADO contacts and referrals, 2021

Page 93

76

Since April 2021 there has been a total of 190 contacts which is reduction of 39 in the volume
overall since the previous year (229). Of these Contacts 78 (41%) progressed to referral and
involvement by the Designated Officer, leading to an Initial Evaluation Meeting.
We continue to provide a quarterly LADO Highlight Report setting out activity and learning which
feeds into our Quality of Practice and Action Group. This has also been strengthened to enable key
themes to be highlighted and enable any targeted support from the LADO.

Page 94

77

4.

HOW DO WE KNOW

4.1

Performance Management
We have an excellent suite of performance data and dashboards available and accessible to
managers and all staff through our intranet pages and through MOSAIC, our electronic social care
record. Children’s Services Monthly Performance Report is published and shared with all managers
to inform performance conversations.
We also publish a Corporate Parenting Dataset and the Performance and Impact Report to enable
our Strengthening Services Board to monitor progress of our Strengthening Services Plan. Our
Monthly Report has developed to cover the whole Service including Early Help, Social Care,
Education, Workforce and Finance. We have a number of thematic dashboards that are codesigned with managers and work schedules to continue with development. These are used
extensively by managers to manage and monitor performance. Dashboards are in place for MASH,
SEND, the Virtual School and Missing and Child Exploitation, Children In Care, Care Leavers and
Fostering, with even more under development.
We continuously improve and refine how we use our data and intelligence and through the
Performance Management Framework (PMF) that sits alongside our Quality Assurance Framework
managers systematically review performance of their respective services through monthly service
level Performance and Practice meetings. Exceptions are then reported to the monthly
Performance Board attended by the Extended Children’s Services Leadership Team and Business
Partners and chaired by the Executive Director. The Performance Board focuses on three critical
questions for all aspects of our performance: What’s going well? What are we worried about? and
importantly, what we are doing about it.
The Board is restorative in approach – high support and high challenge, and solutionfocused. Managers across the service are feeding back the impact of the meetings in developing a
deep and shared understanding of our performance and how it can be used to drive continuous
improvement.
Key messages from our Performance Board, alongside a dashboard of key indicators, are reported
on a monthly basis to the Corporate Senior Leadership Team and the Elected Members
Performance Board and scrutiny panel to ensure a strong line of sight to performance.
We have implemented a quarterly whole service Quality Assurance and Performance Management
Conference providing the opportunity for all managers (Team Managers and above) to come
together to triangulate the information from our quality assurance and performance monitoring
activity, reflect on learning and to focus on our continuous improvement.

4.2

Quality Assurance Framework
Our Quality Assurance Framework is fully embedded and has received positive external validation
though a peer review undertaken in July 2021. The collaborative audit approach undertaken by the
operational managers within the service alongside practitioners has facilitated improvements in the
quality of practice. This is further strengthened by a moderation system that reviews the audits
with the auditor providing assurance that we know what good looks like. A proportion of those
audits are also moderated by the QA service to provide independent assurance and identify good
practice examples to share the learning.

Page 95

78

To ensure we obtain an accurate representation of the quality of practice; audits are selected at
random and thematic audit is scheduled as part of testing the impact of improvements or where
data and audit highlight the need for dip sampling to determine if a detailed thematic review is
required. This enables us to quickly identify any areas of concern. The collaborative approach
enables a reflective conversation with the practitioner to support holding the child at the forefront
of our practice and review what is working well or what we are concerned about. Feedback from
children and families is an important part of our audit process and we are working to increase the
take up both within audit and as a wider service. We are therefore developing a separate quarterly
feedback report that will enable us to focus on what our children and families experience and how
this will be utilised to shape further service improvements and build on positive areas of practice.
Audit learning reports are produced bi-monthly and shared at a Quality of Practice and Action
Group with Service Managers, Heads of Locality and Corporate Directors who are all involved in
agreeing either localised action plans or strategic practice improvements for the service to facilitate
closing of the learning loop. The headlines are reported to the monthly performance board chaired
by our Executive Director. Learning and findings from both audit and family feedback are shared in
our QA newsletter to the wider workforce.
An audit dashboard allows us to review findings and learning from audit and facilitates effective
tracking and completion of all audit actions. We also re-audit any cases deemed inadequate to
ensure the child’s circumstances have improved and actions completed. QA is embedding as part
of our everyday practice within the teams, and our advanced practitioners (APs) work alongside our
staff to support practice improvement through focused reflective discussions and thematic
auditing. The Principal Social Worker supports the AP’s to work alongside staff to deliver focused
improvements from QA activity such as new practice or procedure changes. The thematic auditing
is vital in ensuring we identify the right learning and the root cause of any practice challenges to
facilitate consistent quality of practice across the service. This is supplemented with scheduled dip
sampling aligned to our strengthening services plan so that improvements can be evidenced as
having been embedded.
Our Quality Assurance and Audit system has played a decisive role in two key service improvements
during the past year:
•

The number of children with Permanence Plans has increased

•

The number of children who have been subject to a Child Protection Plan for 18 months or
more has decreased

Our Principal Social Worker is driving quality of practice and keeping front line practice at the
forefront of strategic improvements. One of the key areas of focus has been embedding our
restorative Dorset Children Thrive Practice Framework utilising strength-based approaches, this has
been part of our next steps from our reinvigorating social work practice. The impact of our
framework is monitored at QPAG through our dedicated performance indicators aligned to set
outcomes for children.

Page 96

79

4.3

Audit Outcomes
The monthly collaborative audits continue to take place with audit compliance remaining strong
although there was a short auditing break in October and November due to the Ofsted visit. The
chart below shows a decline in the number of Good or Outstanding audits during 2021. This
reflects a change of focus, and not a step backwards; during the lead-in to October’s Ofsted visit,
we re-focused our auditing around areas of known deficit, and this inevitably produced lower
scores. Our auditing has now resumed as set out in the framework with deficit auditing undertaken
separately to avoid confusion over the overall quality of practice.

Fig. 4.1 Percentage of Good or Outstanding Audits 2021

Our audit findings for the majority of our social work practice tell us that:
• Our Social workers know their children and families well and can talk about the work that
they are undertaking
• Direct work is child centred and increasingly being informed by the voice of the child
• There is clear management oversight
• Partner engagement has improved over time
• Where children are entering our care more of them are entering our care in a planned way
• Completion of Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire has improved considerably
The principal areas identified to strengthen our practice in:
•
•
•

4.4

Consistency in the quality of supervision and in ensuring our management oversight is
driving forward our planning for children
Continuing to strengthen our use of chronologies and summaries
Ensuring that the child’s voice is always reflected in our recording and informing our
planning

Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews
We continue to learn from Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews. In 2021 one Child Safeguarding
Practice review was published (Dec) and two are currently underway and there have been three
Rapid Reviews completed.
This section contains exempt information and is therefore withheld under paragraphs 1 and 2 of Schedule
12a of the Local Government Act 1972

Page 97

80

4.5

Compliments and compliments
Our Compliments and Complaints Team ensure a consistent approach to complaints management
and challenge Children’s Services for learnings and actions so the complaint has as much value as
possible and organisational lessons can be learned. The Compliments and Complaints team report
into our performance management framework to ensure staff across children’s services understand
the process and importance of transparency and timeliness.
As in previous years, we resolve most complaints informally. Dorset Council has found that this
approach builds the best possible relationships between the Council and families with concerns
without obstructing statutory process.
We continue to have a low volume of complaints progress through statutory process and clear
evidence that the Ombudsman is not troubled by Social Care complaints, further indicating that
Dorset Council’s proactive approach to outcomes-based resolutions to complaints is proving
beneficial for families. It also demonstrates that we are genuinely listening rather than processing.
The 5 Social Care complaints to be formally investigated by the Ombudsman 2 were upheld and 3
were was not upheld.
We continue to embed learning from complaints, feeding into our wider governance process where
appropriate and communicating to staff and partners through our established communications
channels. Importantly, we are seeing an increase in compliments in social care each quarter, rising
from 11 in quarter 1 of 2021 to 16 in quarter 2 and 20 in quarter 3.

4.6

Feedback from our children, young people, and families
The involvement of children and families in learning form their experiences through consultation
and commissioning, complaints and serious incidents is fully embedded in the development of
services.
We are continuing to strengthen the feedback system within our audit process to evolve and learn
from our practice.
Additionally, the Children in Care Council conduct an annual survey of all children in care. This
comprehensive survey gives insight across several areas including:
•
•
•
•

Perceptions of social workers, IROs, advocates and other professionals
Perceptions of plans, including care, education and pathway
Perceptions of processes such as reviews and complaints
Feelings of wellbeing and support

The report is considered by CSLT, relevant service areas and explored through workshops across
the workforce. A response with recommendations and action plan are presented to the Children in
Care Council.

Page 98

81

5.

WHAT’S NEXT FOR DORSET….
In 2022 we continue to grow on our ambitious programme of change:
•

We will ensure that the actions we have put in place to improve outcomes for our Care
Leavers continues to be reviewed to ensure long term impact, reporting into the Corporate
Parenting Board.

•

We will increase the number of children and young people that benefit from outstanding
support through our Dorset Centre of Excellence and other school build programmes as part
of our approach to offer outstanding provision for our learners with SEND.

•

We will improve our care sufficiency through the opening of internal residential provision
and a greater level of foster carer recruitment and retention.

•

We continue to improve services across the partnership through our embedded
Strengthening Services Plan. Our multi-agency partnership will undertake new programmes
to tackle emerging themes affecting our communities. Themes such as male violence against
women and girls, child sexual exploitation and the role of county lines on substance misuse.

•

We will continue to evolve our Children, Young People and Families’ Plan, to include local
and national priorities, whilst continuing to report to our partnership and communities on
the impact its delivery is making.

We remain ambitious for children and more than ever, our children need to us be bold, tenacious,
and resolute in ensuring they have a bright future.
We recognise the impact our improvement journey has made for our communities and for our
staff. We are leading the South West ADCS programme of work on Leadership Development and
are working to support other Local Authority areas.
Our extended leadership team continue their commitment and dedication to each other, their
commitment to working with partners and most importantly with our communities. These qualities
have once again, shone through during another challenging year. we have made significant
improvements across all areas of our services and will build upon these in 2022 to deliver the
Outstanding service we aspire to.
Our Front-line staff have been extraordinary throughout the pandemic and their commitment
alongside a truly integrated strengths-based approach to working with families is showing strong
evidence of making a positive impact on families lives.
We fully intend to continue our pace of delivery, and are confident in our strong corporate, political
and partnership support.
We are continuing to build something special that will last.
We are determined that in Dorset, all our Children Thrive.

Page 99

82

This page is intentionally left blank

The Cabinet Forward Plan - May to August 2022
(Publication date 14 April 2022)
Explanatory Note:
This Forward Plan contains future items to be considered by the Cabinet and Council. It is published 28 days before the next meeting of the Committee.
The plan includes items for the meeting including key decisions. Each item shows if it is ‘open’ to the public or to be considered in a private part of the
meeting.

Page 101

Definition of Key Decisions
Key decisions are defined in Dorset Council's Constitution as decisions of the Cabinet which are likely to -

(a) to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the relevant
local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (Thresholds - £500k); or

(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of
the relevant local authority.”

In determining the meaning of “significant” for these purposes the Council will have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State in
accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 Act. Officers will consult with lead members to determine significance and sensitivity.

Agenda Item 10

Cabinet Portfolio Holders 2021/22
Spencer Flower
Leader / Governance, Performance and Communications
Peter Wharf
Deputy Leader / Adult Social Care and Health
Gary Suttle
Finance, Commercial and Capital Strategy
Ray Bryan
Highways, Travel and Environment
Graham Carr-Jones
Housing and Community Safety
Jill Haynes
Corporate Development and Transformation
Laura Miller
Customer and Community Services
Andrew Parry
Children, Education, Skills and Early Help
Tony Ferrari
Economic Growth, Assets & Property
David Walsh
Planning

Subject / Decision

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder

Officer Contact

May

Revised Inter Authority Agreement
for Joint Archives Service

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
17 May 2022

Portfolio Holder for
Customer and
Community Services

Lisa Cotton, Head of
Customer Services,
Libraries & Archives
lisa.cotton@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren), Corporate
Director, Legal and
Democratic Services Monitoring Officer
(Jonathan Mair)

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
17 May 2022

Deputy Leader and
Portfolio Holder for
Adult Social Care and
Health

Michael Ford, Policy &
Project Manager
michael.ford@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk , Steve Veevers,
Corporate Director
Operations, Adult Care
steve.veevers@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk
Executive Director, People Adults

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Page 102

The item is subject to internal
governance at BCP Council and may
be delayed if unable to progress in
time for cut off dates at Dorset
Council.
Minimum Income Guarantees in
Charges for Adult Social Care and
Support
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
A review of the appropriateness of
continuing to use those published,
national minimum MIG rates in Dorset
will be presented in accordance with
the Care Act 2014 statutory guidance.
The review will consider option for
MIG rates that are equal to, and
greater than, the national minimum
rates.

Subject / Decision

Re-procurement of the Learning
and Development Framework for
Children and Adult Services

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder

Deputy Leader and
Portfolio Holder for
Adult Social Care and
Health, Portfolio Holder
for Children,
Education, Skills and
Early Help

Officer Contact

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
17 May 2022

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
17 May 2022

Place
and
Resources
Overview Committee
21 Apr 2022

Portfolio Holder for
Highways, Travel and
Environment

Wayne Sayers, Transport
Planning Manager
wayne.sayers@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Decision Maker
Dorset Council

Decision Date
14 Jul 2022

Cabinet
17 May 2022

Portfolio Holder for
Highways, Travel and
Environment

Ken Buchan, Head of
Environment and Wellbeing
k en.buchan@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk
Corporate Director, Legal
and Democratic Services Monitoring Officer
(Jonathan Mair), John
Sellgren

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Executive Director, People Children (Theresa Leavy)

Page 103

Re-procuring the current framework
for training providers to deliver
courses for Children's Services
(including the Pan-Dorset
Safeguarding Children Partnership)
and Adults and Housing Services.
The total value is approximately £2m
over the 4 years of the framework.
Dorset Council 20mph speed limit
process and Guidance
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
A report setting out the council’s
approach to 20mph speed limits.
Harbours Governance and
functions
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
To consider a change to Dorset
Council Harbours governance and
functions making it an executive
function.

Subject / Decision

Youth Justice Plan

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Decision Maker
Dorset Council

Decision Date
14 Jul 2022

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Officer Contact

Portfolio Holder for
Children, Education,
Skills and Early Help

David Webb, Manager Dorset Combined Youth
Justice Service
david.webb@bcpcouncil.go
v.uk
Executive Director, People Children (Theresa Leavy)

Decision Date
21 Jun 2022

Portfolio Holder for
Finance, Commercial
and Capital Strategy

Jim McManus, Corporate
Director - Finance and
Commercial
J.McManus@dorsetcc.gov.
uk
Executive Director,
Corporate Development Section 151 Officer (Aidan
Dunn)

Decision Date
21 Jun 2022

Portfolio Holder for
Planning

Nick Cardnell, Senior
Planning Officer
Nick .cardnell@dorsetcounci
l.gov.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Cabinet
People
and
Health
Overview Committee
17 May 2022
3 May 2022

Portfolio Holder

To approve the Youth Justice Plan.
June

Finance report - outturn 2021/2022

Page 104

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
To consider the Council’s
performance against its revenue
budget in 2021/22 and the impact this
has upon reserves, including the
general fund.
Stinsford Neighbourhood Plan
2021 - 2038
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
Report relates to the making
(adoption) of the Stinsford
Neighbourhood Plan 2021-2038.
July

Subject / Decision

Quarter 1 Council Plan Monitoring
Report

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
26 Jul 2022

Portfolio Holder for
Corporate
Development and
Transformation

Rebecca Forrester,
Business Intelligence &
Performance
rebecca.forrester@dorsetco
uncil.gov.uk
Chief Executive (Matt
Prosser)

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
26 Jul 2022

Portfolio Holder for
Finance, Commercial
and Capital Strategy

Jim McManus, Corporate
Director - Finance and
Commercial
J.McManus@dorsetcc.gov.
uk
Executive Director,
Corporate Development Section 151 Officer (Aidan
Dunn)

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
26 Jul 2022

People
and
Health
Overview Committee
28 Jun 2022

Portfolio Holder for
Corporate
Development and
Transformation,
Portfolio Holder for
Highways, Travel and
Environment

Ed Denham, School
Admissions Manager
ed.denham@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk
Executive Director, People Children (Theresa Leavy)

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
26 Jul 2022

Place
and
Resources
Overview Committee
7 Jun 2022

Portfolio Holder for
Corporate
Development and
Transformation

Dawn Adams, Service
Manager for Commercial
and Procurement
dawn.adams@dors etcounci
l.gov.uk
Executive Director,
Corporate Development -

Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open
A quarterly report on the delivery of
the council's plan
Quarter 1 2022/23 Financial
Monitoring Report
Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open

Page 105

To consider the Quarter 2 Financial
Monitoring Report 2022/23.
Home to School and Post 16
Transport Policies
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
This is statutory requirement to
consult on the Home to School and
Post Transport policies. These are
the policies for 2022-2023 academic
year.
Modern Slavery Transparency
Statement
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Officer Contact

Subject / Decision

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder

Page 106

Currently local authorities are not
required to provide a statement under
S54 of the Modern Slavery Act (not
in-scope). Government and LGA have
advised that there will be legislative
change which will bring local
authorities in scope of S54 therefore
ahead of any change, local authorities
have been asked to ensure that they
have a transparency statement and
register it on the Governments
Modern Slavery Statement Register
before 30 September 2022.
Care Dorset update

Section 151 Officer (Aidan
Dunn)

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
26 Jul 2022

Deputy Leader and
Portfolio Holder for
Adult Social Care and
Health

Steve Veevers, Corporate
Director Operations, Adult
Care
steve.veevers@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk , Derek Hoddinott,
Programme Lead
derek .hoddinott@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk
Executive Director, People Adults

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
26 Jul 2022

Leader of the Council

Grace Evans, Head of
Legal Services and Deputy
Monitoring Officer
grace.evans@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk
Corporate Director, Legal
and Democratic Services Monitoring Officer
(Jonathan Mair)

Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open
To consider s report on the principles
of the Shareholder Agreement and
committee structure for Care Dorset.

Establishment of a Shareholder
Committee for Care Dorset
Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open
To establish a committee of the
Executive for the Council’s
shareholder function fro Care Dorset
and to agree the terms of reference
for the committee.

Officer Contact

Subject / Decision

Adult Social Care - Future Services

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder

Officer Contact

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
21 Jun 2022

Deputy Leader and
Portfolio Holder for
Adult Social Care and
Health

Steve Veevers, Corporate
Director Operations, Adult
Care
steve.veevers@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk
Executive Director, People Adults

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
6 Sep 2022

Portfolio Holder for
Finance, Commercial
and Capital Strategy

Dawn Adams, Service
Manager for Commercial
and Procurement
dawn.adams@dors etcounci
l.gov.uk
Executive Director,
Corporate Development Section 151 Officer (Aidan
Dunn)

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Fully exempt
Options for future Adult Social Care
Services
September

Page 107

Additional Procurement Forward
Plan Report - over £500k (2022 2023)
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
The Cabinet is asked to consider the
contents of this report in respect of
proposed contracts to be procured
2022-2023 which are in addition to
those on the procurement forward
plan approved by Cabinet on 1 March
2022.
October

November

Subject / Decision

Quarter 2 2022/23 Financial
Monitoring Report

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder

Officer Contact

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
1 Nov 2022

Portfolio Holder for
Finance, Commercial
and Capital Strategy

Jim McManus, Corporate
Director - Finance and
Commercial
J.McManus@dorsetcc.gov.
uk
Executive Director,
Corporate Development Section 151 Officer (Aidan
Dunn)

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
17 Jan 2023

Portfolio Holder for
Finance, Commercial
and Capital Strategy

Jim McManus, Corporate
Director - Finance and
Commercial
J.McManus@dorsetcc.gov.
uk
Executive Director,
Corporate Development Section 151 Officer (Aidan
Dunn)

Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open
To consider the Quarter 2 Financial
Monitoring Report for 2022/23.
December

Page 108

Quarter 3 2022/23 Financial
Monitoring Report
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
To consider the Quarter 3 Financial
Monitoring Report for 2022/23.

Private/Exempt Items for Decision
Each item in the plan above marked as ‘private’ will refer to one of the following paragraphs.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

7.

Information relating to any individual.
Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).
Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.
Information which reveals that the shadow council proposes:(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment.
Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation, or prosecution of crime.

Page 109
9

This page is intentionally left blank

People and Health Scrutiny Committee – Forward Plan
Description

Date of
Committee
Meeting

Requested
by

Report Author

Portfolio Holder/s

Other Meetings
(CLT, SLT,
Cabinet etc)

Annual Self
Evaluation of
Children’s
Services

To receive the
annual selfevaluation report.

19 May 2022

Claire Shiels

Portfolio Holder for
Children, Education,
Skills and Early
Help

Cabinet – 5 April
2022

Performance
Scrutiny

19 May 2022
A review of the
relevant Dorset
Council
performance
dashboard to
inform the Scrutiny
Committee’s
Forward Plan and
identify items for
deep dives.

Claire Shiels,
Corporate Director for
Commissioning,
Quality and
Partnerships
David Bonner, Service
Manager for Business
Intelligence and
Performance

Cost of Care
Information

Explanation of
what a cost of
care exercise for
adult social care
entails
Annual update on
the councils work
in response to
Prevent and
Channel
legislation. This
follows a report to
People and Health
Overview

Jonathan Price, Interim
Corporate Director for
Commissioning

Portfolio Holder for
Adult Social Care
and Health

Andy Frost, Service
Manager for
Community Safety

Portfolio Holder for
Housing and
Community Safety

Page 111

Title

Prevent and
Channel

David Bonner

19 May 2022

19 May 2022

Andy Frost,
Service
Manager for
Community
Safety

Ian Grant, Programme
Manager

Portfolio Holder for
Corporate
Development and
Change

Title

Description

Date of
Committee
Meeting

Requested
by

Report Author

Portfolio Holder/s

NHS Dentistry in
Dorset

19 July 2022

Chairman

Portfolio Holder for
Adult Social Care
and Health

ICB Set-up (TBC) An update on the
progress of the
ICS

19 July 2022

Louise Farbus, Head of
Stakeholder
Engagement, Direct
Commissioning – NHS
England
Patricia Miller, CCG
Kirsty Hillier, Public
Health

Housing Scrutiny

19 July 2022

Andrew Billany,
Corporate Director for
Housing

Portfolio Holder for
Housing and
Community Safety

Committee on the
4th May 2021.

Page 112

Report back to
committee with
findings

20 September
2022
8 November
2022
Budget meeting

9 December
2022
10 January
2023
9 March 2023

Potential
agenda items to
be considered

Portfolio Holder for
Adult Social Care
and Health

Other Meetings
(CLT, SLT,
Cabinet etc)

Title

Description

Page 113

Report Author

Portfolio Holder/s

To scrutinise the
provision of the
service

Date of
Requested
Committee
by
Meeting
TBC
Post September
2022

Dorset Centre of
Excellence

Theresa Leavy,
Executive Director
People, Children

Progress of
Implementation
of the Dorset
Care Framework

Consider whether
actions contained
in the Cabinet
report 220621
have resulted in
better outcomes
for residents and
DC

Timing TBC
(dependent on
when contract
is agreed and
following time
needed to settle
in) (November
2022 TBC)

Vivienne Broadhurst,
Executive Director
People, Adults

Portfolio Holder for
Children, Education,
Skills and Early
Help
Portfolio Holder for
Adult Care and
Health

Sufficiency of
SEND Provision

Scrutiny Review

TBC
End of 2022

Vivienne Broadhurst,
Executive Director
People, Adults

Portfolio Holder for
Adult Care and
Health

Other Meetings
(CLT, SLT,
Cabinet etc)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
People & Health Scrutiny Committee
19 May 2022
Prevent and Channel
For Review and Consultation
Portfolio Holder:

Cllr G Carr-Jones, Housing and Community Safety

Local Councillor(s):

All

Executive Director:

V Broadhurst, Executive Director of People - Adults

Report Author: Ian Grant
Title: Programme Coordinator for the Community Safety Team
Tel: 01305 228516
Email: ian.grant@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
Report Status: Part Exempt
Brief Summary:

This report has two aims; to provide an opportunity for Elected Members to
scrutinise the council’s work in compliance with the Prevent Duty 2015; and to
provide an opportunity for Elected Members to scrutinise the council’s work in
compliance with the Channel Duty Guidance 2020.
Recommendation:
To consider and comment on the Council’s work on Prevent, including the
Channel system.
Reason for Recommendation:
To support the Council in its duty to have due regard to the need to prevent
people from being drawn into terrorism and ensure it meets its statutory duties
and expectations relating to Prevent and Channel. Channel Panels are multiagency practitioner groups that come together when someone is identified as
being at risk of being drawn into extremism.

Page 115

1.

Executive Summary

1.1

Section 26 of the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 places a duty
on local authorities in the exercise of their functions, to have due regard to
the need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism.

1.2

The Prevent Duty Guidance for England and Wales sets out requirements
on local authorities to:






Work in partnership to co-ordinate Prevent activity
Assess the risk of individuals being drawn into terrorism
Develop action plans relating to Prevent
Train staff
Ensure local authority resources are not used to provide a platform
for extremists or to disseminate extremist views
 Collaborate with other local authorities on Prevent issues
 Act as priority areas for Prevent (specific local authorities only)
 Work with other agencies and organisations supporting children
1.3

Officers assess progress against Prevent duties each year using the
Home Office ‘Prevent Duty Toolkit for Local Authorities’ as a guide. The
latest assessment shows that Dorset Council is meeting its duties, though
some work is ongoing and needs to be regularly updated.

1.4

Channel Panels are multi-agency practitioner groups that come together
when someone is identified as being at risk of being drawn into extremism.
Panels put support packages in place to steer individuals away from
extremist activity.

1.5

In November 2020, the government released its ‘Channel Duty Guidance’
which sets out new expectations for local authorities. As a result, new
arrangements were put in place in strengthen Dorset’s Channel Panel.

1.6

Officers assess progress against Channel duties each year using the
Home Office ‘Annual Assurance Statement’ as a guide. The latest
assessment shows that Dorset Council is meeting its duties, though some
work is ongoing and needs to be finalised.

Page 116

1.6

The Home Office recognises that local authority elected members play a
key role in local Prevent delivery. They have published a ‘Prevent Elected
Members Handbook’ that explains the Prevent programme in-depth, helps
build understanding and can be used in meetings and when engaging with
local communities.

2.

Financial Implications
Financial implications are considered minimal, with work being picked up
through existing budget arrangements.

3.

Climate Implications
None.

4.

Well-being and Health Implications
None.

5.

Other Implications
Community safety, as set out in the report.

6.

Risk Assessment

6.1

HAVING CONSIDERED: the risks associated with this decision; the level
of risk has been identified as:
Current Risk: Low
Residual Risk: Low

7.

Equalities Impact Assessment
The Council’s work on Prevent and Channel is directed by Government
legislation and statutory guidance. It is assumed the Government has
completed relevant equality impact assessments on these.

8.

Appendices
Appendix 1 – Dorset Council Channel Annual Assurance Statement
Appendix 2 – Prevent Elected Members Handbook’
Appendix 3 – Channel Panel Case Study

Page 117

9.

Background Papers

Home Office e-learning on Prevent - here
Prevent Duty Guidance - here
Channel Duty Guidance - here
10.

Introduction

10.1

Section 26 of the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 places a duty
on local authorities in the exercise of their functions to have due regard to
the need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism.

10.2

Requirements include working with partners, developing action plans,
assessing risks, training staff and running Channel Panels.

11.

Progress Against Duties

11.1

Officers assess progress against Prevent duties each year using the ‘Home
Office Prevent Duty Toolkit for Local Authorities’ as a guide (summary
provided at 11.2 and 11.3). The latest assessment, which includes
consultation with the Home Office, shows that Dorset Council is meeting its
duties, though some work is ongoing and needs to be regularly updated.

11.2

The risk assessment process is annual and action plans require regular
monitoring and updating annually. Staff training is assessed and adapted
as needed to ensure it meets the standards set by the Home Office.
Safeguarding policies and procedures cover working with other agencies
and organisations working with children.

11.3

The Council is required to ensure that publicly owned venues and resources
do not provide a platform for extremists and are not used to disseminate
extremist views. ICT have been through a process of harmonising security
software for Dorset Council and have provided assurance that adequate
security software is in place. This includes Libraries who have IT equipment
that is normally accessible to the public. Most council owned buildings have
covenants written into tenancies and leases to prevent extremism and/or
radicalisation being promoted. Any new agreements or those under review
will be picked up as and when required.

12.

Channel Panel Arrangements

12.1

Channel Panels are multi-agency practitioner groups that come together
when someone is identified as being at risk of being drawn into extremism.
Panels put support packages in place to steer individuals away from
extremist activity.

Page 118

12.2

In November 2020, the government released its Channel Duty Guidance
which sets out new expectations for local authorities, and as a result, the
council has made the following changes:
 One Channel Panel in place, covering Adults and Children’s.
 Channel Panel meet monthly, even where they aren’t live cases, so
learning, best practice, and other issues can be discussed.
 Nominated Chair and Deputy Chair.
 Strengthened Prevent oversight to include regular Prevent meetings to
consider best practice, learning and latest developments.
 Created Terms of Reference for Channel Panel which are contained in
the council’s constitution.
 Undertaken an annual assurance statement on how the council is
meeting its Channel duties and submitted this to the Home Office.

12.3

An area still outstanding is to create a Personal Information Sharing
Agreement (PISA) for Channel, however, work is in train to resolve this.

12.4

Within Dorset Council, it was agreed previously that updates on work be
taken through the Council’s internal governance arrangements. This
includes annual updates to the People and Health Scrutiny Committee.

12.5

Partnership governance arrangements are through the pan-Dorset Prevent
Partnership Group which reports to the overarching pan-Dorset CONTEST
Board (CONTEST is the UK’s counter terrorism strategy).

13.

Elected Members and Raising Awareness

13.1

The Home Office recognises that local authority elected members play a
key role in local Prevent delivery.

13.2

In 2020 Dorset Council Councillors received training on Prevent and a
briefing on the Council’s work. In response to the new requirements, annual
updates on Prevent and Channel work are taken through the Council’s
relevant overview and scrutiny committees.

13.3

A summary of a local case study which has been through Channel has been
appended (appendix 3) to this report. This is to allow Elected Members to
understand the role of Channel and how it has worked to support an
individual at risk of becoming radicalised.

13.3

The
that
and
The

Home Office have published a ‘Prevent Elected Members Handbook’
explains the Prevent programme in-depth, helps build understanding
can be used in meetings and when engaging with local communities.
handbook is provided at appendix 2.

Page 119

This page is intentionally left blank

Channel Panel Annual Assurance Statement – 2021-22
INTRODUCTION

This form is split into the following 5 sections, all to
be completed by the most appropriate party:

This AAS template 2021-22 should be completed with reference to the accompanying explanatory notes Annex B.
This assurance statement captures local authority compliance with the requirements laid out under sections 36 – 41 of the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 (CTSA) (as
amended by the Counter Terrorism Border Security Act 2019) relating to Channel panels and improving outcomes for those identified individuals who are vulnerable to being drawn
into terrorism. This assurance statement forms part of a self-assessment for local authorities capturing Channel practice within each local authority area and levels of compliance
against aspects of Channel delivery articulated in the Channel Statutory Duty Guidance 2020. Section 36 (7) of the CTSA states that panels must have regard to this guidance.
This is the second annual assurance statement issued to local authorities, so will be used to compare against the baseline submission for local authority Channel practice from last year
(2020/21); The information gathered from this statement will also be used to identify where additional support to Channel panels needs to be undertaken, direct Homeland Security
Group (HSG) support, or provide a trigger for further reviews or observations, such as dip sampling. The statement forms part of the strengthened quality assurance framework for
Channel panels across England and Wales with findings reported into HSG business assurance arrangements.
Form instructions

Page 121

The following tabs set out key areas of control with assurance statements relating to standards to be achieved and options for assessment. Each local authority is asked to state the
extent to which they believe their authority meets each of these standards and indicate the relevant RAG rating based on the definitions below. In the event of a combined panel it is
essential that each separate authority serviced by the combined panel is required to complete the statement.
Green = Able to give reasonable assurance that the key area is being applied.
Amber = Able to give reasonable assurance that the key area is being met. However, issues have arisen that may impact on this, and further explanation is provided in the assurance
statement.
Red = Unable to give reasonable assurance that the key area is being met. Reasons for this are provided in the assurance statement.
The evidential statement box is an opportunity for examples of ‘good practice’ to be recorded and provide assurance to HSG that the standard has been addressed. Where the
assessment indicates that improvements are required, please:
• Provide an outline of the steps needed with a timescale for completion is required.
• Use the drop down box to select the RAG rating against the statement most applicable to your current position
• Provide a basis for the assessment and proposals (including a timeframe) for addressing areas of improvement.
• For panels where no recent cases have been held, a rating is still required to provide assurance that processes are in place to progress future cases.
The statement should represent an honest critique of the arrangements in place at the end of the financial year 2020/21. Whilst evidence should be available to support your
assessment, this is not required to accompany the statement submission, but should be reasonably accessible.
Sign off instructions
Chief Executive or Strategic Director level sign off is required for this assurance statement. In the final tab labelled 'FINISH - Compulsory signature', the Local authority Chief
Executive/ Strategic Director needs to electronically sign in the given box marked with an 'X'.
Completion is required by all local authorities in England and Wales. Please return completed statements to Channel@homeoffice.gov.uk by 18th April 2022.

Section 1 Legal Requirements under CTSA 2015
Section 2 Strategic Governance

Section 3 Chairing skills / core competencies
Section 4 Panel Function and Form
Section 5 Data Protection

1.1 A panel is in place for the area (or
combined area) with the sole
purpose of providing support to
those individuals who are identified
as being vulnerable to being drawn
into terrorism.

1.2 Membership of the panel
includes the local authority
and police for that area which
is wholly or partly within the
authority.

1. Legal Requirements under CTSA 2015
1.3 Partners of the panel (as listed in
1.4 Partners of the panel have
Schedule 7 CTSA) act in cooperation with regard to the Channel duty
panel in carrying out its functions under
guidance issued by the Secretary
section 36(4) CTSA. This includes the giving of State.
of information to determine whether an
individual should be referred to the panel
(section 38(3)).

1.5 In the instance of combined panels,
appropriate representatives from each local
authority and Policing area covered within
the combined panel geography attend panel
meetings.

[All references to panel partners comprise those identified by
the Channel chair, in addition to partners listed within Schedule
7.]

Green/ Amber/ Red

Please include here any further details behind any
amber/red entries or examples of good practice

Please include here areas for improvement and
timescales for completion

Green
Single Channel Panel is in place, covering
adults and children. Channel Panel meets
monthly, even where there aren't live
cases, to enable continuity, sharing best
practice and learning points.

Green Channel Panel is in place,
Single
covering adults and children.
Channel Panel meets monthly,
even where there aren't live
cases, to enable continuity,

Green
Single Channel Panel is in place, covering
adults and children. Channel Panel meets
monthly, even where there aren't live cases, to
enable continuity, sharing best practice and
learning points. Partners of the panel include

Green
Yes partners have regard to the
guidance and discuss when making
decisions on referrals
N/A

Page 122

2. Strategic Governance

Green/ Amber/ Red

2.1 Channel, as a local authority
statutory function (Section 36 of
the CTSA), is included within the
local authority’s constitution.

2.2 Channel Panel activity is overseen by
a local strategic multi-agency
partnership board where Channel is a
specified agenda item. The Channel
chair attends this board.

Green

Green
Green
The Dorset CONTEST Board has overall
responsibility for the local overview and
monitoring of partners implementation of
Channel and the wider Prevent duty.
No the chair does not hold responsibility for
Officers in the council with responsibility for the channel planel delivery or chair

Please include here any further details behind
any amber/red entries or examples of good
Channel Panel Terms of Reference
practice
are in the Council's Constitution.

Page 123

Please include here areas for improvement
and timescales for completion

2.3 The chair for strategic governance
does not hold responsibility for elements
of Channel panel delivery or hold the
Channel chair function.

2.4 An escalation process to
2.5 Channel (as part of Prevent reporting) is
strategic governance is in place included within the local authority’s
for the Channel Panel. This
governance arrangements.
process is publicised to panel
members/partners and referred
to in any relevant governance
public facing websites

Green
The Dorset CONTEST Board has
overall responsibility for the local
overview and monitoring of
partners implementation of
Channel and the wider Prevent

Green
The Dorset CONTEST Board has overall
responsibility for the local overview and
monitoring of partners implementation of
Channel and the wider Prevent duty. Officers in
the council with responsibility for Channel /

3.1 The Chief Executive (or equivalent Head of Paid 3.2 The Chair and deputy chair hold
Service) has designated local authority officers as sufficient authority to direct multinamed chair and deputy chair, details of whom
agency delivery.
have been provided to HSG.
[Changes to designated Channel chairs/deputy chairs must be notified to
HSG via Channel@homeoffice.gov.uk]

Page 124

Green/ Amber/ Red

Please include here any further details behind any
amber/red entries or examples of good practice

Please include here areas for improvement and
timescales for completion

Jonathan Price, Interim Corporate Director – Adult
Social Care (Commissioning)
Jonathan.Price@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
b.Named Channel deputy chair and email contact:
Paula Golding, Head of Locality & Strategy - Dorchester
& West Locality paula.golding@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk Green

3. Chairing skills / core competencies

Page 125

3.3 Chair and deputy chair have previous 3.4 Chair and deputy chair have a
experience in chairing multi-agency panels sound understanding of Channel,
or meetings.
Prevent and CONTEST strategies.

3.5 Chair and deputy Chair have a degree of
separation from any Home Office Prevent
funded post in the local authority.

Green

Green

Green

Dorset does not receive any Home Office
Prevent funded posts.

3.6 Chair and deputy Chair are
committed to completing training
programmes requested by HSG.

Page 126

Green

4. Panel Function & Form

Green/ Amber/ Red

Page 127

Please include here any further details behind
any amber/red entries or examples of good
practice

Please include here areas for improvement
and timescales for completion

4.1 The Panel assesses the extent to which
identified individuals are vulnerable to being
drawn into terrorism and creates a support
plan to address identified vulnerabilities.

4.2 The support plan for individuals is
4.3 All standing panel members are
kept under review to ensure individual actively involved in panel discussion,
needs are being met in line with
decisions and delivery.
identified or changing vulnerabilities.
The panel assesses the impact of its
actions or inactions when reviewing the
support plan.

4.4 Panel meets monthly (within 20
days of the Police Gateway
Assessment) to oversee all Channel
cases in their area where there are
live cases for discussion, referrals for
decision or case reviews to be
undertaken.

Green

Green

Green

Green

Channel Panel meets monthly even
where there aren't live cases. Included in
our revised terms of reference.

4. Panel Function & Form
4.5 Information is effectively shared
between panel members and partners and
appropriate processes are in place to
facilitate this (e.g. ISA).

Amber

Page 128

Personal Information Sharing Agreement is
currently being created and due to be
implemented shortly.

Within 3 months

4.6 Consent to receive support is
obtained in writing and no later than
3 months after the panel first adopts
a case and offers an individual
support.

4.7 Consent is informed, explicit and freely given
without coercion or duress and processes are in place
to provide panel assurance that these requirements are
being met.
[Consent to access Channel support should not feature as part of any process
whereby a sanction is imposed for non-compliance (e.g Child safeguarding
arrangements, Probation or Youth Offending licence conditions, or court orders)

Green
Green
Consent in writing has been obtained
from all subjects over the past 12
months using the HO template form.
The only issue we had was that the form
hadn’t been branded to Dorset and

4.8 Vulnerability Assessment
Frameworks (VAF) are updated by
the Channel Case Officer at least
every 3 months or when any
significant event impacts on the
individual’s vulnerability to being
drawn into terrorism.

4.9 The initial VAF and subsequent
updates are circulated to all relevant
panel members and partners in
advance of the meeting.

Green

Green
Completed by case officer and provided
to Channel admin prior to the meeting
who should circulate.

nction & Form

Page 129

4.10 Home Office approved
Intervention Providers are
considered for all cases where
support is to be offered and the
rationale for their use or preclusion
is documented in the minutes.

4.11 The panel, in conjunction with
counter terrorism police, keep the
safeguarding risk and the terrorism
risk under review when considering
actions taken or proposed.
Mitigating actions to reduce these
risks are considered.

4.12 Channel minutes accurately
reflect decisions made by the panel
and a rationale for those decisions.
Minutes are taken by a minute taker
who is not a member or partner of
the panel.

4.13 All adopted cases are reviewed by the
panel at least 6 and 12 months after closure
which includes police checks, relevant service
involvement, change of circumstances
(including making family contact where
appropriate), concerns arising since case
closure and contact with initial referrer.

4.14 Channel panel is proactive in
considering families (where
appropriate) within the assessment
process and the support offer.

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green
From the recently implemented friends
and family toolkit, there is now an
information leaflet that the case officer
will hand/send to relevant family
members.

4.15 There is a structured, agreed
process for providing updates to
family members. Each case is
appointed a liaison for the family
where appropriate.

Green

Page 130

Page 131

5.1 Management of data is
compliant with the Data
Protection Act 2018 and General
Data Protection Regulations
2018.

5.2 Local Data Protection Information
Notices have been updated to reflect
Channel Panel functions and use of
personal data.

Green/ Amber/ Red

Amber

Amber

Please include here any further details behind
any amber/red entries or examples of good
practice

Personal Information Sharing
Agreement is currently being
Personal Information Sharing Agreement is
created and due to be implemented currently being created and due to be
shortly.
implemented shortly.

Please include here areas for improvement
and timescales for completion

Within 3 months

Within 3 months

5. Data Protection
5.3 Local data protection policies are
being followed for Channel data stored
locally

Page 132

Amber
Personal Information Sharing Agreement is
currently being created and due to be
implemented shortly.

Within 3 months

5.4 Panel receives assurances from the case
officer that all relevant Channel case
documents including minutes, VAFs,
Intervention Provider reports and support
plans are uploaded onto the HSG-approved
Case Management Information System
[refer to explanatory notes for completion
requirements]

5.5 All individuals receiving support from
Channel are signposted to the Home Office
Channel Data Privacy Notice for the HSGapproved Case Management Information
System.

Green

Green

The consent form has been in use for some time
and this includes the relevant signposting.

This assurance statement provides an accurate assessment of compliance with Channel panel requirements for the financial year 2021/22, as detailed within the CTSA
2015 and Channel Duty guidance 2020. A commitment is made for those areas identified for improvement to be progressed within the timeframes stated.
The Local authority Chief Executive/ Strategic Director needs to electronically sign in the box below marked with an 'X'.
Double click on the X below to open the signatory window. The box may automatically let you sign it, which you can do so by using your mouse to scribe your
signature. If not, it'll ask you to select an image of your signature, if you already have one please upload. If not, to draw up a signature, open up the Paint app and using
the pen/ pencil function draw your signature and save as an image/ photo in your documents. Then please open this form back up again, double click on the signatory
'X' and attach the file in the box specified.
Local authority Chief Executive/ Strategic Director Signatory:
Signed

X

Date ……………………………………………….

Position ………………………………………………………………

Page 133

Local Authority……………………………………………………….
Please indicate if part of a combined panel………………………………………………………………………………….

Please return completed statements to Channel@homeoffice.gov.uk by 18th April 2022.

This page is intentionally left blank

PREVENT
Handbook for Elected Members

Page 135

CONTENTS
The UK Counter-Terrorism Landscape

3

What is Prevent?

4

a) The Prevent Delivery Model

5

(i) Tackling the Causes of Radicalisation

5

(ii) Early Intervention

6

(iii) Rehabilitation

9

b) The Prevent Duty

9

c) Prevent, Counter-Extremism and Integration

9

Local Authority Partnership Self-Assessment Tool

10

The Role of Elected Members

11

Resources Available to Elected Members

13

Myths and Misconceptions

14

Glossary

15

Further Information

16

Page 136

Prevent - Handbook for Elected Members
The purpose of Prevent is to safeguard vulnerable individuals from becoming terrorists or
supporting terrorism, by engaging with people vulnerable to radicalisation and protecting them
from being targeted by terrorist recruiters.
Prevent uses a similar approach to public health models, which focus on prevention rather than
treatment. Focusing solely on confronting ideologies alone will not undermine terrorism. Prevent
provides holistic support to address some of the personal and social conditions which make
vulnerable people receptive to radicalisation.
Alongside other public-sector bodies such as policing, healthcare and education institutions,
Local Authorities play a vital role, and have a legal duty to implement Prevent to protect
vulnerable people and manage the threat from terrorism.
As leaders and representatives of local citizens, Elected Members have the reach and
understanding to create and maintain meaningful relationships with their communities. Although
tackling radicalisation may appear to be distant from the typical day-to-day role of Elected
Members, the delivery of Prevent requires the support of local communities, local partnerships
and local leaders to be implemented effectively.
This document provides information for Local Authority Elected Members about the context,
purpose and implementation of Prevent. It looks at the important role that Local Authorities and
Elected Members can play at a local level, and how they can lead the vital work that is necessary
to safeguard individuals against radicalisation.

Page 137
2

THE UK COUNTER-TERRORISM LANDSCAPE
The Threat
• The UK is currently facing a number of different terrorist threats, ranging from Daesh and Al’Qa’idainspired to right-wing terrorism.
• The current level of threat from terrorism in the UK is substantial - which means an attack is considered
likely.
• The threat has mainly been caused by Daesh (also known as Islamic State of Iraq and the Levant - ISIL).
Their ability to direct, enable and inspire attacks makes the group the most significant global terrorist
threat.
• There is also a growing threat from right-wing terrorism. The Government has banned three right-wing
terrorist groups - National Action, Sonnenkrieg Division (SKD) and Feuerkrieg Division (FKD).
• Since 2017, there have been nine Daesh-inspired attacks and two right-wing terrorist attacks in the UK.
These attacks have resulted in the tragic loss of many lives, as well as severe injuries and psychological
impacts for victims.
• Terrorism also represents a huge cost to the country financially, with the direct and indirect costs of the
2017 attacks alone running into the billions of pounds.
• Some online spaces are used by terrorists to spread sophisticated propaganda designed to radicalise,
recruit and inspire people, and to incite or provide information to enable terrorist attacks. Since 2010,
over 310,000 pieces of illegal terrorist material have been removed from the internet by the CounterTerrorism Internet Referral Unit (CTIRU), a body set up by the Home Office to help counter the spread of
terrorist propaganda online.

CONTEST
• The UK combats the threats from terrorism through CONTEST, the UK’s counter-terrorism strategy. The
aim of CONTEST is to reduce the risk of terrorism to the UK, its citizens and interests overseas so that
people can go about their lives freely and with confidence.
• The most recent version was published in June 2018 as a result of a review of all aspects of counterterrorism. The review was undertaken to ensure that Britain has the best response to the heightened
threat, seen through the attacks in London and Manchester in 2017.

The framework for CONTEST, is made up of four ‘P’s:
Prevent:

to stop people
becoming
terrorists or
supporting
terrorism

Pursue:

to stop terrorist
attacks

to strengthen our
protection against
a terrorist attack

Page 138
3

Protect:

Prepare:

to mitigate the
impact of a
terrorist attack

WHAT IS PREVENT?
The purpose of Prevent is to safeguard people who are at risk of radicalisation and to stop them from
being exploited by people who would want them to support terrorism. It is also about building resilience in
communities through a variety of projects and civil society organisations.
The Prevent programme uses early intervention to protect individuals and communities from the harms
of terrorism. Prevent works in a similar way to programmes designed to safeguard people from other
harms, such as gangs, drug abuse, and physical and sexual abuse, by tackling the underlying causes of
radicalisation. Intervention support for vulnerable individuals is both confidential and voluntary. Prevent is
delivered through a wide network of partners within communities, civil society organisations and publicsector institutions.
Prevent work also extends to supporting the rehabilitation and disengagement of those already involved
in terrorism through the Desistance and Disengagement Programme. This programme is a new element of
Prevent that provides a range of intensive tailored interventions and practical support, designed to tackle
the drivers of radicalisation. Support could include mentoring, psychological support, theological and
ideological advice.

PREVENT IS:

• An extension of existing multi-agency safeguarding
principles
• Working with communities and local civil society to
build resilience to terrorist narratives

PREVENT IS NOT:
• A spying mechanism

• Focussed on any particular religion or ethnicity
• Stifling free speech in higher education

• Promoting debate in schools and universities
• Tackling terrorism in all its forms

Over 310,000 pieces of terrorist material removed
from the internet, since February 2010

Success in
Preventing
Terrorism

203 community based projects were delivered in
2018/19 reaching over 142,000 participants
Over 100 children safeguarded by the Courts from being
taken to conflict zones in Iraq and Syria since 2015

2,200 people adopted onto Channel since 2012
Prevent training has been completed

over 1.1 million times

Page 139
4

The Prevent Delivery Model
Prevent is risk-based and proportionate. The Prevent delivery model sets out how a broad range
of Prevent initiatives tackle both the causes and risk factors that can lead an individual to become
radicalised, and directly support those who are at risk through early intervention. Prevent also aims to
rehabilitate the relatively small number of higher risk individuals who have already engaged in terrorism.

Providing support to those already engaged to
disengage and rehabilitate.

Rehabilitation
of those already
engaged in terrorism

Using safeguarding principles to provide tailored
multi-agency support to those identified as most
vulnerable to radicalisation e.g. counselling,
theological mentoring.

Early intervention
Safeguard and support
those most at risk of
radicalisation

Working online and offline to empower
communities and individuals e.g. community
engagement, civil society organisations.

Tackle causes of radicalisation

Tackling the causes of Radicalisation
Civil Society Organisations – what is their role in the delivery of
Prevent?

Prevent works with a broad range of civil society organisations. In 2019/20 there were 226 communitybased projects across the country with over 142,000 participants, addressing vulnerabilities from social
isolation to substance misuse.
These civil society organisations play a vital role in building community resilience to extremist narratives
and increase the understanding of the risks of radicalisation across the community. They can be key to
providing holistic support to vulnerable individuals.

Case study: Prevent-funded Civil Society Organisations
Kikit Pathways is a Prevent-funded Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) specialist drug and
alcohol support service that provides a range of services to meet the needs of vulnerable people.
Based in the West Midlands, Kikit work with mosques and communities to provide mentoring and
support for individuals who are vulnerable to terrorist recruiters, particularly those suffering problems
with drug and alcohol abuse – who can be targeted by recruiters. Kikit then help to establish referral
pathways to the relevant safeguarding services, including Channel early intervention support where
appropriate, so that individuals can get the assistance that they need.
The project provides specialist practitioner support and tailored mentoring for those exhibiting signs
of radicalisation and grievance and, once assessed, beneficiaries are provided
with holistic support to reduce their vulnerabilities. Kikit have a strong track record,
including in preventing people travelling to Syria to fight for Daesh.

Page 140

5

See some examples of the civil society organisations in your local area below:
(Please fill the below section in with examples of civil society organisations in your local area including,
who they are, what they do and how they can help vulnerable individuals).
Example 1

Example 2

Early Intervention
What is Channel?
Channel is an early intervention safeguarding programme and the element of Prevent which provides
bespoke support to children and adults identified as vulnerable to radicalisation, before their vulnerabilities
are exploited by terrorist recruiters who would encourage them to support terrorism, and before they
become involved in criminal terrorist related activity.
Channel works like other safeguarding interventions, identifying individuals at risk through referral,
assessing the nature and extent of the risk and then by developing a support plan for the individual
concerned. It is a voluntary and confidential programme.
Channel takes a multi-agency approach, involving a range of partners including the local authority, the
police, education, social services, health providers and others to tailor the support plan to the individual’s
needs.
The type of support available is wide-ranging and bespoke. It can include help with accessing other
mainstream services, such as education or career advice, dealing with mental or emotional health issues,
drug/alcohol abuse, and theological or ideological mentoring from a specialist Channel Intervention
Provider, who works with the individual on a one-on-one basis.
In 2018/19, 561 individuals were adopted as Channel cases nationally. Of these, almost half were referred
for concerns related to right-wing extremism, higher than the number who were referred for Daesh or Al
Qa’ida-inspired extremism.
In 2018/19, 11% of Prevent referrals came from Local Authorities, while the education sector accounted
for 30% and the Police 29%. Of individuals adopted as Channel cases in 2018/19, 88% were male and
66% were aged 20 years or under.

Page 141
6

Prevent and Channel referral process

PREVENT CASE
MANAGEMENT

Person with concerns about an individual who may be radicalised makes a referral through their
local authority safeguarding hub by following local safeguarding practices, or to the police
Referral arrives with police who screen and assess for genuine vulnerability
Is the case under investigation?
NO

Are there genuine vulnerabilities?
YES

Is the vulnerability CT-related?

YES

Referral not appropriate for Prevent, in most cases

NO

Required no further action

NO

Referred to mainstream services as required

CHANNEL

YES

Multi-agency Channel panel, chaired by the local authority, gathers further information from partners and meets to consider the referrals, agree level of vulnerability and what kind of support may
be required, if any
Support provided if appropriate

Page 142
7

Case study: Channel intervention for ‘Leon’
Leon was referred by teachers to Prevent at the age of 15, after searching for extreme right-wing
material on the school internet. He had also been disclosing to staff that he felt angry and intimidated
because he is a minority in his classes.
Leon disclosed that he hates all Muslims because ‘they are all ISIS’, and that he was part of an
extreme right-wing group on Facebook. He also expressed his interest in football violence and gang
culture, and that he felt picked on by teachers.
Through Prevent, a range of actions were undertaken as part of Leon’s package of support, including
providing mental health services to treat his anxiety and insomnia, a specialist Channel mentor who
was able to discuss the origin of his views, and advice on internet safety for his parents. The local
Prevent team also helped Leon enrol on the work placement scheme of a national construction
company, which included support from a careers mentor, and onto the Premier League Kicks
programme with his local football team.
Leon’s case was successfully concluded and his behaviour in school noticeably
improved, with no further issues of him being involved in anti-social behaviour. His
mother expressed her gratitude for the intervention, saying “without the intervention
from the Prevent team my son wouldn’t be on the path he is now on”.

Case study: Channel intervention for ‘Misbah’
Misbah came across extremist propaganda online while struggling with his identity as a British Muslim
teenager. He started to become supportive of the extremist material he was viewing online as it made
him feel part of a bigger cause and gave him the direction he had been lacking.
After making worrying comments in class about terrorism, Misbah’s teachers became concerned
about him and his vulnerability to radicalisation, and he was referred to the local authority Prevent
team.
Through the voluntary and confidential Channel early intervention support, Misbah was offered a
specialist mentor who met with him weekly and with whom he discussed a range of issues from
theology to his future ambitions.
The mentoring allowed Misbah to gain valuable knowledge and exposed him to new and challenging
ideas which he may not have had the opportunity to consider otherwise. Misbah found it easy to relate
to his mentor, who had a similar background, and they forged a relationship of mutual trust.
This, coupled with support from a teacher at his school, ensured that Misbah
had positive influences which helped him overcome the negative ones, and he
was able to reconsider his worldview.
Misbah went on to study interfaith reconciliation at university. He reported
that he now has a clear direction in life and is considering a career in counterextremism after graduation.

Page 143
8

Rehabilitation

What is the Desistance and Disengagement Programme?
The Desistance and Disengagement Programme focuses on rehabilitating individuals who have been
involved in terrorism or terrorism-related activity and reducing the risk they pose to the UK.
The programme works by providing tailored interventions which support individuals to stop participating
in terrorism-related activity (desist) and to move away from terrorist ideology and ways of thinking
(disengage). The programme aims to address the root causes of terrorism, build resilience, and contribute
towards the deradicalisation of individuals.

The Prevent Duty
The Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 introduced the Prevent Statutory Duty. The Duty requires
Local Authorities, schools, colleges, universities, health bodies, prisons and probation and police to
consider the need to safeguard individuals from being drawn into terrorism, embedding Prevent as a part
of their wider existing day-to-day safeguarding duties. The roll out of the Duty has been supported with
guidance for each sector and a dedicated training package.

Prevent, Counter-Extremism and Integration
HM Government’s Prevent Strategy, Counter-Extremism Strategy and Integrated Communities Strategy
all play important roles in tackling terrorism, challenging extremism and building stronger, more cohesive
communities that are resilient to divisive narratives. Whilst these strategies are complementary, they each
have distinct, separate objectives:
• The Prevent Strategy aims to safeguard those vulnerable to radicalisation, to stop them becoming
terrorists or supporting terrorism.
• The Counter-Extremism Strategy 2015 aims to protect the values which underpin our society - the
rule of law, individual liberty, democracy, mutual respect, tolerance and understanding of different faiths
and beliefs – by tackling extremism in all its forms. It addresses the promotion of hatred, the erosion of
women’s rights, the spread of intolerance, and the isolation of communities all of which can increase the
risk of hate crime.
• The Integrated Communities Strategy 2018 aims to create communities where people, whatever their
background, live, work, learn and socialise together, and where many religions, cultures and opinions
are celebrated. This is built upon shared rights, responsibilities and opportunities and underpinned by
the shared British values that champion tolerance, freedom and equality of opportunity.
Integrated communities provide an important protective factor against the threat of terrorism, because of
the association between support for divisive terrorist narratives and the deliberate rejection of strong and
integrated societies. Marginalised communities who do not or cannot participate in civil society are more
likely to be vulnerable to radicalisation.

Page 144
9

LOCAL AUTHORITY PARTNERSHIP SELFASSESSMENT TOOL
As Prevent is largely a locally-led programme, Local Authorities are at the forefront of tackling
radicalisation using their local knowledge, expertise and networks. While national Government provides a
framework, guidance, support and funding for Prevent, it is essential that local partners develop responses
to tackling radicalisation that are tailored to their local area.
To enable effective delivery of Prevent, the Home Office has worked with a range of local partners to
produce the Prevent Duty Toolkit. It has been designed to enable Local Authorities to assess Prevent
delivery in their local area against statutory requirements and examples of best practice from peers around
the country.
All areas are expected to have Prevent plans in place that are proportionate to the local risk – that might
mean some areas where the risk of radicalisation is higher should plan to exceed the delivery outlined in
the benchmarks below.
Here is a summary of key benchmarks expected of Local Authorities in delivering Prevent activity:
1. The organisation has a local risk assessment process reviewed against the Counter Terrorism Local Profile.
2. There is an effective multi-agency partnership board in place to oversee Prevent delivery in the area.
3. The area has an agreed ‘Prevent Partnership Plan’ – this is a local delivery plan, developed against an
assessment of local risk, which drives activity where it is most needed in an area.
4. There is an agreed process in place for the referral of those identified as being at risk of radicalisation.
5. There is a Channel Panel in place, meeting monthly, with representation from all relevant sectors.
6. There is a Prevent problem solving process in place to disrupt radicalising influences.
7. There is a training programme in place for relevant personnel, mostly frontline staff such as nurses and
teachers – so that they understand the signs of radicalisation and the referral process for vulnerable
individuals.
8. There is a venue hire policy in place, to ensure that premises are not used by radicalising influencers, and an
effective IT policy in place to prevent the access of extremist materials by users of the networks.
9. There is engagement with a range of communities and civil society groups, both faith-based and secular, to
encourage an open and transparent dialogue on the Prevent Duty and local delivery.
10. There is a communications plan in place to proactively communicate and increase transparency of the reality
and impact of Prevent work and support frontline staff and communities to understand what Prevent looks like
9 in practice.

Full details corresponding to the benchmarks are provided in the Prevent Duty Toolkit, which was
published by the Home Office in September 2018 (a web address can be found in the ‘Further Information’
section of this document).
Page 145
10

ROLE OF ELECTED MEMBERS
Elected Members are crucial for successful delivery of Prevent, by overseeing and scrutinising local plans
which ensure that citizens are kept safe, and vulnerable people are given safeguarding support from the
harms of radicalisation. Elected Members also play a critical role in representing members of their local
community. They act as both a voice of local citizens; raising issues and concerns, whilst speaking on
behalf of the Local Authority to communicate how policies and programmes operate.
There are three key roles for Elected Members in shaping and delivering local Prevent activity:
1) Leadership and Strategic Direction
Elected members can use their authority and legitimacy to challenge extremist narratives in the community
by building community trust and ultimately, community resilience. In this vein, they can work with
individuals and the Local Authority to amplify counter messaging to those aiming to harm the community
and misrepresent its values through extremism.
Council Leader
The council leader has overall responsibility for setting the strategic direction of Prevent in their area. As
a figurehead for the local area, the Leader of the Council has responsibility for ensuring understanding of
Prevent services and activities locally. By explaining Prevent’s position in the context of wider safeguarding
practices, the Leader can become best positioned to talk about Prevent as a vital means to protect people
from those looking to harm vulnerable individuals and protect the local community’s values. The Leader
can also consider the risks, demands and resourcing of Prevent in the broader context of service delivery
across the borough.
Portfolio Holder
The portfolio holder with responsibility for Prevent plays a vital role in the delivery of Prevent locally. They
ensure that the local authority is fulfilling its statutory obligations in delivering the Prevent Duty, through
holding to account officials and supporting those holders of related portfolios (for example, Children’s
Services or Health) to meet their responsibilities. The portfolio holder should seek to stay updated on
the work of the multi-agency partnership boards with responsibility for the governance of Prevent. They
can provide advice and insight into how Prevent should be delivered in line with the Council’s strategic
direction of travel.

Page 146
11

2) Community Dialogue
As representatives of their local communities, Elected Members often understand the challenges,
tensions and concerns facing the local area. This means that they are well positioned to listen to and
raise community concerns, and to be identified as the public face of Prevent delivery for the area. This
provides the opportunity for Elected Members to talk to communities openly about Prevent, to listen to
their concerns, explain the duty and role of the Local Authority in protecting individuals, and help to raise
awareness about referral mechanisms and supportive interventions.
Elected Members should have the confidence and knowledge to engage the community, address
concerns and answer questions about Prevent in any forum. By acting as the point of contact between
the community and council through ward surgeries, regular emails and general local visibility, Elected
Members can help diffuse tensions and misconceptions about Prevent. In some areas, Elected Members
chair regular Prevent Advisory Groups; regular community platforms that provide the public with
opportunities to play a role in shaping local Prevent plans, plus forums for dialogue.
It is vital that Elected Members understand their local Prevent referral processes in order to give the best
advice and assurance to vulnerable individuals, and to those concerned about those individuals. Given
this, Elected Members can enhance the number and quality of Prevent referrals from the community
allowing an increasing number of vulnerable individuals to be supported.
3) Scrutiny
Elected Members may also consider their role in providing transparency and accountability in delivering
Prevent through formal scrutiny procedures. By holding to account the local delivery of Prevent,
improvements can be made to implementation, and communities can be reassured by Increased
transparency.
Elected Members have the opportunity to scrutinise the local implementation of Prevent as part of a
Scrutiny Committee - these offer a continuous review and evaluation of local Prevent programmes.

Page 147
12

RESOURCES AVAILABLE TO ELECTED MEMBERS
Elected Members should be able to access:
• A version of the local area’s Counter Terrorism Local Profile (CTLP) and/or the risk assessment based on
the CTLP. The CTLP is produced primarily by local counter-terrorism policing with input from the Local
Authority and provides insight on the local threat picture. The risk assessment based on the CTLP can
be more widely shared and should inform the Prevent Action Plan (see below).
• The Local Prevent Action Plan. This document is informed by the CTLP and outlines how Prevent is
going to be delivered locally, including aspects such as Prevent projects, Channel and community
engagement. This plan should reflect the risks highlighted in the CTLP and risk assessment.
• Prevent training delivered by Local Authority officials specifically for Elected Members. It is best practice
that officials provide training opportunities to Elected Members on Prevent. This should not take the
same format as WRAP training, which is used for statutory partners.
• Minutes of the multi-agency group responsible for Prevent. In some areas, Prevent may come under the
Crime and Disorder group however, others have a group dedicated to Prevent work.

Case study: Luton – Elected Member
Luton Council’s ‘Member Prevent Engagement Group’ (MPEG) provides Elected Member-led support,
advice, challenge and scrutiny of the council’s Prevent Board, which coordinates Prevent activity
across Luton.
The MPEG is a sounding board on sensitive community issues linked to terrorism and radicalisation
and as a conduit for direct and best practice on engagement with local people and institutions whilst
being responsive to local and national requirements. The group is chaired by the Prevent Portfolio
Holder and is made up of cross-party members.
MPEG’s role is to:
• Advise on Prevent communications and engagement activity, including reviewing plans and
messages.
• Participate in engagement on Prevent with local stakeholders.
• Help the Prevent Board to develop counter narrative messages against
extremist rhetoric.
• Provide a focal point for Elected Members on Prevent, including support for
training and development, as well as Member-Led scrutiny and challenge.
Priority Areas Only
Overview of Prevent Staff in the Local Authority
(Please fill this section in with a list of funded posts in the local area, who is occupying them and their contact
details)

Page 148
13

MYTHS AND MISCONCEPTIONS
There are widespread misconceptions surrounding Prevent. These myths do not reflect what the Prevent
programme is or how it operates. Some common questions are outlined below:
Does the Prevent strategy target Muslims?
Prevent does not target a specific faith or ethnic group - it deals with all forms of terrorism, including rightwing. Rather, Prevent protects those who are targeted by terrorist recruiters. Although ring-wing terrorism
is a growing threat, currently the greatest threat comes from terrorist recruiters inspired by Daesh and Al
Qa’ida. Prevent will necessarily reflect this by prioritising support for vulnerable British Muslims.
Anyone who is at risk of any type of radicalisation can receive support from Channel. In 2018/19, almost
half of those who were adopted as Channel cases were related to right-wing radicalisation, more than
those related to Daesh and Al Qa’ida-inspired radicalisation.
Is Prevent doing enough to tackle right-wing extremism?
Prevent is implemented in a proportionate manner that takes into account the level of risk in any given
area or institution. In some areas the risk of right-wing terrorism may be significant and Prevent activity will
therefore focus on this threat – including protecting those most likely to be vulnerable to it. In 2018/19, 561
individuals were adopted as a Channel case. Of these, almost half were referred for concerns related to
right-wing extremism.
Does Prevent encourage spying?
There is nothing in law, in the guidance, or in any form of training that requires, authorises, or encourages
any form of spying whatsoever in connection with the Prevent Duty. The Prevent Duty does not require
teachers to spy on pupils or to carry out unnecessary intrusion into family life. It is about ensuring
that teachers know how to identify behaviour of concern and how to refer pupils who may be at risk of
radicalisation for appropriate support.
Does being on the Channel programme mean you get a criminal record?
Being referred or supported by Channel is not any form of criminal sanction; Channel is a safeguarding
programme and not a programme to further an investigation. It will have no bearing on a person’s
education or career prospects.
Isn’t the Prevent Duty an attack on freedom of speech in universities?
The right to free speech and protest are cornerstones of British democracy, which the Government
has committed to protecting. Universities in particular represent one of the most important arenas for
challenging extremist views and ideologies. The Prevent strategy in no way, shape or form undermines this
commitment.
In 2019, the Government published guidance to help protect and enhance free speech on campus,
to ensure they remain forums for open and robust enquiry. The Prevent Duty explicitly requires further
and higher education institutions to have regard to their duty to secure freedom of speech and to have
particular regard to the importance of academic freedom.

Page 149
14

GLOSSARY
Counter radicalisation – refers to the process of protecting vulnerable people from being drawn into
terrorist related activity.
Extremism – is defined in the Prevent Strategy as vocal or active opposition to fundamental shared values,
including democracy, the rule of law, individual liberty and mutual respect and tolerance of different faiths
and beliefs. We also include in our definition of extremism calls for the death of members of our armed
forces, whether in this country or overseas.
Interventions - projects intended to divert people who are being drawn into terrorist activity. Interventions
can include mentoring, counselling, theological support, encouraging civic engagement, developing
support networks (family and peer structures) or providing mainstream services (education, employment,
health, finance or housing).
Islamism – this term refers to the interpretation of Islam as a utopian model of politics, law and society
superior to any other model. Islamists - those that follow the ideology of Islamism - seek to overturn
systems based on non-Islamist values, which they consider to oppose their political interpretation of divine
law and theology. Islamism is a political ideology and it is wrong to equate it to the Islamic faith.
Radicalisation - refers to the process by which a person comes to support terrorism and extremist
ideologies associated with terrorist groups.
Right-Wing Extremism – in the UK can be broadly divided into three strands;
- Cultural Nationalism is a belief that Western culture is under threat from mass migration into Europe and
from a lack of integration by certain ethnic and cultural groups.
- White Nationalism is a belief that mass migration from the ‘non-white’ world, and demographic change,
poses an existential threat to the ‘white race’ and ‘Western culture’.
- White Supremacism is a belief that the ‘white race’ has certain inalienable physical and mental
characteristics that makes it superior to other races.
Terrorism – an action (defined in the Terrorism Act 2000) that endangers or causes serious violence to
a person/people; causes serious damage to property; or seriously interferes or disrupts an electronic
system. The use of the threat must be designed to influence the government or to intimidate the public
and is made for the purpose of advancing political, religious or ideological cause.
Vulnerability - within Prevent, describes factors and characteristics associated with being susceptible to
radicalisation.

Page 150
15

FURTHER INFORMATION
Prevent: An Introduction - Home Office produced video explaining how Prevent works
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Otc2eaRY32s&feature=youtu.be
Prevent Duty Toolkit for Local Authorities and Partner Agencies
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-toolkit-for-local-authorities-and-partneragencies
Prevent Duty Guidance for England and Wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance
Channel Guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/channel-guidance
UK Counter-Terrorism Strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-terrorism-strategy-contest-2018
Prevent E-Learning
https://www.elearning.prevent.homeoffice.gov.uk/edu/screen1.html
Freedom of Speech Guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/free-speech-to-be-protected-at-university
Let’s Talk About It – Counter Terrorism Policing website to provide practical help and guidance to the
public in order to stop people becoming terrorists or supporting terrorism.
https://www.ltai.info/
Educate Against Hate - Department for Education and Home Office website giving teachers and parents
advice and resources on protecting children from radicalisation.
https://educateagainsthate.com/
Safe Campus Communities - Provides access and links to a range of guidance, resources and case
studies for the Higher Education sector.
https://www.safecampuscommunities.ac.uk/

Page 151
16

Page 152

By virtue of paragraph(s) 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 153

This page is intentionally left blank

